University of Vermont UVM ScholarWorks

Graduate College Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

2023

Applications Of Bayesian Hierarchical Detection Models

Emily Beasley University of Vermont

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/graddis

Part of the Ecology and Evolutionary Biology Commons, Parasitology Commons, and the Statistics and Probability Commons

Recommended Citation

Beasley, Emily, "Applications Of Bayesian Hierarchical Detection Models" (2023). *Graduate College Dissertations and Theses*. 1670. https://scholarworks.uvm.edu/graddis/1670

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at UVM ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate College Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of UVM ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact schwrks@uvm.edu.

APPLICATIONS OF BAYESIAN HIERARCHICAL DETECTION MODELS

A Dissertation Presented

by

Emily M. Beasley

to

The Faculty of the Graduate College

of

The University of Vermont

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy Specializing in Biology

May, 2023

Defense Date: March 8, 2023 Dissertation Examination Committee:

Nicholas J. Gotelli, Ph.D., Advisor E. Carol Adair, Ph.D., Chairperson Laura J. May Collado, Ph.D. Lori Stevens, Ph.D. Cynthia J. Forehand, Ph.D., Dean of the Graduate College

ABSTRACT

Bayesian hierarchical detection models are useful for addressing uncertainty in datasets in the form of detection error and can be adapted to a variety of research questions. This dissertation uses three case studies to highlight advantages of Bayesian hierarchical detection models: 1) using prior information to model undetected species, 2) efficiently modeling a naturally hierarchical system, and 3) correcting for observation bias in two interconnected ecological metrics for effective disease management.

Detection error can bias ecological observations, especially when a species is never detected during sampling. In many communities, the probable identity of these species is known from previous research, but these data are rarely included in subsequent models. I present prior aggregation as a method to add information from external sources to Bayesian hierarchical detection models. Prior aggregation combines information from multiple prior distributions: in this case, an ecologically informative, species-level prior and an uninformative community-level prior. This approach adds external information into the model while retaining the advantage of modeling species in the context of the community. Using simulated data supplied to a multi-species occupancy model (MSOM), I demonstrated that prior aggregation improves estimates of metacommunity richness and environmental correlates of species occupancy. When applied to a dataset of Vermont small mammals, prior aggregation allowed the model to estimate occupancy correlates of the eastern cottontail, a species observed at several study sites but never captured.

Ectoparasites are exposed to a 'dual' environment: the individual host and the external environment. However, variation in the portion of the life cycle spent on-host leads to differences in selective pressures exerted by each environment. Parasites that spend most of the life cycle on-host face increased pressure to specialize, leading to differences in host specificity and occupancy patterns compared to ephemeral parasites which only contact the host to feed. Using data from small mammals and ectoparasites in Vermont, I used a multi-scale MSOM to 1) calculate the Bayesian R² at the site and host levels of the model to quantify explained variation in occupancy, and 2) compare number of host species and R² values across life history categories. Life history was significantly associated with host specificity and host-level R²: parasites which spend more time on-host infested fewer hosts and had more variation explained by host traits than ephemeral parasites. However, there were no differences in site-level R² between categories, suggesting additional factors structure small mammal/ectoparasite communities.

Disease management requires accurate measurements of metrics such as population size and immunity rates. Raccoon rabies virus is managed through use of oral rabies vaccine bait distribution, and the efficacy of the strategy is evaluated by measuring population-level seroprevalence of rabies antibodies. Using data from the Burlington, VT area from 2015–2017, I modified a multinomial *N*-mixture model to 1) estimate raccoon abundance and seroprevalence while correcting for sampling error, and 2) evaluate the effects of management strategies, raccoon population characteristics, and other carnivore species on seroprevalence. Rabies seroprevalence was associated with traits of raccoon populations, increasing with average age and decreasing with population size. Seroprevalence also decreased with opossum captures, suggesting competition for baits. Management strategies did not affect seroprevalence within sampling sites, but there is evidence that baiting strategy affects seroprevalence at the regional level.

CITATIONS

Material from this dissertation was submitted for publication to *Ecological Applications* on December 12, 2022 in the following form:

Beasley, E.M.. Ecologically informed priors improve Bayesian model estimates of species richness and occupancy for undetected species. Ecological Applications.

Additional material from this dissertation was submitted for publication to *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* on August 22, 2022 in the following form:

Beasley, E.M., Nelson, K.M., Slate, D., Gilbert, A.T., Pogmore, F.E., Chipman, R.B., and Davis, A.J.. The impact of oral rabies vaccination targeting raccoons across a development intensity gradient in Burlington, Vermont, USA, 2015-2017. Journal of Wildlife Diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation was quite an undertaking, and while large parts weren't exactly rosy (looking at you, COVID-19), there have been numerous people supporting me and helping me along the way. Thanks to my mentors, past and present: my advisor Nicholas Gotelli; committee members Laura May Collado, Lori Stevens, and Carol Adair; and Amy Davis, Bill Kilpatrick, Brittany Mosher, Easton White, and Sean Maher. I also thank my collaborators in the QuEST program (Natalia Aristizábal, Erika Bueno) and in the USDA (Kathy Nelson, Rich Chipman, Amy Gilbert) for putting in the time to do some cool science with me.

To my friends and colleagues who were with me in graduate school— academia is completely broken, but going through it with you all has made it more bearable: Amanda Northrup, Lindsey Pett, Lauren Ash, George Ni, Jessica Cole, Brit Verrico, Maia Austin, Stephanie Sickler, Casey Adkins, and countless others I don't have the space to name here. Solidarity!

In addition, I've had the pleasure to work with a small army of amazing undergraduates: Riley O'Halloran, Bailey Luter, Natalya Swack, Annie Smigelsky, Zach Weitzman, Sophie Lukavsky, and Sofia Weber.

To my friends and family, Kim & Bryan, Bredo & Mud, other assorted Beasleys, and Kat Barrow: none of you have any idea of what I do but thanks for supporting me anyway.

Finally, to Perry, my best friend, hiking buddy, field tech, and the fragile thread holding my mental health together. You can't read this because you are a dog, but I couldn't have done this without you, Per. We made it.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CITATIONSii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES vii
COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW
Ecologically informed priors improve Bayesian model estimates of species
richness and occupancy for undetected species
Ectoparasite life history traits influence occupancy patterns at varying organizational scales
The impact of oral rabies vaccination targeting raccoons across a development
intensity gradient in Burnington, Vermont, USA, 2013-2017
COMPREHENSIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY 87
Appendix S1: Supplemental Figures for Chapter 1 103
Appendix S2: Tutorial for creating aggregated priors using R and JAGS 109
Appendix S3: Supplemental Tables and Figures for Chapter 2 124
Appendix S4: Expanded Analytical Methods for Chapter 2

Appendix S5: Expanded Methods for Chapter 3	. 140
Appendix S6: Supplemental Tables and Figures for Chapter 3	. 148

LIST OF TABLES

Table P	'age
Table 1. Sources of ecologically informative priors for S. floridanus	. 27
Table 2. Results of model selection using WAIC.	. 56
Table 3. Mean ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) bait density (per km ²) in cells of varying development intensities (low, medium, high) in the Burlington, Vermont, USA area, 2015-2107.	. 82
Table 4. Total percentage of rabies virus neutralizing antibodies for raccoons	. 82

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
Figure 1. a) Community-based detection models account for rare or undetected species by assuming all species-level parameters
Figure 2. Distribution of estimated mean regional species richness (N) of the simulated datasets
Figure 3. Median differences between true and estimated site-level richness of the simulated datasets
Figure 4. Estimated responses of two undetected species to simulated covariates 31
Figure 5. Species-specific responses to the vegetation covariate for the augmented species <i>Sylvilagus floridanus</i>
Figure 6. Conceptual diagram of the hierarchical system modeled using the multi- scale MSOM
Figure 7. Number of host species parasitized by each ectoparasite species, separated by life history classification
Figure 8. Bayesian R ² values from the site model (a) and host model (b) for each ectoparasite species
Figure 9. Associations between Bayesian R ² from the site level (a) and host level (b) of the model and the number of host species parasitized by each ectoparasite species
Figure 10. Coefficient values for the first covariate from the site-level model by host habitat preference
Figure 11. Study area where oral rabies vaccination using ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) at 150 baits/km ² was evaluated in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area

Figure 12. Estimated raccoon rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence across human development classifications	84
Figure 13. Estimated raccoon rabies virus neutralizing antibody (RVNA) seroprevalence tends to decrease with estimated raccoon abundance in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area	85
igure 14. Study cells with a higher proportion of juvenile raccoons tended to ave lower estimated rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence than cells ith a higher proportion of adults for an oral rabies vaccination trial with NRAB	86

COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW

Statistical reasoning typically follows two lines of thinking: frequentist statistics and Bayesian statistics. The latter, first proposed by Thomas Bayes in the late 18th century, has recently increased in use as a viable alternative to frequentist methods (Ellison 2004, McCarthy 2007). Bayesian logic reflects the process of scientific thinking: prior knowledge and new data are evaluated using a statistical model to produce a posterior conclusion (Eq. 1).

$$prior + data \xrightarrow{model} posterior \qquad (Eq. 1)$$

In addition to the intuitive logic of Bayesian thinking, Bayesian methods have three major advantages over their frequentist counterparts. One, frequentist methods make predictions about hypothetical replicates of datasets, whereas Bayesian methods make predictions about hypotheses (Berger and Berry 1988, McCarthy 2007, McElreath 2015): again mirroring scientific thinking. Two, Bayesian methods naturally incorporate prior information into a model, whereas frequentist methods are constrained to the information in a particular dataset (Ellison 2004, McCarthy and Masters 2005, McCarthy 2007, Low Choy et al. 2009). Finally, Bayesian methods can formally incorporate uncertainty, either by the inclusion of unknown but important model parameters (Wade 2000) or using Bayesian model averaging (Wintle et al. 2003, Hooten and Hobbs 2015).

Another method for incorporating uncertainty in Bayesian models is by explicitly accounting for observational error. Occurring during the data collection process, observation error can bias the data, masking important ecological patterns (Iknayan et al. 2014). A class of Bayesian models called hierarchical detection models account for observational error by decoupling the ecological metric of interest and the detection process used to measure the metric (Iknayan et al. 2014, Kery and Royle 2015b, Kéry and Royle 2020). Using repeated data collection events, the model conceptualizes observation error as a probability that is conditional upon the underlying ecological state (Kery and Royle 2015b, Kéry and Royle 2020). Unlike other methods which correct for detection error, such as the Chao index (Chao 1984) or bootstrapping (Burnham and Overton 1979), hierarchical detection models can explicitly differentiate between a true absence of a species from a site and a non-detection event (MacKenzie et al. 2002, Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). Hierarchical detection models can also incorporate environmental covariates into the model and estimate their effects on the ecological metric, observational accuracy, or both (MacKenzie et al. 2002, Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). For these reasons, hierarchical detection models tend to be less biased and more precise than other methods (New and Handel 2015).

Despite their utility and flexibility, hierarchical detection models can only be applied to datasets which meet three key assumptions (Devarajan et al. 2020): first, the populations or communities surveyed must be closed during the duration of the sampling period (Kery and Royle 2015b). In other words, there cannot be births, deaths, immigration, or emigration during the repeated surveys, meaning the surveys must be completed in a short time period relative to the demographics of the study taxon. When populations or communities are not closed, the model tends to overestimate occupancy (Kery and Royle 2015b). Variations on base hierarchical detection models, such as the dynamic or multi-season model originally developed by MacKenzie et al. (2003), and later adapted by others (e.g. Royle and Kéry 2007, Broms et al. 2016), allow for demographic changes between sampling periods, but not within them.

Second, sites at which the ecological metric is observed must be statistically independent. Non-independence tends to occur due to spatial autocorrelation between sites (Devarajan et al. 2020), which in turn tends to over-estimate the precision of model estimates (New and Handel 2015). Adequate study design, specifically ensuring that sites are sufficiently distant from one another based on the focal taxon's movement patterns, can help prevent violation of this assumption (Devarajan et al. 2020). The independence assumption can also be tested and corrected for statistically by modifying the detection portion of the model (Wright et al. 2016).

Third, hierarchical detection models assume accurate identification of species or individuals (Dorazio et al. 2011). Identification error can be due to a variety of factors, including improper marking methods for individuals (Link et al. 2010), similarity between different species (Simons et al. 2007, McClintock et al. 2010), or variation in the skill levels of observers (Genet and Sargent 2003, Iknayan et al. 2014). Violation of this assumption results in overestimation of species or individuals through overestimation of detection probability (Dorazio et al. 2011). Models which account for false positives as well as false negatives are useful for addressing this assumption in cases where misidentification is common (Royle and Link 2006).

A fourth assumption only applies to hierarchical detection models which estimate parameters for entire communities. Bayesian hierarchical detection models are able to jointly model all species in a community by assuming species can be described by a common prior distribution (Link and Sauer 1996, Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). In other words, species are assumed to vary, but they share some common ecological characteristics. If species vary to the extent that they can no longer be described by a common prior, prediction error occurs as a result (Kery and Royle 2015b). Advantages and disadvantages to the common prior distribution are discussed in more detail in Chapter 1.

Despite these assumptions, and despite valid criticisms of hierarchical detection models (e.g. Lele and Dennis 2009), these models are highly flexible and can be adapted to most ecological sampling methods. Hierarchical detection models are useful in a variety of scenarios, from estimating site-occupancy (Iknayan et al. 2014) to understanding hierarchical processes (Cressie et al. 2009; Ogle 2009) to conservation decision-making (Wade 2000), to disease management (Davis et al. 2019b, 2019a). The straightforward logic of these models makes them a valuable addition to an ecologist's toolkit.

In this dissertation, I highlight three advantages of Bayesian hierarchical detection models by applying them to various ecological contexts. In my first chapter, I highlight how informative priors can be used to more accurately model species that are undetected during sampling but are known to occupy a region based on previous studies, natural history collections, indigenous knowledge, or observations by the researcher. I introduce a method called prior aggregation that combines information from multiple sources to more readily model these undetected species. In my second chapter, I take advantage of the inherent structure of hierarchical detection models to account for scale

in a host/ectoparasite system. I use the model to investigate how life history characteristics of ectoparasites influence the relative importance of site-level and hostlevel factors with regards to ectoparasite occupancy. Finally, hierarchical detection models are readily modifiable and can be easily applied to a wide variety of ecological questions. I take advantage of this flexibility in my third chapter, where I modify a type of hierarchical detection model to evaluate the efficacy of rabies management strategies in Burlington, Vermont.

Ecologically informed priors improve Bayesian model estimates of species richness and occupancy for undetected species

Emily M. Beasley

Department of Biology, University of Vermont, 109 Carrigan Dr., Burlington, VT 05405

Abstract

Detection error can bias observations of ecological processes, especially when some species are never detected during sampling. In many communities, the probable identity of these missing species is known from previous research and natural history collections, but this information is rarely incorporated into subsequent models. Here, I present prior aggregation as a method for including information from external sources in Bayesian hierarchical detection models. Prior aggregation combines information from multiple prior distributions— in this case, an ecologically informative, species-level prior and an uninformative community-level prior. This approach incorporates external information into the model without sacrificing the advantages of modeling species in the context of the community. Using simulated data supplied to a multi-species occupancy model, I demonstrated that prior aggregation improves estimates of 1) metacommunity richness and 2) environmental covariates correlated with species-specific occupancy probabilities. When applied to a dataset of small mammals in Vermont, prior aggregation allowed the model to estimate occupancy correlates of the eastern cottontail Sylvilagus floridanus, a species observed at several sites in the region but never captured. Prior aggregation can be used to improve the analysis of several important metrics in population and community ecology, including abundance, survivorship, and diversity.

Introduction

Estimates of biodiversity and other population and community metrics are often biased due to observer error. Biases or errors, especially detection error, can be introduced by characteristics of the target species, study design, or observer (Iknayan et al. 2014, Kellner and Swihart 2014). When species richness or species occupancy are of interest, detection error results in richness and occupancy estimates that are biased low (Iknayan et al. 2014, Benoit et al. 2018) and adds "noise" to the data in the form of false negatives, making it more difficult to evaluate the importance of environmental covariates (Gu and Swihart 2004). While good study design can reduce survey bias (Banks-Leite et al. 2014) and statistical methods such as the Chao index (Chao 1984) or bootstrapping (Burnham and Overton 1979) can correct species richness counts, optimal study design is not always feasible, and traditional statistical estimates are biased when detection rates vary spatially or when the community contains many rare species (New and Handel 2015).

More recent approaches to account for detection error include hierarchical occupancy models (MacKenzie et al. 2002), specifically the multi-species occupancy model (MSOM). MSOMs yield less biased estimates than traditional methods by jointly analyzing an ecological model of occurrence and an observation model of detection. This strategy allows the model to explicitly differentiate between the true state of the ecological metric and detection error (Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014, New and Handel 2015). In a Bayesian framework, MSOMs are also able to efficiently model data-poor species, either by assuming all species are ecologically comparable (Link and Sauer 1996) or by using informative priors with information drawn from sources such as previous studies or natural history collections (McCarthy and Masters 2005). However, the structure of MSOMs often renders these two approaches incompatible. This paper presents a method that combines the above approaches to model rare or undetected species with little to no associated data.

Unlike single-species models, MSOMs assume that all species-level parameters are drawn from a common prior distribution (Fig. 1a). In other words, all species are analyzed in the context of the full community. A community-level approach means that rare or hard-to-detect species, which may not yield sufficient data to model individually, can be analyzed by "borrowing" information from common species (Link and Sauer 1996, Ferrier and Guisan 2006). Although "borrowing" information can lead to estimates of rare species that are biased towards the community mean (Kéry and Schaub 2011, Iknayan et al. 2014), in general MSOMs yield more accurate and more precise estimates of rare species than single-species models.

The use of a community-level distributions in Bayesian MSOMs also implies that species that are known to occur in the study region, but were never detected during sampling, can be included in the model using a method called data augmentation (Royle et al. 2007, Royle and Dorazio 2012, Figure 1b), in which a series of zeroes are appended to the original data set to represent species in a community that may have been undetected (Royle et al. 2007). Data augmentation yields reliable community-level estimates when model assumptions are met and few species in the community were missed (Guillera-Arroita et al. 2019). However, the lack of data for augmented species means that estimates of occupancy or covariate responses for undetected species are inevitably "pulled" towards the center of the community distribution (Link and Sauer 1996). In practice, this lack of data means the model doesn't have enough information to accurately estimate specific occupancy or detection probabilities for particular undetected species, so these species can only be used to calculate an asymptotic species richness estimate for the study region (Guillera-Arroita et al. 2019).

In a Bayesian framework, information needed to estimate specific parameters for particular undetected species can be readily incorporated by using an informative species-level prior. Using informative priors in ecological models tends to increase the confidence in conclusions (i.e., narrower credible intervals, McCarthy and Masters 2005). In the context of hierarchical detection models, other authors have demonstrated that "weakly informative" priors can be used to stabilize the model and prevent coefficients from taking extreme values (Northrup and Gerber 2018, Lemoine 2019), but the use of ecologically informative priors is much rarer. Ecologically informative priors may be rare in part because replacing the uninformative species-level prior with an informative prior means the species is no longer described by the community-level distribution, and the advantages of modeling species in the context of the community are lost.

A potential solution to this problem is prior aggregation. Originally used to combine multiple expert opinions (Genest et al. 1984), prior aggregation can be applied to MSOMs to combine the community prior and an ecologically informative prior

9

into a single prior distribution (Figure 1c). With an aggregated prior distribution, the model analyzes undetected species in the context of the community while allowing researchers to retain the identity of each undetected species and reduce the pull of the community prior. However, to my knowledge prior aggregation has never been used in the context of hierarchical occupancy models, and its effects on model performance remains unknown.

Using simulated data with known parameter values, I tested whether ecologically informative, aggregated priors for undetected species improve estimates of MSOMs. I compared the posterior estimates of metacommunity richness, local species richness, and species-level covariate responses from MSOMs with 1) uninformative priors, 2) informative priors, and 3) mis-specified priors. I also varied the relative contribution of the informative or mis-specified priors to the aggregated prior to determine if prior strength influenced model estimates. Finally, I applied prior aggregation to an empirical dataset of small mammal communities in Vermont to model occupancy correlates of an undetected species known to occur in the study region.

Methods

Data simulation. I simulated 50 metacommunities of i = 22 species which potentially occupy j = 1 to 30 sites. Species-level occupancy probabilities for the first 20 species in each metacommunity Ψ_i were drawn from a beta distribution $\Psi_i \sim Beta(\alpha=2, \beta=4)$, resulting in variable occupancy probabilities (95% interval 0.053–0.716). The remaining two species, which would represent undetected species, had species-level occupancy probabilities that were fixed at 0.1 and 0.4, respectively, to facilitate comparison across simulations. These probabilities represent relatively rare species, which are more likely to be undetected during sampling due to their low occurrence (MacKenzie et al. 2005).

Site-level occupancy probability was a function of species-level occupancy probabilities and a continuous covariate (Eq. 2). Species in each metacommunity were assigned a coefficient of 0, 3, or -3, representing no response, a strong positive response, or a strong negative response to the environmental covariate. Coefficients were randomly assigned to the 20 detected species whereas responses for the undetected species were fixed at 0 and -3. For each metacommunity, the true occupancy state of each species Z_{ij} , denoted 1 if the species was present at the site and 0 if absent, was modeled as the outcome of a Bernoulli trial with the site-level occupancy probability as the probability of success (Eq. 3). Species that did not occupy any site in the initial simulation were assigned a value of 1 to the site with the highest occupancy probability to ensure there were 22 species in each metacommunity simulation.

$$logit(\Psi_{ij}) = a0_i + a1_i cov_j \text{ (Eq. 2)}$$
$$Z_{ij} \sim Bern(\Psi_{ij}) \text{ (Eq. 3)}$$

I simulated survey data by generating species-level detection probabilities p_i using a beta distribution $p_i \sim Beta(\alpha=2, \beta=8)$, resulting in low-to-moderate detection probabilities for the 20 detected species (95% interval 0.028–0.482). Undetected species were assigned a species-level probability of 0. Detection of a species during a survey was modeled as the outcome of a Bernoulli trial with the species-level detection probability as the probability of success, conditional on the species being present at the site. If any of the 20 "detected" species were not detected during any survey, I assigned a value of 1 to the survey with the highest detection probability to ensure there were 20 detected and 2 undetected species in each simulation. Values for the beta distributions were chosen to create a scenario in which data augmentation is effective: when some observed species in the community have low occupancy and/or low detection probabilities, it is more reasonable to expect that some species were absent from all sampled sites or missed during all surveys (Guillera-Arroita et al. 2019).

Multi-species occupancy model. I analyzed the data using a single-season Bayesian MSOM (Dorazio and Royle 2005, Figure S1-1). This modeling framework consists of three levels; the first of which represents the true occupancy state w_i of all observed and potentially unobserved species *i* in the metacommunity (Eq. 4). The dataset of observed species *n* can be augmented by *m* all-zero encounter histories representing species that may or may not be present in the metacommunity. Choice of *m* is somewhat arbitrary, but should be large enough that the posterior distribution for estimated metacommunity richness *N* is not truncated but not so large as to be computationally prohibitive (Guillera-Arroita et al. 2019). The parameter w_i is then modeled as a Bernoulli trial such that $w_i = 0$ for species that were not present in the metacommunity and $w_i = 1$ for species that were either directly observed or were not observed but were likely available for sampling in the metacommunity (Dorazio and Royle 2005, Royle et al. 2007), in which the parameter Ω represents the probability of success. I augmented the simulated dataset with 5 undetected species, of which two were present in the metacommunity.

The second level of the model represents the ecological quantity of interest; in this case, site-level occupancy. Site-level occupancy Z_{ij} takes the value of 1 when species *i* is present at site *j*, provided the species is available for sampling in the metacommunity. Occupancy is modeled as the outcome of a Bernoulli trial with the probability of success defined as the product of site-level occupancy probability Ψ_{ij} and the metacommunity parameter w_i (Eq. 5). Thus, a species cannot occupy a site if it is not available for sampling in the metacommunity.

In empirical datasets, site-level occupancy Z_{ij} is often imperfectly observed due to detection error associated with the sampling process. By sampling each site multiple times over a short period, the model can estimate the probability of detecting a species during a given survey and better estimate the true occupancy state (Dorazio and Royle 2005). Detection of a given species at a site during a given sampling period (x_{ijk}) is modeled as a Bernoulli process conditional on the species occupying the site (Eq. 6). Similar to the model for site occupancy, the probability of success is defined as the product of detection probability during a given sampling period pijk and the true occupancy state Z_{ij} — meaning a species cannot be detected at a site where it is not present.

$$w_i \sim Bernoulli(\Omega)$$
 (Eq. 4)
 $Z_{ij}|w_i \sim Bernoulli(\Psi_{ij} * w_i)$ (Eq. 5)
 $x_{ijk}|Z_{ij} \sim Bernoulli(p_{ijk} * Z_{ij})$ (Eq. 6)

Environmental covariates can be used to accurately estimate occupancy and detection probabilities using a logit link function. I used the simulated covariate in Eq. 2 to estimate site-level occupancy probability Ψ_{ij} .

Species-level values for model intercepts (*a0*, *b0*) and covariate coefficients (*a1*) for all detected species were modeled using uninformative priors (e.g. Eq. 7). The parameters of the community-level distribution from which species were drawn, called hyperparameters, were in turn drawn from a hyperprior distribution (Eq. 8):

$$a0_i \sim N(\mu_{a0}, \tau_{a0})$$
 (Eq. 7)
 $\tau_{a0} \sim Gamma(0.1, 0.1)$ (Eq. 8)

The parameter tau (τ) in the equations above represents precision, and is used instead of standard deviation σ in the JAGS programming language (Plummer 2017).

Although the use of a hyperprior allows species with little or no data to be modeled in the context of the full community, model estimates for these species are often "pulled" to the center of the hyperprior distribution due to a lack of data. However, solely modeling these species using highly informative priors results in a loss of the advantages gained by modeling rare species in the context of the community. Prior aggregation is a promising tool for resisting the "pull" of the hyperprior when modeling undetected species, while also retaining the advantages from modeling undetected species in the context of the community. In brief, prior aggregation involves combining two or more prior distributions using a defined pooling method (Genest et al. 1984), typically as a way to account for multiple differing expert opinions. In the context of modeling undetected species, one can aggregate 1) the hyperprior distribution, towards the center of which undetected species are pulled, and 2) a prior distribution based on information about the undetected species that is not present in the dataset.

I calculated aggregated priors for the two undetected species for the parameters a0 and a1 using logarithmic pooling for Gaussian distributions (de Carvalho et al. 2015, Eq. 9–11):

$$\boldsymbol{w}^{*} = \frac{\alpha}{\sigma^{2}}$$
(Eq. 9)
$$\sigma_{pooled}^{2} = \frac{1}{\Sigma \boldsymbol{w}^{*}}$$
(Eq. 10)
$$\mu_{pooled} = \sigma_{pooled}^{2} * \Sigma (\boldsymbol{w}^{*} * \boldsymbol{\mu})$$
(Eq. 11)

In which σ^2 is a vector of variances of the initial prior distributions, μ a vector of means, and α a vector of pooling weights (see below). The parameter *a0* was an aggregate of the community prior $N(\mu_{a0}, \tau_{a0})$ and an ecological prior $N(\mu_{True}, \tau_{True})$. For models with informative priors, μ_{True} was the true, simulated occupancy probability that were logit-transformed and rounded to the nearest integer; models with mis-specified priors used the opposite sign as the true value. Similarly, the parameter *a1* was an aggregate of the community prior and the ecological prior. Models with informative priors used the true value for the covariate response rounded to the nearest whole number as the mean of the distribution, whereas mis-specified models used a value with the opposite sign (or a value of -3 if the true covariate response was 0). The precision parameter τ was assigned a value of 0.5 for all ecological priors.

Pooling weights (Eq. 9) define the relative contribution of individual priors to the aggregated distribution. The weight assigned to each prior distribution represents the relative degree of confidence in the information it contains (Genest et al. 1984). Methods for systematically assigning prior weights have been developed (de Carvalho et al. 2015); however, these methods are typically used for aggregating multiple expert opinions, leaving weight assignment in other situations somewhat arbitrary (French 1983). I assigned the ecological priors for weakly informative models a weight of 0.15 relative to the hyperprior; for moderately informative models, a weight of 0.5; and for strongly informative models, a weight of 0.85. The vector of weights for each aggregated prior must sum to 1.

I compared models with possible prior combinations (informative/misspecified x weakly/moderately/strongly) to one another and to a single model with uninformative priors, resulting in seven different models. I compared estimates of 1) regional species richness, 2) site-level species richness, and 3) species-level covariate responses across the seven models. I estimated all model parameters using a Bayesian analysis in the program JAGS (Plummer 2017) and the R package R2jags (Su and Yajima 2015, R Core Team 2020). I ran the model using three Markov chains and assessed convergence using the R-hat statistic, which compares between-chain and within-chain parameter estimates for each of the Markov chains (Gelman and Rubin 1992). Values for the length of the Markov chains, burn-in period, and thinning were chosen on a trial-anderror basis until model convergence was achieved. A tutorial of the prior aggregation method using R and JAGS can be found in Appendix S2; data and code associated with the analysis can be found at https://github.com/Beasley015/Beasley2021BayesianPriors.

Application to real data. In addition to the simulation analyses, I applied the prior aggregation method to an empirical dataset of small mammal trapping surveys

collected in Vermont from May–July 2019. Sampling occurred in 30 sites located in forests, uncultivated fields, and active farms (Figure S1-2). Trapping transects were 300 m long, with trap stations 10 m apart, with two traps per station placed to maximize capture efficiency (e.g. along fallen logs or rock ledges). Traps were baited with sunflower seeds and supplemented with batting and mealworms to reduce cold-related mortality (Do et al. 2013). Traps were opened in the evening and checked the following morning for a period of 3 consecutive days. I marked captured mammals with an ear tag, identified them to species, and released them unharmed at the point of capture.

I collected vegetation data at every 3rd trap station along each transect for a total of 10 samples per site. Vegetation metrics included 1) composition, measured as the proportion of each cover type in a 0.5 x 0.5 m grid, 2) vertical structure, measured using the point-touch method described in Wiens (1969), and 3) canopy cover, measured using a spherical convex densiometer. I reduced the dimensionality of the data using a Principal Components Analysis (PCA). I incorporated the first principal component as a covariate in the MSOM.

I examined how the use of informative priors affects estimates of real datasets in a similar manner to the procedure described in the previous section. The dataset was augmented with two all-zero encounter histories; with one representing the Eastern cottontail *Sylvilagus floridanus*, a species common in the study region and visually observed at some sampling sites, but with low catchability (and therefore detectability) in Sherman live traps.

17

I applied aggregated priors to the occupancy intercept $\alpha \theta_i$ and the covariate response αI_i . Prior information was derived from the literature and field notes taken during sampling (Table 1). I ran one model with weakly informative priors and another with moderately informative priors using the relative weights defined in the previous section; these models were compared to a model with uninformative priors. I compared estimates of 1) regional species richness and 2) species-level covariate responses across these three models. Model specifications such as the number of Markov chains, model iterations, and evaluation of model convergence were determined in the manner described in the previous section.

Results

Simulated data. Models with informative priors generally yielded more accurate estimates of metacommunity richness than models with uninformative or misspecified priors (Figure 2). Specifically, models with strongly informative priors (i.e. the contribution of the ecologically informative distribution to the aggregate prior was high compared to the community distribution) typically yielded estimates that were closest to the true metacommunity richness of 22 species, whereas models with weakly misspecified priors typically yielded estimates that were closest to the observed metacommunity richness of 20 species. Metacommunity estimates varied depending on the measure of centrality used to describe the posterior distribution from each model (Figure S1-3–S1-4).

At the site level, models with moderately and strongly informative priors yielded richness estimates that were closer to true values than models with uninformative priors (Figure 3). Models with weakly and moderately mis-specified priors generally estimated site-level richness as accurately as models with uninformative priors. Models with weakly informative and strongly mis-specified priors yielded richness estimates that deviated the most from the true values.

The model with uninformative priors correctly estimated a non-significant covariate response for one undetected species but failed to detect a significant covariate response for the second undetected species (Figure 4). Models with informative and misspecified priors generally yielded more precise estimates of covariate responses for undetected species than models with uninformative priors (Figure 4). The models with weakly informative priors, weakly mis-specified priors, and moderately mis-specified priors yielded estimates qualitatively similar to the model with uninformed priors, and models with moderately and strongly informative priors correctly estimated covariate responses for both undetected species (Figure 4). The model with strongly mis-specified priors incorrectly estimated a positive covariate response for both undetected species (Figure 4). The improvement in covariate response estimates likely caused the improvement in site-level occupancy estimates for undetected species in models with informative priors (Fig. S1-5–S1-6).

Vermont small mammals. I captured 89 individuals representing 10 species. The most common species were the white-footed mouse *Peromyscus leucopus* with 33 individuals, the meadow jumping mouse *Zapus hudsonius* with 17 individuals,

and the woodland jumping mouse *Napaeozapus insignis* with 16 individuals. All other species were represented by fewer than 10 individuals.

The first principal component from the PCA of the vegetation data explained 82.4% of the variation in the data. This principal component was included in the model as an environmental covariate, capturing a gradient from mostly grassy cover (low PCA scores) to cover that is predominately leaf litter and other dead vegetation (high PCA scores; Figure S1-7).

The model with uninformed priors yielded a metacommunity richness estimate of 10 species, while models with informed priors yielded estimates of 11 species. At the species level, the augmented species S. floridanus was not predicted to have a covariate response significantly different from 0 in any model; however, the species-level estimate from models with informed priors were more precise than the model with uninformed priors (Figure 5).

Discussion

These results suggest that using prior aggregation to model undetected species improve estimates of multiple model parameters, provided the information supplied to the model is correct (Figures 2, 4). These findings align with previous work suggesting that informative priors in Bayesian models tends to improve model estimates (McCarthy and Masters 2005, Northrup and Gerber 2018, Lemoine 2019). In addition, prior aggregation tends to result in more ecologically meaningful conclusions for undetected species by reducing the pull of the community prior and retaining information about species with particular characteristics rather than hypothetical species of unknown identity.

Species are more likely to be undetected when they are rare (McCarthy et al. 2013). Rare species are often of conservation concern (Fagan et al. 2002, Cunningham and Lindenmayer 2005, MacKenzie et al. 2005) and can drive site-level variation in metrics such as species richness, beta diversity, and functional diversity (Routledge 1977, Mao and Colwell 2005, Leitão et al. 2016, but see Lennon et al. 2004). A common strategy for addressing this problem is to use common, closely-related species as a proxy for rare relatives (Gaston and Kunin 1997). Modeling undetected species using uninformative priors is conceptually similar to using data from related species as a proxy, as estimates for undetected species are pulled towards the center of the community prior. However, rare and common species are often ecologically different (Kunin and Gaston 1993, Leitão et al. 2016), and accounting for these differences with ecologically informative priors can lead to more accurate estimates on which to base management decisions.

From a management perspective, estimates for specific sites may be just as important as regional or species-level estimates, especially for targeted management actions such as habitat restoration efforts or reserve design (Cabeza et al. 2004). My results suggest that prior aggregation does not improve site-level model estimates (Figure 3), and therefore prior aggregation may not be appropriate when characteristics of the site are of primary interest. However, the lack of improvement of site-level estimates may be due to characteristics of the simulated data and model structure rather than characteristics of the priors. The simulated dataset included species with positive and negative covariate responses, which could be affecting the accuracy of site-level richness estimates compared to a covariate with more uniform effects, such as patch area. Models for the simulated and empirical datasets also assumed stochastic detection error. Detectability in real communities is often influenced by site-level or species-level characteristics (Iknayan et al. 2014), and accounting for site-level variation in detectability using model covariates tends to improve estimates (New and Handel 2015). In systems where detectability varies by site and is modeled using a covariate, the use of prior aggregation may improve site-level richness estimates compared to models with uninformative priors.

A key component of prior aggregation is assigning weights to each of the contributing priors. Weight choice determines how much of the ecologically informed prior contributes to the final aggregate and should reflect the reliability of the source of information (Genest et al. 1984). Defining the reliability of a source is difficult, and in practice the choice of prior weight is somewhat arbitrary (French 1983). That said, methods for choosing weights in a more meaningful way have been developed (Myung et al. 1996, Abbas 2009, Rufo et al. 2012a, 2012b) and a few of these also account for uncertainty about the weights (Poole and Raftery 2000, de Carvalho et al. 2015). A possible avenue for future research would include adapting these methods for use in MSOMs.

The concept of "borrowing" data from multiple sources is not new in ecology (MacKenzie et al. 2005), and pooling information across species within a dataset is a common practice in hierarchical detection models (Link and Sauer 1996, Iknayan et al. 2014). Using prior aggregation to incorporate data from external sources such as previous studies or natural history collections to improve model accuracy is an extension of this concept. Although this work has focused on prior aggregation in the context of MSOMs, the flexibility of hierarchical detection models means that prior aggregation is not limited to questions of species richness or occupancy. Prior aggregation can potentially be used to add information about missing individuals in a population (Royle and Dorazio 2012) leading to more accurate estimates of abundance, survival rates, or diversity estimates. Despite the continuing challenges of choosing meaningful prior weights (Genest et al. 1984, de Carvalho et al. 2015) and prior selection in Bayesian ecological models in general (Northrup and Gerber 2018, Lemoine 2019, Banner et al. 2020), prior aggregation is a promising tool for using external data to generate more reasonable estimates in systems where non-detection is of ecological concern.

Acknowledgements

This work was conducted on land stewarded by ongoing generations of Indigenous peoples, in particular the Western Abenaki. I thank Bailey Luter, Riley O'Halloran, and Tabitha Myers for their assistance in the field, and Nicholas Gotelli and Brittany Mosher for their helpful comments on the manuscript. The research was funded by the American Museum of Natural History Theodore Roosevelt Memorial Grant. Permission for trapping small mammals was granted by the Vermont Fish & Wildlife Department (Permit #SR-2018-25), the National Park Service (OMB # 1024-0236), and other farmers and land managers. Methods were approved by the University of Vermont

IACUC (Protocol #PROTO202000114).

Literature Cited

- Abbas, A. E. 2009. A Kullback-Leibler view of linear and log-linear pools. Decision Analysis 6:25–37.
- Banks-Leite, C., R. Pardini, D. Boscolo, C. R. Cassano, T. Püttker, C. S. Barros, and J. Barlow. 2014. Assessing the utility of statistical adjustments for imperfect detection in tropical conservation science. Journal of Applied Ecology 51:849– 859.
- Banner, K. M., K. M. Irvine, and T. J. Rodhouse. 2020. The use of Bayesian priors in Ecology: The good, the bad and the not great. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 11:882–889.
- Benoit, D., D. A. Jackson, and M. S. Ridgway. 2018. Assessing the impacts of imperfect detection on estimates of diversity and community structure through multispecies occupancy modeling. Ecology and Evolution 8:4676–4684.
- Burnham, K. P., and W. S. Overton. 1979. Robust Estimation of Population Size When Capture Probabilities Vary Among Animals. Ecology 60:927–936.
- Cabeza, M., M. B. Araújo, R. J. Wilson, C. D. Thomas, M. J. R. Cowley, and A. Moilanen. 2004. Combining probabilities of occurrence with spatial reserve design. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:252–262.
- de Carvalho, L. M., D. A. M. Villela, F. C. Coelho, and L. S. Bastos. 2015. Choosing the weights for the logarithmic pooling of probability distributions. arXiv:1502.04206 [stat].
- Chao, A. 1984. Nonparametric Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics 11:265–270.
- Chapman, J. A., J. G. Hockman, and M. M. Ojeda C. 1980. Sylvilagus floridanus. Mammalian Species:1–8.
- Cunningham, R. B., and D. B. Lindenmayer. 2005. Modeling Count Data of Rare Species: Some Statistical Issues. Ecology 86:1135–1142.
- DeGraaf, R. M., and M. Yamasaki. 2001. New England Wildlife: Habitat, Natural History, and Distribution. UPNE.

- Dorazio, R. M., and J. A. Royle. 2005. Estimating Size and Composition of Biological Communities by Modeling the Occurrence of Species. Journal of the American Statistical Association 100:389–398.
- Fagan, W. F., P. J. Unmack, C. Burgess, and W. L. Minckley. 2002. Rarity, Fragmentation, and Extinction Risk in Desert Fishes. Ecology 83:3250–3256.
- Ferrier, S., and A. Guisan. 2006. Spatial modelling of biodiversity at the community level. Journal of Applied Ecology 43:393–404.
- French, S. 1983. Group consensus probability distributions: A critical survey. University of Manchester. Department of Decision Theory.
- Gaston, K., and W. E. Kunin. 1997. Concluding comments. Page in K. Gaston and W. E. Kunin, editors. The Biology of Rarity. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.
- Gelman, A., and D. B. Rubin. 1992. Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. Statistical Science 7:457–511.
- Genest, C., S. Weerahandi, and J. V. Zidek. 1984. Aggregating opinions through logarithmic pooling. Theory and Decision 17:61–70.
- Gu, W., and R. K. Swihart. 2004. Absent or undetected? Effects of non-detection of species occurrence on wildlife–habitat models. Biological Conservation 116:195–203.
- Guillera-Arroita, G., M. Kéry, and J. J. Lahoz-Monfort. 2019. Inferring species richness using multispecies occupancy modeling: Estimation performance and interpretation. Ecology and Evolution 9:780–792.
- Iknayan, K. J., M. W. Tingley, B. J. Furnas, and S. R. Beissinger. 2014. Detecting diversity: emerging methods to estimate species diversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29:97–106.
- Kellner, K. F., and R. K. Swihart. 2014. Accounting for Imperfect Detection in Ecology: A Quantitative Review. PLOS ONE 9:e111436.
- Kéry, M., and M. Schaub. 2011. Bayesian Population Analysis using WinBUGS: A Hierarchical Perspective. Academic Press.
- Kunin, W. E., and K. J. Gaston. 1993. The biology of rarity: patterns, causes and consequences. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 8:298–301.
- Leitão, R. P., J. Zuanon, S. Villéger, S. E. Williams, C. Baraloto, C. Fortunel, F. P. Mendonça, and D. Mouillot. 2016. Rare species contribute disproportionately to the functional structure of species assemblages. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283:20160084.

- Lemoine, N. P. 2019. Moving beyond noninformative priors: why and how to choose weakly informative priors in Bayesian analyses. Oikos 128:912–928.
- Lennon, J. J., P. Koleff, J. J. D. Greenwood, and K. J. Gaston. 2004. Contribution of rarity and commonness to patterns of species richness. Ecology Letters 7:81–87.
- Link, W. A., and J. R. Sauer. 1996. Extremes in Ecology: Avoiding the Misleading Effects of Sampling Variation in Summary Analyses. Ecology 77:1633–1640.
- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, G. B. Lachman, S. Droege, J. A. Royle, and C. A. Langtimm. 2002. Estimating Site Occupancy Rates When Detection Probabilities Are Less Than One. Ecology 83:2248–2255.
- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, N. Sutton, K. Kawanishi, and L. L. Bailey. 2005. Improving Inferences in Population Studies of Rare Species That Are Detected Imperfectly. Ecology 86:1101–1113.
- Mao, C. X., and R. K. Colwell. 2005. Estimation of Species Richness: Mixture Models, the Role of Rare Species, and Inferential Challenges. Ecology 86:1143–1153.
- McCarthy, M. A., and P. Masters. 2005. Profiting from prior information in Bayesian analyses of ecological data. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:1012–1019.
- McCarthy, M. A., J. L. Moore, W. K. Morris, K. M. Parris, G. E. Garrard, P. A. Vesk, L. Rumpff, K. M. Giljohann, J. S. Camac, S. S. Bau, T. Friend, B. Harrison, and B. Yue. 2013. The influence of abundance on detectability. Oikos 122:717–726.
- Myung, I. J., S. Ramamoorti, and A. D. Bailey. 1996. Maximum Entropy Aggregation of Expert Predictions. Management Science 42:1420–1436.
- New, L. B. M., and C. M. Handel. 2015. Evaluating species richness: Biased ecological inference results from spatial heterogeneity in detection probabilities. Ecological Applications 25:1669–1680.
- Northrup, J. M., and B. D. Gerber. 2018. A comment on priors for Bayesian occupancy models. PLOS ONE 13:e0192819.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Poole, D., and A. E. Raftery. 2000. Inference for Deterministic Simulation Models: The Bayesian Melding Approach. Journal of the American Statistical Association 95:1244–1255.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
Routledge, R. D. 1977. On Whittaker's Components of Diversity. Ecology 58:1120–1127.

- Royle, J. A., and R. M. Dorazio. 2012. Parameter-expanded data augmentation for Bayesian analysis of capture–recapture models. Journal of Ornithology 152:521– 537.
- Royle, J. A., R. M. Dorazio, and W. A. Link. 2007. Analysis of multinomial models with unknown index using data augmentation. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 16:19.
- Rufo, M. J., J. Martin, and C. J. Pérez. 2012a. Log-linear pool to combine prior distributions: A suggestion for a calibration-based approach. Bayesian Analysis 7:411–438.
- Rufo, M. J., C. J. Pérez, and J. Martin. 2012b. A Bayesian approach to aggregate experts' initial information. Electronic Journal of Statistics 6:2362–2382.
- Su, Y.-S., and M. Yajima. 2015. R2jags: Using R to run "JAGS."
- Wiens, J. A. 1969. An Approach to the Study of Ecological Relationships among Grassland Birds. Ornithological Monographs:1–93.

Tables

Parameter	Source	Description	
α0	Field notes	<i>S. floridanus</i> was visually observed at 20% of sites; the mean of the prior distribution was set at this value	
α1	Chapman et al. 1980, DeGraaf and Yamasaki 2001	Old fields and grasslands are preferred habitat in the northeastern United States, interpreted as a negative response to PC1. The mean of the prior distribution was set at -2.	
	Field notes	All visual observations of this species occurred in old fields or active farms.	

Table 1. Sources of ecologically informative priors for S. floridanus.

Figures



Figure 1. a) Community-based detection models account for rare or undetected species by assuming all species-level parameters, such as occupancy probability Ψ , are drawn from a common probability distribution called a hyperprior. b) Species that were never detected during sampling (red) can be analyzed by adding a set of zeroes to the data. However, a lack of data means the estimated parameters (dashed red line) are "pulled" to the center of the distribution and away from the true value (solid red line). c) When the identities of undetected species are known, the hyperprior (black line) can be combined with species-level information (solid red line) to form an aggregated prior (dashed red line) to reduce the "pull" of the hyperprior and more accurately model these species.



Figure 2. Distribution of estimated mean regional species richness (N) of the simulated datasets. Solid lines denote the true regional richness of 22 species. Models with uninformative priors (a) tended to yield an expected richness of 21 species. Models with weakly and moderately informative priors (b-c) yielded qualitatively similar estimates, as did models with moderately and strongly mis-specified priors (f-g). Models with weakly mis-specified priors tended to yield an expected richness of 20.5 species (e). Models with strongly informative priors yielded an expected richness of 22 species, the true regional richness of the simulated datasets.



Figure 3. Median differences between true and estimated site-level richness of the simulated datasets. Models with moderately and strongly informative priors outperformed models with uninformative priors and strongly mis-specified priors. Models with weakly informative priors and strongly mis-specified priors performed less well than models with uninformative priors.



Figure 4. Estimated responses of two undetected species to simulated covariates. Error bars represent the 95% CI; error bars that did not overlap 0 (dashed line) were considered significant. Red dots represent the true value of the simulated coefficient. Increasing the relative weight of the species-level prior increased the precision of model estimates, regardless of the accuracy of the prior. The model correctly estimated a non-response to the covariate in all models except models with strongly mis-specified priors for the first undetected species (a). Models with moderately and strongly informative priors correctly estimated a significant, negative response to the covariate for the second undetected species (b).



Figure 5. Species-specific responses to the vegetation covariate for the augmented species *Sylvilagus floridanus*. Error bars represent the 95% credible interval; bars that do not overlap 0 (dashed line) were considered significant and are marked with an asterisk (*).

Ectoparasite life history traits influence occupancy patterns at varying organizational scales

Emily M. Beasley

Department of Biology, University of Vermont, 109 Carrigan Dr., Burlington, VT 05405

Abstract

Ectoparasites are exposed to a 'dual' environment: the stable conditions on an individual host and a variable external environment. However, variation in ectoparasite life history traits, such as the portion of the life cycle spent on-host, leads to differences in selective pressure exerted by each environment. Parasites that spend most of the life cycle on-host are pressured to undergo increased host specialization, leading to differences in host specificity and occupancy patterns compared to ephemeral parasites which only contact the host to feed. Using data from small mammals and ectoparasites in Vermont, I used a multi-scale MSOM to 1) estimate ectoparasite occupancy on individual hosts nested within geographic sites, 2) calculate the Bayesian R2 at the site and host levels of the model to determine the variation in occupancy explained by each level, and 3) compared number of host species and the R2 values across different life history categories. Life history category was significantly associated with host specificity and host-level Bayesian R2: parasites which spend their full life cycle on the host parasitized fewer host species and had significantly more variation in occupancy explained by host-level covariates than ephemeral parasites. However, there were no significant differences in site-level R2 between life history categories, and no significant associations between sitelevel R2 and host specificity, suggesting that additional factors may play a role in structuring small mammal/ectoparasite communities.

Introduction

Ecology is highly scale-dependent (Wiens 1989, Levin 1992, Schneider 2001, McGill 2010). The relative importance of ecological processes tends to vary across spatial, temporal, and organizational scales (Ellison and Gotelli 2021). For example, short term weather events and microclimates may influence local occupancy patterns of a species, but climate may be more important in limiting the extent of a species' range (Zuckerberg et al. 2011). Additionally, patterns at a coarser scale such as the landscape may emerge from processes occurring at a finer scale such as local sites (Ovadia and Schmitz 2002). The scale of observation can also influence which patterns can be detected in a system (Wiens 1989, McMahon and Diez 2007, Weiher et al. 2011). Observing and analyzing variables on multiple hierarchical levels is essential for understanding how ecological processes operate across scales.

Small mammals and their arthropod ectoparasites are useful for investigating the effects of scale because the organizational scales in the system are often clearly defined (Cardon et al. 2011). For example, host/parasite dynamics can be observed at the level of the individual host (i.e. host infra-community), across host individuals in a local population or community, or across a host species' geographic range (Krasnov et al. 2011b, 2015). Ectoparasites, unlike endoparasites such as helminths, are simultaneously exposed to multiple scales: specifically, the more localized environment of the host

individual and the broader environment of the host community or geographic locality (Cardon et al. 2011). Occupancy patterns of ectoparasites at various scales are determined by characteristics of this 'dual' environment of the host assemblage and external environment (Berkhout et al. 2020, Bolnick et al. 2020).

Although all ectoparasites are characterized by a dual environment, variation in ectoparasite life history and feeding mode leads to variation in the degree of exposure to the host environment relative to the external environment (Morand et al. 2007, van der Mescht et al. 2016). Ephemeral parasites such as ticks (order Ixodidae) are only in contact with the host during feeding and spend more time in the external environment (Kocan et al. 2015). By contrast, parasitic lice (order Psocodea) complete the full life cycle on the host (Kim 2006). Nest parasites such as certain mite (order Mesostigmata, Dowling 2006) or flea (Medvedev and Krasnov 2006) species, as well as species which associate with a host for a particular life stage (e.g. bot flies, order Diptera, Catts 1982, or fur fleas, (Medvedev and Krasnov 2006)), fall somewhere in between.

In addition to host contact, host specificity varies between ectoparasite species (Poulin and Mouillot 2003, Poulin 2007, Brown et al. 2022) and may influence the range of exposure to environmental pressures within an organizational scale: parasites specializing on one host species are exposed to less host-level variation than generalist parasites which may infest multiple host species. Differences in host contact and host specificity result in variation in the strength exerted by environmental pressures at each scale (Bolnick et al. 2020).

Differences in the relative strength of environmental pressures at different scales should result in observable differences in ectoparasite occupancy patterns. Specifically, I hypothesize that 1) the amount of host contact influences the relative strength of selective pressures at each environmental scale: parasite occupancy should be primarily driven by factors at the scale where the parasite spends most of its life cycle (Marshall 1981, Lareschi and Krasnov 2010, Sponchiado et al. 2017). Additionally, 2) host contact should also influence the selective pressure to specialize: parasites which spend a greater proportion of the life cycle on-host should parasitize fewer host species than parasites which spend less time on-host. Although associations between host contact and specialization have not been formally tested, host specificity has be found to be associated with other life history traits such as transmission mode (Pedersen et al. 2005, Poulin et al. 2006).

To test these hypotheses, I will use a multi-scale, multi-species occupancy model (multi-scale MSOM) to 1) estimate ectoparasite occupancy in geographic sites and individual hosts within each site while correcting for detection error, 2) evaluate effects of site-level and host-level covariates on ectoparasite occupancy, and 3) calculate Bayesian R² to quantify the explanatory power of each level of the model. If host contact influences host specificity and occupancy patterns at each organizational scale, ectoparasite species that spend the majority of their life cycle on-host (e.g. lice, fur fleas) should parasitize fewer host species and have a larger host-level Bayesian R² than ectoparasites in other life history categories (Lareschi and Krasnov 2010). Ephemeral parasites which only contact the host during feeding (e.g. ticks) should display the opposite trend, parasitizing many host species with a larger site-level Bayesian R^2 than other ectoparasites. Nest parasites (e.g. nest fleas, mesostigmatid mites) will likely fall somewhere in between.

Methods

Site-level environmental measurements. I sampled 10 sites located throughout Chittenden County, Vermont from May–August 2020. Four sites were located on active farms, three in old fields, and three in forested habitats. I sampled each site three times over the course of the study: the first sampling period was from May 26–June 14, the second from June 19–July 9, and the third from July 15–August 3. I set a 300 m linear sampling transect at each site. When possible, the transect began at the edge of the habitat patch and extended towards the center. Transects were sampled for a total of 3 consecutive trap days per sampling period for a total of 9 days per transect.

I measured site-level environmental variables on the first day of each trapping session at 30 m intervals along the sampling transect. I quantified site-level environmental variation by sampling vegetation cover, vertical structure, and canopy cover within a 0.5 m² quadrat. I quantified vegetation cover by recording the relative proportion of each cover type (e.g. grass, leaf litter) within the quadrat. Vertical structure was quantified using the point-touch method described in Wiens (1969). I measured canopy cover using a spherical convex densiometer. I repeated vegetation data collection once per sampling period and reduced the dimensionality of the data using a PCA. I ran

separate PCAs for vegetation composition variables, vertical structure variables, and all vegetation variables.

Small mammal trapping. To capture small mammal hosts, I placed trap stations every 10 m along the 300 m sampling transect. Each trap station consisted of two traps baited with sunflower seeds and 5 g dried mealworms and placed to maximize trapping efficiency (e.g. along fallen logs). I placed batting in each trap when night temperatures fell below 50°F (10°C) to reduce cold-related mortality (Do et al. 2013). Traps were set each evening and checked just after dawn the following morning for three consecutive trap days per sampling period.

Upon checking traps, captured mammals (excluding by-catch species) were transferred to a cloth handling bag. Rodents were marked with a unique ear tag and shrews were marked by clipping a patch of fur near the rump or shoulders, the location of which was used to identify individuals. Species, sex, mass, and standard external measurements (Hall 1962) were recorded for each mammalian host. I then searched for ectoparasites for a period of at least two minutes. Collected ectoparasites were stored in 70% ethanol. After handling, mammals were released at the point of capture. By-catch species (e.g. *Mustela* sp., *Glaucomys* sp.) were released at the point of capture without handling. Mammals found dead in the trap or euthanized due to poor body condition were prepared as museum specimens and deposited in the Zadock Thompson Natural History Collections at the University of Vermont. All handling procedures followed guidelines from the American Society of Mammalogists (Sikes and the Animal Care and Use Committee of the American Society of Mammalogists 2016) and were approved by the University of Vermont IACUC (Protocol #PROTO202000114).

Parasite sampling. After collection, all ectoparasites were prepared for identification and permanent storage. Fleas and ticks were cleared of host blood and other soft tissues by making a small incision in the exoskeleton and suspending the parasite in 10% KOH for 12–24 hours. After clearing, fleas and ticks were returned to a 70% ethanol solution for 24 hours. All parasites were dehydrated by soaking for at least 24 hours in increasing concentrations of ethanol: 70%, 85%, and 95%. After dehydration, parasites were identified to the lowest possible taxonomic level and preserved in either 95% ethanol or slide mounted using synthetic Canada balsam medium. Fleas were identified to species using Benton (1983) and Lewis (2000, 2009); adult and nymph ticks were identified to species using Keirans & Litwak (1989), whereas larval ticks were identified to species using Coley (2015); mites were identified to order, and when possible family and genus, using Krantz & Walter (2009) and Allred & Beck (1966). All parasites were deposited in the Zadock Thompson Natural History Collections at the University of Vermont.

Analytical Methods. All analyses were completed in R 4.1.2 (R Core Team 2021) unless otherwise specified. Data and code are available at

https://github.com/Beasley015/EctoLifeHistory.

I estimated ectoparasite occupancy at the site and host level using a multi-scale MSOM (Nichols et al. 2008, Szewczyk and McCain 2019). Like other hierarchical detection models, multi-scale MSOMs differentiate between an ecological metric of interest (e.g. occupancy) and the survey process used to observe the ecological metric (e.g. small mammal trapping). Using data from repeated sampling events, hierarchical detection models can estimate the detection error in the sampling method and use it to generate more accurate estimates of the ecological metric (MacKenzie et al. 2002, Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). Multi-scale MSOMs differ from other hierarchical detection models by introducing multiple scales at which the ecological metric can be measured (Nichols et al. 2008). In the context of this study, ectoparasite species can occur at a geographic site and on small mammal hosts nested within the geographic site (Figure 6). Using repeated captures of each individual host, multi-scale MSOMs can more accurately estimate ectoparasite occupancy at each of these organizational scales.

Environmental covariates can be included at each level of the multi-scale MSOM to improve occupancy estimates and evaluate the effects of the covariates on occupancy. For the site-level model, I included vegetation covariates based on the results of the PCA. Covariates in the host-level model included host species, adjusted body mass, and host sex, each of which may affect ectoparasite occupancy patterns (Poulin and Mouillot 2003, Krasnov et al. 2012, Kamiya et al. 2014b). Host mass was scaled within each host species to better reflect body size variation of individuals within a species rather than across species. All other covariates were scaled to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1.

I analyzed the model using a Bayesian framework using JAGS 4.3.0 (Plummer 2017) with the R package R2jags (Su and Yajima 2015). I used uninformative priors for

all model parameters. Markov chain Monte Carlo sampling was completed using 3 chains of length 12,000 including a burn-in period of 5,000; thinned by 12 to reduce autocorrelation. Model convergence was assessed by visually examining the trace plots of the Markov chains and using the R-hat statistic (Gelman and Rubin 1992); an R-hat less than 1.1 was considered converged. Full model specifications are available in Appendix S2. Because larvae and nymphs of *Ixodes scapularis* vary in their ecology, particularly in phenology and host preferences (Levi et al. 2015, Kocan et al. 2015), I ran the model with *I. scapularis* individuals aggregated and with the life stages treated as separate species.

I calculated the variance explained by each level of the model using the Bayesian R^2 value proposed by Gelman et al. (2019). In the context of hierarchical models, Bayesian R^2 differs from classical R^2 definitions in two important ways: first, other measures of explained variance for hierarchical models are in comparison to a null model (Gelman and Pardoe 2006), whereas Gelman et al.'s (2019) definition of Bayesian R^2 summarizes the fit of each level within a single model. Second, there are certain instances in a Bayesian framework where the formula for classical R^2 (essentially, explained variance/total variance) can yield a result greater than 1 (Tjur 2009). Bayesian R^2 always yields a value between 0 and 1 (Eq. 12).

Bayesian
$$R^2 = \frac{Explained variance}{Explained variance + residual variance}$$
 (Eq. 12)

I calculated Bayesian R^2 for the site and host levels of the model based on Gelman et al. (2019). Further details of the analysis are available in Appendix S4. I performed model selection using the Watanabe-Akaike Information Criterion (WAIC), an information criterion that performs better for hierarchical Bayesian models than traditional methods such as AIC (Hooten and Hobbs 2015). I performed model selection separately for the site and host levels of the model. In other words, when calculating the WAIC for each combination of model covariates for the site-level model, the host level model remained fixed with all covariates, and vice versa. Models with the lowest WAIC value were considered the best; models within two WAIC values of each other were considered equivalent.

To test the hypothesis that the amount of host contact influences ectoparasite occupancy patterns and host specificity, I assigned life history categories to each ectoparasite species based on the literature (Table S3-1). I compared site-level Bayesian R², host-level Bayesian R², and number of parasitized host species between categories using a Kruskal-Wallis test (Kruskal and Wallis 1952). Pair-wise comparisons were completed using a Dunn test (Dunn 1961). Life history categories with less than two species were not included in the analysis.

Because hosts and their parasites retain tight co-evolutionary links (Hafner and Nadler 1988, Poulin 2007), ectoparasite covariate responses are likely to mirror those of their hosts. To test this idea, I performed a MSOM on the host species using the same site-level covariates as the ectoparasite model. The structure of the host MSOM is similar to the ectoparasite MSOM, but the host MSOM only contains site occupancy as the ecological metric of interest. I analyzed the host MSOM using a Bayesian framework in JAGS 4.3.0 (Plummer 2017) and used uninformative priors for all model parameters.

Markov chain Monte Carlo sampling was completed using 3 chains of length 5,000 including a burn-in period of 1,000; thinned by 5 to reduce autocorrelation. Full specifications for the host MSOM can be found in Appendix S4.

To compare host and parasite covariate responses, I began by identifying the primary host species for each ectoparasite species. I used a method presented by Benton and Cerwonka (1960) to classify fleas based on host relationships and adapted it to identify the primary host for each ectoparasite species. For all ectoparasite species for which at least 5 individuals were collected, I visually inspected the distribution of abundances upon each host species (e.g. Figure S3-1). Because relative host abundance is likely to influence this distribution, I repeated the analysis using ectoparasite abundances that were adjusted for the relative abundance of each host. In cases where there was no clear preference between two or more host species (Benton and Cerwonka 1960), I included all potential primary host species in the analysis. Where possible, I verified the primary host species from previous studies (Table S3-2); in cases of conflict between the data and the literature, the primary host identified using the data was used because primary host identity may vary geographically (Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Krasnov et al. 2011a). Parasites for which fewer than 5 individuals were collected were also included in the analysis if there was a clear primary host based on the literature (Table S3-2).

After identifying primary hosts, I compared primary host and ectoparasite responses using a linear regression with the posterior mean of the host coefficient as the predictor variable and the posterior mean of the ectoparasite coefficient as the response variable. I repeated the regression for each vegetation covariate in the models.

Results

Data summary. The raw data consisted of 753 small mammal captures representing 11 species. Of these, two non-target species (*Tamiasciurus hudsonicus* and *Mustela* sp.) were removed from the dataset, along with 12 individuals that were found dead in the trap before the final day of sampling (2 *Microtus pennsylvanicus*, 1 *Sorex cinereus*, 9 *Blarina brevicauda*). The final dataset consisted of 417 individuals representing 8 species. The most common species was the white-fooded mouse *Peromyscus leucopus* with 222 individuals, followed by the meadow jumping mouse *Zapus hudsonius* with 78 individuals. The least abundant species was *Napaeozapus insignis* with 4 captured individuals (Figure S3-2).

I collected 410 ectoparasites representing 4 orders and 17 species from the captured small mammals. Prevalence averaged 0.465 across all host species and ranged from 0.105–0.788 among host species (Figure S3-3). Of hosts infested by at least one parasite, parasite load per capture event was typically 1 ectoparasite, with a range of 1–10 parasites (Figure S3-4).

Vegetation composition and vegetation height were highly correlated (r = 0.844) and the PCA with all vegetation data indicated that most of the variation in the data was explained by composition variables. Thus, results of the composition-only PCA were included in the model. The PCA yielded a first principal component that explained 92.5% of variation in the vegetation data and ranged from primarily grass and forb cover to primarily dead vegetation, specifically leaf litter (Figure S3-5). The second principal

component explained 7.2% of the variation in the data and ranged from primarily grass cover to primarily forb cover. The remaining principal components explained less than 5% of the variation in the data and were not included in the model.

Model Results. Model results with *I. scapularis* aggregated and disaggregated by life stage were qualitatively similar. The results below are from the model with disaggregated life stages.

Life history category was significantly associated with host specificity (χ^2 = 10.388, P = 0.006, $\eta^2 = 0.645$): fur parasites had fewer host species than ephemeral or nest parasites ($z_{ephemeral,fur} = -2.70$, P = 0.007; $z_{fur,nest} = 2.65$, P = 0.008, Figure 7). Associations between life history traits and site-level and host-level Bayesian R² values were generally non-significant (Site-level $\chi^2 = 4.601$, P = 0.067, $\eta^2 = 0.262$; host-level $\chi^2 = 5.404$, P = 0.100, $\eta^2 = 0.200$, Figure 7). However, there is some evidence for weak associations between the explanatory power of each level of the model and life history category. Despite being non-significant, the large effect size of the Kruskel-Wallace test indicates that site-level covariates may explain less variation in occupancy of nest parasites than fur or ephemeral parasites (Figure 8a). Additionally, a Dunn test yielded significant pair-wise differences in host-level Bayesian R² between fur and ephemeral parasites ($z_{fur,ephemeral} = 2.02$, P = 0.044, Figure 8b). Host specificity is significantly associated with Bayesian R² values at the host level ($F_{1.15} = 16.59$, P = 0.001, $R^2 = 0.494$, Figure 9b) but not the site level ($F_{1.15} = 1.924$, P = 0.186, $R^2 = 0.055$ Figure 9a).

Model selection at the site level yielded a model with the Grass/Forb covariate as the best model; however, the full model containing both site-level covariates performed equally well (Table 2). The best model at the host level was the model with all covariates. Models with the covariate for host species and either the covariate for mass or sex performed as well as the best model, indicating host species is likely the most important covariate for host-level occupancy (Table 2).

Primary host results were identical for raw counts and adjusted counts for all but two parasite species; therefore, the results using raw counts are discussed here. Results from the host MSOM indicated that hosts vary in their responses to PC1 (dead vegetation vs. grass/forb, Figure S3-6a) but not PC2 (grass vs. forb, Figure S3-6b). Thus, host and parasite covariate responses were only compared for PC1. Because host responses to PC1 behaved categorically (Figure S3-7), hosts were pooled based on habitat preference before comparing them to the parasite responses. Parasite covariate responses were not significantly associated with host habitat preferences; however, this may be an artifact of sample size (t = 2.322, df = 1.84, P = 0.157, d = 1.52, Figure 10)

Discussion

These results suggest that ectoparasite life history, specifically time spent in contact with the host, is associated with occupancy patterns and host specificity. Consistent with my predictions, fur fleas, which spend the greatest proportion of the life cycle on the host, parasitized fewer host species and had higher Bayesian R^2 values in the host-level model than ephemeral parasites which only contact the host to feed (Figures 7, 8b). Host-level Bayesian R^2 was negatively associated with host specificity (Figure 9b),

indicating that host traits explain less variation in occupancy for more generalist ectoparasite species. However, ephemeral and fur parasites did not differ in site-level Bayesian R² (Figure 8a), indicating that associations between life history, host specificity, and occupancy patterns may be more complex than my predictions would suggest.

Despite clear differences between life history categories at the host level, the explanatory power of the host model was very low (Figures 8b, 9b). Although this may seem counterintuitive given many ectoparasites retain strong phylogenetic associations with their host species (Brooks 1979, Hafner and Nadler 1988, Klassen 1992, Poulin 2007), the finding makes sense given the structure of the multi-scale MSOM. Because there is more variability in occupancy between host individuals than between host populations (i.e. more variability at the host than site levels), it is more difficult to predict ectoparasite occupancy on an individual host. Previous work has shown similar findings, in which parasite infra-communities (i.e. communities on an individual host) appear to be stochastically structured despite parasite communities displaying nonrandom structure at the host population level (Rynkiewicz et al. 2019). A null model analysis would be useful in determining whether infra-communities are structured stochastically (Gotelli 2001, Ulrich and Gotelli 2013), but such an analysis is beyond the scope of this paper.

The lack of differences in Bayesian R^2 at the site level may be due to the confounding effect of host habitat preferences: ectoparasites may be responding to host availability rather than characteristics of the geographic site. There is some support in the data for this conclusion: host species identity was in the best host models based on WAIC, and parasite site-level coefficients were weakly associated with host habitat

preferences. Anecdotally, host switches, in which ectoparasites not primarily associated with *P. leucopus* were collected from that species, tended to occur at sites where the primary host was present (Table S3-3). Host availability has been previously demonstrated to be a key driver of ectoparasite occupancy (Kamiya et al. 2014a, Johnson et al. 2016); and although there is some evidence that host availability is important in the context of these data, there is not enough support for a definitive conclusion.

Given the evidence above, it is possible that life history traits are not a primary driver of ectoparasite occupancy patterns. Rather, availability of the primary host species may be the main driver of ectoparasite occupancy, and life history traits influence a parasite's ability to switch to a non-preferred host. Parasite host switching is a common occurrence (Brooks and Hoberg 2007, Agosta et al. 2010), and parasite persistence on sub-optimal hosts is thought to be a stepping-stone for colonizing unrelated hosts (Araujo et al. 2015). Host availability as the primary variable influencing parasite occupancy has support in this dataset in that 1) host species identity was in the best models as selected by WAIC, and 2) generalist ectoparasites typically occurred on 1–2 preferred host species (Figure S3-8) and occupied secondary hosts at much lower rates. More work is needed to address whether life history traits influence host switching ability (but see Toit et al. 2013, Engelbrecht et al. 2016), and the dataset discussed here lacks control sites that *P. leucopus* did not occupy.

Alternatively, the lack of differences in site-level Bayesian R² between life history categories could be a result of different ecological processes affecting different

life history categories. As mentioned previously, ephemeral parasites such as ticks only contact the host to feed, and spend most of their life cycle in the external environment. As a result, it is likely that ticks truly respond to characteristics of the external environment, as demonstrated by previous studies (Ginsberg et al. 2017, Linske et al. 2019, Gallagher et al. 2022). By contrast, fur parasites such as fur fleas may be primarily influenced by host availability (Krasnov et al. 2002, 2019, Kamiya et al. 2014a, 2014b), and the high site-level R^2 may reflect host habitat preferences. Further work is needed to disentangle the effects of these two potential drivers of ectoparasite occupancy.

Multi-scale MSOMs are a useful framework for investigating host-ectoparasite communities, as the structure of the model reflects the hierarchical organization present in these systems (Nichols et al. 2008, Szewczyk and McCain 2019). MSOMs are also useful for reducing detection error, which may obscure patterns due to biased sampling methods or stochastic non-detection (Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). However, despite the modeling framework's utility for detecting patterns, MSOMs are limited in their ability to infer the mechanisms underlying said patterns. The associations between life history traits and occupancy patterns discussed in this paper could be a result of multiple different process which are not necessarily mutually exclusive, and further research is needed to differentiate between them.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that host contact is associated with host specificity and the explanatory power of host-level variables on ectoparasite occupancy. However, host contact does not appear to be associated with the explanatory power of site-level variables. It is possible that host contact influences occupancy patterns indirectly, such as by influencing a parasite species' ability to infest a non-primary host. More work is needed to disentangle the mechanisms by which ectoparasite life history traits such as host contact influence occupancy patterns across organizational scales.

Acknowledgements

This work was conducted on land stewarded by ongoing generations of Indigenous peoples, in particular the Western Abenaki. I thank Bailey Luter, Annie Smigelsky, and Natalya Swack for their assistance in the field, and Nicholas Gotelli and Brittany Mosher for their helpful comments on the manuscript. The research was funded by the American Society of Mammalogists Grants-in-Aid of Research and the American Museum of Natural History Theodore Roosevelt Memorial Grant. Permission for trapping small mammals was granted by the Vermont Fish & Wildlife Department (Permit #SR-2018-25) and other farmers and land managers. Methods were approved by the University of Vermont IACUC (Protocol #PROTO202000114).

References

- Agosta, S. J. et al. 2010. How specialists can be generalists: resolving the "parasite paradox" and implications for emerging infectious disease. Zoologia (Curitiba, Impr.) 27: 151–162.
- Allred, D. M. and Beck, D. E. 1966. Mites of Utah mammals. Brigham Young University Science Bulletin in press.
- Araujo, S. B. L. et al. 2015. Understanding Host-Switching by Ecological Fitting. PLOS ONE 10: e0139225.

- Benton, A. H. 1983. An illustrated key to the fleas of the eastern United States. -Marginal Media.
- Benton, A. H. and Cerwonka, R. H. 1960. Host Relationships of Some Eastern Siphonaptera. - The American Midland Naturalist 63: 383–391.
- Berkhout, B. W. et al. 2020. Host assemblage and environment shape β-diversity of freshwater parasites across diverse taxa at a continental scale. Global Ecology and Biogeography 29: 38–49.
- Bolnick, D. I. et al. 2020. Scale-dependent effects of host patch traits on species composition in a stickleback parasite metacommunity. Ecology 101: e03181.
- Brooks, D. R. 1979. Testing the Context and Extent of Host-Parasite Coevolution. -Systematic Zoology 28: 299–307.
- Brooks, D. R. and Hoberg, E. P. 2007. How will global climate change affect parasitehost assemblages? - Trends in Parasitology 23: 571–574.
- Brown, A. M. et al. 2022. Phylogenetic and Ecological Trends in Specialization: Disentangling the Drivers of Ectoparasite Host Specificity. in press.
- Cardon, M. et al. 2011. Host characteristics and environmental factors differentially drive the burden and pathogenicity of an ectoparasite: a multilevel causal analysis. -Journal of Animal Ecology 80: 657–667.
- Catts, E. P. 1982. Biology of New World Bot Flies: Cuterebridae. Annual Review of Entomology 27: 313–338.
- Coley, K. 2015. Identification Guide to Larval Stages of Ticks of Medical Importance in the USA.
- Do, R. et al. 2013. Reducing accidental shrew mortality associated with small-mammal livetrapping II: a field experiment with bait supplementation. J Mammal 94: 754–760.
- Dorazio, R. M. and Royle, J. A. 2005. Estimating Size and Composition of Biological Communities by Modeling the Occurrence of Species. - Journal of the American Statistical Association 100: 389–398.
- Dowling, A. P. G. 2006. Mesostigmatid mites as parasites of small mammals: Systematics, ecology, and the evolution of parasitic associations. - In: Morand, S. et al. (eds), Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, pp. 103–117.

- Dunn, O. J. 1961. Multiple Comparisons among Means. Journal of the American Statistical Association 56: 52–64.
- Ellison, A. M. and Gotelli, N. J. 2021. Scaling in ecology with a model system. -Princeton University Press.
- Engelbrecht, A. et al. 2016. Limited dispersal in an ectoparasitic mite, Laelaps giganteus, contributes to significant phylogeographic congruence with the rodent host, Rhabdomys. Molecular Ecology 25: 1006–1021.
- Gallagher, M. R. et al. 2022. Can restoration of fire-dependent ecosystems reduce ticks and tick-borne disease prevalence in the eastern United States? - Ecological Applications 32: e2637.
- Gelman, A. and Rubin, D. B. 1992. Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. Statistical Science 7: 457–511.
- Gelman, A. and Pardoe, I. 2006. Bayesian Measures of Explained Variance and Pooling in Multilevel (Hierarchical) Models. - Technometrics 48: 241–251.
- Gelman, A. et al. 2019. R-squared for Bayesian Regression Models. The American Statistician 73: 307–309.
- Ginsberg, H. S. et al. 2017. Environmental Factors Affecting Survival of Immature Ixodes scapularis and Implications for Geographical Distribution of Lyme Disease: The Climate/Behavior Hypothesis. - PLOS ONE 12: e0168723.
- Gotelli, N. J. 2001. Research frontiers in null model analysis. Global Ecology and Biogeography 10: 337–343.
- Hafner, M. S. and Nadler, S. A. 1988. Phylogenetic trees support the coevolution of parasites and their hosts. Nature 332: 258–259.
- Hall, E. R. 1962. Collecting and preparing study specimens of vertebrates.
- Hooten, M. B. and Hobbs, N. T. 2015. A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. - Ecological Monographs 85: 3–28.
- Iknayan, K. J. et al. 2014. Detecting diversity: emerging methods to estimate species diversity. - Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29: 97–106.
- Johnson, P. T. J. et al. 2016. Habitat heterogeneity drives the host-diversity-begetsparasite-diversity relationship: evidence from experimental and field studies. -Ecology Letters 19: 752–761.

- Kamiya, T. et al. 2014a. Host diversity drives parasite diversity: meta-analytical insights into patterns and causal mechanisms. Ecography 37: 689–697.
- Kamiya, T. et al. 2014b. What determines species richness of parasitic organisms? A meta-analysis across animal, plant and fungal hosts. - Biological Reviews 89: 123–134.
- Keirans, J. E. and Litwak, T. R. 1989. Pictorial Key to the Adults of Hard Ticks, Family Ixodidae (Ixodida: Ixodoidea), East of the Mississippi River. - Journal of Medical Entomology 26: 435–448.
- Kim, K. C. 2006. Blood-sucking lice (Anoplura) of small mammals: True parasites. In: Morand, S. et al. (eds), Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, pp. 141–160.
- Klassen, G. J. 1992. Coevolution: A History of the Macroevolutionary Approach to Studying Host-Parasite Associations. The Journal of Parasitology 78: 573–587.
- Kocan, K. M. et al. 2015. Insights into the development of Ixodes scapularis: a resource for research on a medically important tick species. Parasites Vectors 8: 592.
- 2009. A Manual of Acarology: Third Edition (GW Krantz and DE Walter, Eds.). Texas Tech University Press.
- Krasnov, B. et al. 2002. The Effect of Host Density on Ectoparasite Distribution: An Example of a Rodent Parasitized by Fleas. Ecology 83: 164–175.
- Krasnov, B. R. et al. 2011a. Nestedness and β-diversity in ectoparasite assemblages of small mammalian hosts: effects of parasite affinity, host biology and scale. -Oikos 120: 630–639.
- Krasnov, B. R. et al. 2011b. Beta-specificity: The turnover of host species in space and another way to measure host specificity. International Journal for Parasitology 41: 33–41.
- Krasnov, B. R. et al. 2012. Gender-biased parasitism in small mammals: patterns, mechanisms, consequences. 76: 1–13.
- Krasnov, B. R. et al. 2015. Assembly rules of ectoparasite communities across scales: combining patterns of abiotic factors, host composition, geographic space, phylogeny and traits. - Ecography 38: 184–197.
- Krasnov, B. R. et al. 2019. Species and site contributions to β -diversity in fleas parasitic on the Palearctic small mammals: ecology, geography and host species composition matter the most. Parasitology 146: 653–661.

- Kruskal, W. H. and Wallis, W. A. 1952. Use of Ranks in One-Criterion Variance Analysis. - Journal of the American Statistical Association 47: 583–621.
- Lareschi, M. and Krasnov, B. R. 2010. Determinants of ectoparasite assemblage structure on rodent hosts from South American marshlands: the effect of host species, locality and season. - Medical and Veterinary Entomology 24: 284–292.
- Levi, T. et al. 2015. Accelerated phenology of blacklegged ticks under climate warming.
 Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 370: 20130556.
- Levin, S. A. 1992. The Problem of Pattern and Scale in Ecology: The Robert H. MacArthur Award Lecture. - Ecology 73: 1943–1967.
- Lewis, R. E. 2000. A taxonomic review of the North American genus Orchopeas Jordan, 1933 (Siphonaptera: Ceratophyllidae: Ceratophyllinae). - Journal of Vector Ecology: 26.
- Lewis, R. E. 2009. The north american fleas of the genus Megabothris, Jordan, 1933 (Siphonaptera: Ceratophyllidae). - Annals of Carnegie Museum 77: 431–450.
- Linske, M. A. et al. 2019. Impacts of Deciduous Leaf Litter and Snow Presence on Nymphal Ixodes scapularis (Acari: Ixodidae) Overwintering Survival in Coastal New England, USA. - Insects 10: 227.
- MacKenzie, D. I. et al. 2002. Estimating Site Occupancy Rates When Detection Probabilities Are Less Than One. - Ecology 83: 2248–2255.
- Marshall, A. G. 1981. The ecology of ectoparasitic insects. Academic Press Inc.(London) Ltd.
- McGill, B. J. 2010. Matters of Scale. Science 328: 575-576.
- McMahon, S. M. and Diez, J. M. 2007. Scales of association: hierarchical linear models and the measurement of ecological systems. Ecology Letters 10: 437–452.
- Medvedev, S. G. and Krasnov, B. R. 2006. Fleas: Permanent satellites of small mammals.
 In: Morand, S. et al. (eds), Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, pp. 161–177.
- 2007. Micromammals and macroparasites: from evolutionary ecology to management (S Morand, BR Krasnov, and R Poulin, Eds.). - Springer Science & Business Media.
- Nichols, J. D. et al. 2008. Multi-scale occupancy estimation and modelling using multiple detection methods. Journal of Applied Ecology 45: 1321–1329.

- Ovadia, O. and Schmitz, O. J. 2002. Linking individuals with ecosystems: Experimentally identifying the relevant organizational scale for predicting trophic abundances. - Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99: 12927– 12931.
- Pedersen, A. B. et al. 2005. Patterns of host specificity and transmission among parasites of wild primates. International journal for parasitology 35: 647–657.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Poulin, R. 2007. Are there general laws in parasite ecology? Parasitology 134: 763–776.
- Poulin, R. and Mouillot, D. 2003. Parasite specialization from a phylogenetic perspective: a new index of host specificity. - Parasitology 126: 473–480.
- Poulin, R. et al. 2006. Patterns of host specificity in parasites exploiting small mammals.
 In: Morand, S. et al. (eds), Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, pp. 233–256.
- R Core Team 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing.
- Rynkiewicz, E. C. et al. 2019. Linking community assembly and structure across scales in a wild mouse parasite community. - Ecology and Evolution 9: 13752–13763.
- Schneider, D. C. 2001. The Rise of the Concept of Scale in Ecology: The concept of scale is evolving from verbal expression to quantitative expression. - BioScience 51: 545–553.
- Sikes, R. S. and the Animal Care and Use Committee of the American Society of Mammalogists 2016. 2016 Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research and education: - Journal of Mammalogy 97: 663–688.
- Sponchiado, J. et al. 2017. Ectoparasites of small-mammals: determinants of community structure in South American savannah. Parasitology 144: 475–483.
- Su, Y.-S. and Yajima, M. 2015. R2jags: Using R to run "JAGS."
- Szewczyk, T. M. and McCain, C. M. 2019. Disentangling elevational richness: a multiscale hierarchical Bayesian occupancy model of Colorado ant communities. -Ecography 42: 977–988.
- Tjur, T. 2009. Coefficients of Determination in Logistic Regression Models—A New Proposal: The Coefficient of Discrimination. - The American Statistician 63: 366– 372.

- Toit, N. du et al. 2013. Biogeography and host-related factors trump parasite life history: limited congruence among the genetic structures of specific ectoparasitic lice and their rodent hosts. Molecular Ecology 22: 5185–5204.
- Ulrich, W. and Gotelli, N. J. 2013. Pattern detection in null model analysis. Oikos 122: 2–18.
- van der Mescht, L. et al. 2016. The influence of life history characteristics on flea (Siphonaptera) species distribution models. Parasites & Vectors 9: 178.
- Weiher, E. et al. 2011. Advances, challenges and a developing synthesis of ecological community assembly theory. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 366: 2403–2413.
- Wiens, J. A. 1969. An Approach to the Study of Ecological Relationships among Grassland Birds. - Ornithological Monographs: 1–93.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial Scaling in Ecology. Functional Ecology 3: 385.
- Zuckerberg, B. et al. 2011. Climatic constraints on wintering bird distributions are modified by urbanization and weather. Journal of Animal Ecology 80: 403–413.

Tables

Table 2. Results of model selection using WAIC. The best model for each hierarchical level is indicated by a Δ WAIC of 0.00; models with a Δ WAIC less than 2 are considered equivalent to the best model.

Level	Model	WAIC	Δ WAIC
Site	Grass/Forb	79.43	0.00
	Grass/Forb + Dead Veg	79.64	0.21
	Intercept	81.95	2.52
	Dead Veg	83.56	4.13
Host	Species + Mass + Sex	83.86	0.00
	Species + Mass	84.40	0.54
	Species + Sex	85.82	1.96
	Species	89.28	5.42
	Intercept	91.64	7.78
	Sex	92.33	8.47
	Mass	93.88	10.02
	Sex + Mass	94.31	10.45

Figures



Figure 6. Conceptual diagram of the hierarchical system modeled using the multi-scale MSOM. Ectoparasite species may occupy a series of geographic sites (a), each with a suite of habitat characteristics. Each site contains small mammal hosts (b) that vary in characteristics such as species and body size. Each individual host is a sampling unit on which an ectoparasite may occur. By repeatedly sampling from each host over multiple captures (c), the MSOM can estimate the probability of detecting an ectoparasite species on a host given it is present.



Figure 7. Number of host species parasitized by each ectoparasite species, separated by life history classification. Colors denote parasite order; letters indicate group assignments based on a Dunn test. Points are jittered for clarity. Fur parasites parasitized significantly fewer host species than nest parasites or ephemeral parasites ($\chi^2 = 10.388$, P = 0.006, $\eta^2 = 0.645$). Bot flies (Diptera) are shown but were not included in the analysis due to small sample size.



Figure 8. Bayesian R² values from the site model (a) and host model (b) for each ectoparasite species. Colors denote order; points are jittered for clarity. There were no significant differences in site-level R² between life history groups; however, the effect size (η^2) indicates nest parasites may have slightly less variation explained by site-level covariates than other groups ($\chi^2 = 4.601$, P = 0.067, $\eta^2 = 0.262$). There were also no significant differences in host-level R² between groups ($\chi^2 = 5.404$, P = 0.100, $\eta^2 = 0.200$), but pair-wise comparisons using a Dunn test yielded significant differences between ephemeral and fur parasites (P = 0.044). Bot flies (Diptera) are shown but were not included in the analysis due to small sample size.



Figure 9. Associations between Bayesian R² from the site level (a) and host level (b) of the model and the number of host species parasitized by each ectoparasite species. Colors denote order. There was a significant, negative relationship between host-level R² and the number of hosts (b), indicating that host-level covariates tended to explain more variation in occupancy for more specialized parasites ($F_{1,15} = 16.59$, P = 0.001, $R^2 = 0.494$, Figure 4b). There were no significant associations between site-level R² and number of parasitized host species ($F_{1,15} = 1.924$, P = 0.186, $R^2 = 0.055$)



Figure 10. Coefficient values for the first covariate from the site-level model by host habitat preference. Negative coefficient values indicate habitats with more grass and forb ground cover; positive values indicate habitats with more leaf litter. Parasite habitat preferences were not significantly associated with ectoparasite habitat coefficients; however, the high Cohen's d value suggests that this may be an artifact of sample size. (t = 2.322, df = 1.84, P = 0.157, d = 1.52).

The impact of oral rabies vaccination targeting raccoons across a development intensity gradient in Burlington, Vermont, USA, 2015-2017

- Emily M. Beasley^{1*}, Kathleen M. Nelson^{2*}, Dennis Slate², Amy T. Gilbert³, Frederick E. Pogmore⁴, Richard B. Chipman², and Amy J. Davis³
- ¹University of Vermont, Department of Biology, 109 Carrigan Drive, Burlington, VT 05401
- ²United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, National Rabies Management Program, 59 Chenell Drive, Suite 2, Concord, NH, 03301 USA
- ³United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, National Wildlife Research Center, 4101 Laporte Avenue, Fort Collins, CO, 80521 USA
- ⁴United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, 617 Comstock Road, Suite 9, Berlin, VT 05602, USA

Abstract

Management of the raccoon variant of rabies virus in the United States is primarily conducted using oral rabies vaccination (ORV). When a sufficient proportion of the population is vaccinated (~60%), the spread of rabies can be controlled and even eliminated. ORV has been successful at controlling and eliminating raccoon rabies in rural areas but there has been less success in urban areas. We studied the proportion of the raccoon population with rabies virus neutralizing antibodies (RVNA) during a 3-year ONRAB ORV trial in urban areas of Burlington, Vermont. We used a modified *N*mixture model to jointly estimate raccoon abundance, RVNA seroprevalence, and capture rates to examine factors that relate to ORV success to better inform management. We found that abundance was lower in less developed areas compared to more urban centers. Raccoon RVNA seroprevalence tended to decrease as population abundance increased yet increased with the average age of the population. Opossum captures correlated with a decrease in raccoon RVNA seroprevalence in low development areas, suggesting they may be competing for baits. The target bait density across the entire study area was 150 baits/km², but the hand baiting strategy was heavily concentrated on roads and resulted in uneven bait densities within sampling sites (ranging from 0 to 484 baits/km²). Uneven bait distribution across the study area may explain low RVNA seroprevalence in some locations. Our results suggest that more even bait distribution across the study area may improve RVNA seroprevalence and support annual ORV to account for raccoon population turnover.

Introduction

Rabies virus remains a significant wildlife management and public health challenge in the United States (USDA 2017, Pieracci et al. 2020). Among mesocarnivores, a stable focus persists among populations of raccoons (*Procyon lotor*) in the eastern US (Gilbert 2018). The US Department of Agriculture (USDA), Wildlife Services, National Rabies Management Program (hereafter, NRMP) coordinates oral rabies vaccination (ORV) targeting meso-carnivore wildlife and annually distributes >9 million vaccine laden baits across diverse landscapes, with greatest emphasis in the region where raccoon rabies virus (RRV) is enzootic (Elmore et al. 2017).

Experimental ORV field trials to test the Ontario Rabies Vaccine Bait (ONRAB; Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) targeting raccoons began during 2011 in West Virginia (Slate et al. 2014) and has since shown promise at achieving raccoon seroprevalence close to target levels needed for RRV elimination (60-80%; Rees et al. 2013, Reynolds et al. 2015). Average post-ORV seroprevalence using 75 baits/km² during three 3-year ONRAB trials was 52% in West Virginia (Slate et al. 2014, Johnson et al. 2021), 69% in the northeastern US (Gilbert et al. 2018b), and 58% in the St. Lawrence River region of New York (Pedersen et al. 2019a).

These trials and similar studies investigated how landscape composition impacts raccoon vaccine bait encounters, uptake, and rabies virus neutralizing antibody (RVNA) response in rural areas following ORV (e.g. Berentsen et al. 2013, Pedersen et al. 2019b). Fewer studies have focused on the success of ORV in urban/suburban raccoon populations. Recent studies in Long Island, New York reported lower raccoon RVNA seroconversion in medium and high intensity development areas and greater success with increasing distances from roads (Bigler et al. 2021a, 2021b). One study reported that the likelihood of RVNA seroconversion in raccoons following ORV with ONRAB was negatively impacted by the proportion of residential areas near the capture site (Mainguy et al. 2012). From 2012-2014, the NRMP conducted an ONRAB trial in urban/suburban areas near Cleveland, Ohio using 150 baits/km² in a ground bait area. The 3-year post-
ORV mean RVNA in raccoons was only 34% (n=1,464), suggesting challenges vaccinating populations in developed areas compared to rural areas (USDA 2017).

Urban challenges for ORV such as higher raccoon densities, smaller home ranges, and fragmented habitats are well documented and influenced by anthropogenic resources (Prange et al. 2003, 2004, Randa and Yunger 2006, Bozek et al. 2007, Rosatte et al. 2010, Berentsen et al. 2013, Slate et al. 2020). There also may be a greater abundance of nontarget bait competitors in urban areas (e.g., cats [*Felis catus*], dogs [*Canis lupus familiaris*], opossums [*Didelphis virginiana*]), which may impact ORV success targeting meso-carnivore populations. One NRMP goal is to eliminate RRV locally and nationally by moving ORV zones eastward over the next 30 years (Elmore et al. 2017). As ORV zones move east, more urban/suburban habitats will be encountered requiring a better understanding of effective strategies targeting raccoon populations in developed environments.

In this study, we estimate raccoon RVNA seroprevalence and determine the relative impacts of baiting strategies, raccoon population characteristics, and the landscape (e.g., development intensity and competitor abundance) on seroprevalence to inform rabies management.

Methods

Study area and habitat. The study area in Chittenden County, Vermont is within the urban/suburban ORV ground bait zone and encompasses portions of six townships: Burlington, Colchester, Essex, South Burlington, Williston, and Winooski. The hand baiting zone was overlaid with 1-km² cells and the percent of habitat types was determined for each cell using the 2011 National Land Cover Database (NLCD; Homer et al. 2015). Using NLCD values 21 (Developed, Open Space), 22 (Developed, Low Intensity), 23 (Developed, Medium Intensity), and 24 (Developed, High Intensity), study area cells were classified into low, medium, or high intensity human development. Four non-adjacent sampling cells were randomly selected for each of the three development intensities, separated by at least 1 km (Figure 11A). Sampling cells had minimum spatial buffers of 1.2 km to the edge of the ground bait zone to limit raccoon movement in and out of the ORV zone. Mean percent development across cells in each of the three intensity classes was 45% for low (range 28-58%), 67% for medium (range 54-86%), and 92% for high (range 87-96%).

Oral rabies vaccine bait and distribution strategies. During August 2015-2017, approximately 25,000 ONRAB vaccine baits (Rosatte et al. 2009b) were distributed by hand throughout the study area at a target density of 150 baits/km². In urban/suburban areas, baits are hand distributed either by slow speed vehicles targeting hedgerows between properties, culverts under streets, dumpsters behind businesses or by walking sidewalks, railroad tracks, bike paths and placing baits in areas likely used by raccoons that are less likely to be encountered by people or pets. This is commonly referred to as "hand" or "ground" baiting (Gilbert and Chipman 2020). Baits were distributed annually in the hand bait zone across six grids that averaged 37 km² in size (Figure 11A). Field staff were assigned a number of baits per grid and recorded the location of baits distributed using push-button, screenless point of interest (POI) units (G-Log 760,

Transystem Inc., Miaoli, Taiwan). We mapped POI coordinates (dots) within sampling cells and used ArcMap 10.8 (ESRI 2011) to count the number of POI dots as a proxy for number of ONRAB baits distributed per cell.

Trapping, animal handling, and sampling. Sampling cells were trapped for 10 consecutive days in July (pre-ORV) and again in October (post-ORV) during 2015-2017. Each cell contained 25 live traps (model 608, Tomahawk Live Trap, LLC, Hazelhurst, Wisconsin, USA) baited with marshmallows and anise oil. Efforts were made to distribute traps evenly across cells given development and property access constraints. Traps were checked daily and moved within a cell every 2-3 days if no unique target animals had been captured.

Target animals (raccoons, striped skunks [*Mephitis mephitis*], gray and red foxes [*Urocyon cinereoargenteus* and *Vulpes vulpes*], and fishers [*Pekania pennanti*]) were anesthetized using a 5:1 ketamine:xylazine mixture via intramuscular injection (Kreeger 1999). Under anesthesia, animals were ear tagged with a unique identifier and the sex, reproductive status, relative age, weight, and general condition were recorded. A 5-7 ml blood sample was collected from the jugular vein and a first premolar tooth was extracted (when available). Target animals were released at the capture site after full recovery from anesthesia. All nontarget, as well as target animals recaptured within the same 10-day trapping session, were released immediately at the point of capture without sampling. Animals exhibiting abnormal behavior or with severe lesions were euthanized under heavy anesthesia with potassium chloride and a brainstem sample was collected postmortem.

RVNA determination and antigen testing. Serum samples were separated from whole blood and shipped frozen to the New York State Department of Health (NYSDOH) Rabies Laboratory where they determined RVNA titers by using a modified neutralization test (Trimarchi et al. 1996). Results were provided in IU/ml and samples ≥ 0.125 were considered RVNA positive. Brainstems were tested for rabies antigen by the Vermont Department of Health (VDH) Laboratory in Burlington, Vermont using the direct fluorescent antibody test (Center for Disease Control and Prevention and Prevention 2018).

Age determination. Teeth were shipped to Matson's Laboratory (Manhattan, Montana, USA) to determine age from cementum as described in Johnston et al. (1987); results were returned to the nearest year: 0 for young of the year juveniles and ≥ 1 for adults.

Population level analysis. We estimated raccoon abundance (*N*) and RVNA seroprevalence (*S*) post-ORV in 2015-2017 by modifying a multinomial *N*-mixture model with removal sampling (Kery and Royle 2015a, 2015b). This type of model estimates abundance by using daily counts of unmarked (unique) individuals to estimate the probability of detecting (or in our case capturing) an unmarked individual during a daily count. Capture probability is then used to generate abundance estimates. The model accounts for the decreasing probability of capturing a unique animal as individuals in the population are captured and marked (Kery and Royle 2015a). We modified the base model to include estimates of RVNA seroprevalence in each cell, i.e., to compare daily

counts of unmarked seropositive individuals to daily counts of all unmarked individuals to estimate cell-level seroprevalence (see Appendix S5 for more details).

We allowed abundance to vary with development intensity and capture rate to vary with trap availability (if traps were triggered by other species, they were not available to capture raccoons). We examined effects of habitat (human development level), population composition (raccoon abundance and average age), competition (numbers of other species caught), and management (ORV bait density and coverage). Bait coverage was calculated by drawing a 30m buffer (McClure et al. 2022) around each POI dot to represent the area of effect for each bait. We merged all buffers into a single polygon, then calculated coverage as the proportion of the study cell that intersected the buffer polygon. Model parameters were estimated using a Bayesian hierarchical model with uninformed priors in the programs JAGS (Plummer 2017) and R (R Core Team 2021). We evaluated covariate effects using the 75% credible interval (CI) as an exploratory metric and followed up with the appropriate frequentist analysis (e.g., linear regression, ANOVA, etc.) We used the Watanabe-Akaike Information Criterion (WAIC) to perform model selection (Watanabe 2010, Hooten and Hobbs 2015). We used posterior predictive checks to ensure the model was internally consistent (i.e. that model results made sense; Gelman et al. 1996, 2013) and post-hoc frequentist tests to complement the Bayesian analyses.

Results

Data summary. The number of ONRAB baits distributed within the greater Burlington area and the number of POI coordinates recorded as baits had minimal annual variation: 24,496 baits/24,111 POI dots in 2015 (-385 POI error), 24,298 baits/24,495 POI dots in 2016 (+197 POI error), and 24,459 baits/24,289 POI dots in 2017 (-170 POI error). The POI dots (proxy for number of baits distributed) in each sampling cell varied considerably by cell, development intensity, and year (Table 3).

During the 3-year field trial, 2,274 animals were trapped across 18,000 trap nights: 1,082 (48%) were target animals sampled for RVNA (902 raccoons, 164 skunks, 11 fishers, 4 gray fox, 1 red fox); 818 (36%) were nontargets released without sampling; and 374 (16%) were target animals recaptured during the same trapping session. Opossums totaled 275 among 818 (34%) nontarget captures during the trial (19% in low development, 31% in medium development, and 50% in high development).

Among 902 raccoons, 482 (53%) were sampled once and 174 individuals were sampled at least two times. Three target animals were found dead in a trap and nine were euthanized due to abnormal behavior or severe lesions. All were tested for rabies and one raccoon tested RRV positive, which was an adult lactating female found dead in a trap with a large open abdominal wound during the 2015 pre-ORV session. Most of the 902 raccoons sampled were captured in the medium development area (375) and the least were captured in the low development area (226), with 301 captured in the high development area. Of the 902 raccoons, an actual age was reported for 758 and sex was recorded for 900. Raccoons in the low development habitat had the highest proportion of males (60%). In the medium development habitat, the proportion was slightly lower (58%) and the high development habitat had the lowest proportion of males (52%).

The RVNA seroprevalence rates and sample sizes for raccoons and skunks varied by year, sampling period, and development (Table 4). Regardless of development type, the 3-year mean RVNA among raccoons pre-ORV was 36.4% (n = 523, range: 16.8-46.5%) and 39.1% (n = 379, range: 28.8-44.4%) post-ORV.

Population level results. There was model uncertainty in the population level results (Table S6-1), suggesting that no single model was strongly supported over the set examined. There were no significant interaction terms based on the 75% CI and post-hoc analyses; therefore, we selected a model with all additive covariates.

The model corrected for the probability of capturing a unique raccoon decreasing when fewer traps were available to capture raccoons. Estimated raccoon abundance per cell by year ranged from 2-31, with a median of 10. Medium and high development cells had higher estimated raccoon abundance than low development cells (Figure S6-1). However, an ANOVA did not reveal differences between development categories (P =0.257), likely due to high variability in raccoon abundance within medium development cells.

Estimated post-bait raccoon RVNA seroprevalence per cell ranged from 11.6-96.8% (median = 39.7%) and varied by year and development class (Figure 12). Medium development cells tended to have lower RVNA seroprevalence compared to low development (P = 0.077, $\eta^2 = 0.144$), possibly due to high variability observed in medium or high development cells. Raccoon abundance did not affect seroprevalence based on the 75% CI; however, a linear model with estimated abundance as the predictor variable and estimated seroprevalence as the response demonstrated a negative relationship (P = 0.020, $R^2 = 0.124$, Figure 13A). Estimated raccoon seroprevalence increased as skunk captures increased (P < 0.001, $R^2=0.439$, Figure 13B), whereas opossum captures were not associated with seroprevalence based on the 75% CI or the results of a linear model (P=0.385, $R^2=-0.007$, Figure 13C). However, opossum captures explained 31% of the variation in seroprevalence in low development cells (P = 0.036, $R^2 = 0.305$).

Although the average age of captured raccoons did not impact raccoon RVNA seroprevalence based on the 75% CI, the results could be due to an influential outlier from a cell with a small sample size (Figure S6-2). Upon removing the outlier, results from a linear regression suggest that raccoon populations with a lower average age tend to have lower estimated RVNA seroprevalence (P = 0.003, $R^2 = 0.213$, Fig. 4).

The actual bait density and bait coverage within a cell did not impact RVNA seroprevalence based on the 75% CI or the results of linear models (P = 0.054, $R^2 = 0.078$; P = 0.709, $R^2 = -0.025$, Figure S6-3). There tended to be a weak positive relationship between the bait density and the seroprevalence, while the relationship between bait coverage within cells and seroprevalence was ambiguous.

Posterior predictive checks yielded no systemic discrepancies between the observed data and data generated by the model (Figure S6-4), but the distributions for the simulated data had slightly longer tails.

Discussion

The post-ORV raccoon RVNA seroprevalence was well below the target levels recommended for RRV elimination (60–80%; Rees et al. 2013, Reynolds et al. 2015) except for four cells that reached 60% estimated seroprevalence at least once during the study. Multiple environmental factors may contribute to raccoon RVNA seroprevalence in the greater Burlington area, where medium development sites had lower seroprevalence compared to low development sites, with no clear differences between sites comparing high development to low or medium development (Figure 12).

Characteristics of raccoon populations explain some of the variation in RVNA seroprevalence, as areas of greater raccoon abundance exhibited lower seroprevalence (Figure 13A). Furthermore, estimated raccoon abundance was lower across low development compared to medium or high development sites. Raccoons may thrive in moderate levels of human development, with residential areas and nearby forested areas (e.g., cemeteries and parks) close to the urban core where they can forage for anthropogenic food sources such as garbage, bird feeders, pet food, and vegetable gardens (McKinney 2002, Randa and Yunger 2006). Our classifications of low, medium, or high human development are all within the Burlington metropolitan area and even the low cells averaged 45% developed and should not be considered rural. Many studies have documented greater raccoon densities in urban/suburban compared to rural habitats (Schinner and Cauley 1974, Riley et al. 1998, Prange et al. 2003, Slate et al. 2020). seroprevalence observed in the Burlington study area when compared to similar studies from rural areas.

Older raccoons had a higher probability of being RVNA seropositive than younger raccoons. This was expected as juvenile raccoons typically travel in family groups and may be inexperienced in foraging and encountering baits. During our postbait sessions, juveniles had encountered only one baiting event, while adults had encountered at least two baiting events. Several studies have reported greater RVNA seroprevalence among adult compared to juvenile raccoons (Boulanger et al. 2008, Rosatte et al. 2009a, Horman et al. 2012, Mainguy et al. 2012, Slate et al. 2014, Pedersen et al. 2019a), where RVNA seroprevalence increases with animal age (Figure S6-1; Gilbert et al. 2018a, Johnson et al. 2021) and exposure to annual ORV baiting efforts. Overall, 45% of raccoons in our study were juveniles, similar to Mainguy et al. (2012) and Bigler et al. (2021a), but varied by development type (37% in low, 46% in medium, and 49% in high), which may relate to seroprevalence differences by development class. We concur with prior work suggesting that a pulse of susceptible juveniles entering the population each year underscores the need for annual ORV to maintain levels of population RVNA seroprevalence.

Skunks and opossums were more important factors affecting raccoon RVNA seroprevalence than expected. In low development areas, where the most opossums were captured, raccoon RVNA seroprevalence was lowest during the ORV trial. While this pattern only occurred in low development, it suggests potential bait competition between opossums and raccoons. Opossums made up one third of all nontargets captured during

our study and have been recognized as bait competitors with raccoons in previous studies (Olson and Werner 1999, Olson et al. 2000, Smyser et al. 2010).

Sites with greater skunk captures demonstrated higher raccoon RVNA seroprevalence. Except for one high development cell in 2015 with an unusually high number of unique skunks (25/km² during pre-bait and 19/km² during post-bait), skunk captures tended to be greatest in the low development cells, followed by medium development cells and least frequent in high development cells. Although skunks consume ORV baits, it's possible that their dependence on urban green spaces (Greenspan et al. 2018) reduces the likelihood of encountering baits distributed along roads. Additional research is needed to explain how interspecific encounters of target meso-carnivores may affect bait uptake and RVNA seroconversion in raccoons.

The target bait density for the Burlington ground zone was 150 baits/km², which is commonly used within urban areas with higher raccoon densities (Slate et al. 2020). Our baiting grids averaged 37 km² and 4,070 baits distributed per grid. Within sampling cells, the actual bait densities varied from 0-484 baits/km². There is a known number of baits per grid but, depending on habitats encountered while driving, distribution may be uneven or patchy within grids (Figure 11B-D). Additionally, concentrating delivery along roads may lead to bait distribution in suboptimal raccoon habitat (e.g., roadside ditches, under shrubs on front lawns), potentially reducing raccoon bait encounters (Bigler et al. 2021b). There was a slight positive association between actual bait density and raccoon RVNA seroprevalence, however, this was not a strong influence compared to other factors measured during the study. Within-cell bait coverage did not strongly influence raccoon RVNA seroprevalence, perhaps because raccoon movements in developed areas may exceed the cell size (1 km²). Prange et al. (2004) documented raccoon movements and home ranges in urban and suburban areas during the summer that exceeded the width and area of our cells.

There was some evidence that bait coverage at a scale larger than the 1 km² sampling cells was important, as a portion of the greater Burlington area was not baited during 2016 (Figure 11C) and raccoon RVNA seroprevalence rates were unusually low during 2017 (Figure S6-5B). There may be a cumulative effect of baiting (Sattler et al. 2009) for maintaining raccoon RVNA seroprevalence rates, considering the pulse of naive juveniles entering the population annually. A cumulative effect could explain the lower seroprevalence rates in medium development sites, as many of these sites were in or adjacent to the areas without baits. Future research should consider the potential benefit of reducing the size of baiting grids, which may result in fewer baiting gaps and increased raccoon RVNA seroprevalence.

There was considerable variability of raccoon RVNA seroprevalence estimates among cells. However, we observed a high probability of raccoon detection (capture) in our model, suggesting that this variability is not due to observation error. Detection-based models are useful in situations where bias or error in capture rates may introduce error in the observed data (Iknayan et al. 2014, Kellner and Swihart 2014). Our detection-model estimated relatively high capture rates, increasing our confidence that the seroprevalence estimates accurately represent the raccoon population in this area. The model also corrected for a decrease in raccoon captures as more traps are occupied, which is important at sites with high numbers of recaptures or nontargets. The addition of seroprevalence to the base *N*-mixture model with removal sampling was also important for accurately modeling seroprevalence, as the model was able to jointly estimate abundance and seroprevalence, the former of which often affects the latter in wild populations (Mainguy et al. 2012).

The use of multiple analytical methods to support and expand upon the results of the *N*-mixture model shed additional light on the factors that may influence raccoon population RVNA seroprevalence associated with ORV. Evaluation of the 75% CI missed many important variables because of outliers (Figure S6-2) or because the pattern only held in one development class (Figure 13C). An individual-level analysis also supported the finding that seroprevalence was influenced by the average age of the population by providing an explanation for the pattern (i.e., that older raccoons are more likely to be seropositive; Figure S6-5A). Our consideration of multiple analytical approaches was useful for teasing apart complex relationships between biological and landscape factors in this urban environment.

During 2014 (prior to our study), there were 30 confirmed cases of RRV within our study area, declining to 7 and 1 case detected during 2015 and 2016, respectively. During 2017-2021, there were no cases of RRV in this area based upon consistent levels of surveillance each year. Despite the relatively low RVNA response in this study when compared to rural ONRAB studies, ORV led to case reduction and elimination during the study. For improved urban management of RRV using ORV, future research should focus on a more comprehensive understanding of the interplay between RVNA seroprevalence for local and regional case reduction and elimination of RRV.

We identified several patterns impacting raccoon RVNA seroprevalence within the greater Burlington ORV area, but many questions remain. Future studies in developed areas should investigate potential factors among the ecological community of mesocarnivores and nontarget animals that may impact ORV effectiveness for raccoons (e.g., population densities, movements, home ranges, habitat use and selection, bait consumption). A comprehensive ecological understanding can inform refinement of baiting strategies for raccoons in urban/suburban environments. Bait stations require additional study such as incorporating them with hand baiting, locating them farther from roads to potentially bolster bait encounters as suggested by (Bigler et al. 2021b), and expand on work by Bjorklund et al. (Bjorklund et al. 2017) to improve specificity of access by raccoons. As the NRMP continues to work toward RRV elimination over the next 30 years and pushing the ORV zone eastward, an increasing number of urbanized areas will be encountered, and the challenges associated with ORV in urban areas will become more prominent. Continued investigation and research of ORV targeting raccoons in urban/suburban habitats is critical to successful elimination of RRV from the US and North America.

Acknowledgements

We thank USDA, Wildlife Services personnel from Maine, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New York, Pennsylvania, and Vermont who conducted the field work and specifically Owen Montgomery, Robert Acabbo, Morgan Taylor, and David Lockerby for their extra efforts and significant contributions to this field trial. We also thank personnel at the NYSDOH Rabies Laboratory and the VDH Laboratory for rabies antibody and antigen diagnostic testing. E.M. Beasley was supported by the Quantitative and Evolutionary STEM Training (QuEST) Program financed by the University of Vermont and the National Science Foundation (Grant DGE-1735316).

Literature Cited

- Berentsen, A. R., M. R. Dunbar, C. E. Fitzpatrick, and W. D. Walter. 2013. Spatial ecology of urban raccoons in northeastern Ohio: implications for oral rabies vaccination. Prairie Naturalist 45:39-45.
- Bigler, L. L., J. B. Ochwat, S. C. Scarpitta, B. W. Matthews, R. J. Rudd, and D. H. Lein. 2021a. Oral rabies vaccination strategies toward raccoon (procyon lotor) rabies elimination on suburban Long Island, New York, USA. Journal of wildlife diseases 57:132-144.
- Bigler, L. L., J. B. Ochwat, S. C. Scarpitta, B. W. Matthews, R. J. Rudd, and D. H. Lein. 2021b. Virus neutralizing antibody following oral rabies vaccination of raccoons (Procyon lotor) on suburban Long Island, New York, USA. Journal of wildlife diseases 57:145-156.
- Bjorklund, B. M., B. S. Haley, R. J. Bevilacqua, M. D. Chandler, A. G. Duffiney, K. W. Von Hone, D. Slate, R. B. Chipman, A. Martin, and T. P. Algeo. 2017. Progress towards Bait Station Integration into Oral Rabies Vaccination Programs in the United States: Field Trials in Massachusetts and Florida. Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease 2:40.
- Boulanger, J. R., L. L. Bigler, P. D. Curtis, D. H. Lein, and A. J. Lembo Jr. 2008. Evaluation of an oral vaccination program to control raccoon rabies in a suburbanized landscape. Human-Wildlife Conflicts 2:212-224.
- Bozek, C. K., S. Prange, and S. D. Gehrt. 2007. The influence of anthropogenic resources on multi-scale habitat selection by raccoons. Urban Ecosystems 10:413-425.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017. Protocol for postmortem diagnosis of rabies in animals by direct fluorescent antibody testing.

- Elmore, S. A., R. B. Chipman, D. Slate, K. P. Huyvaert, K. C. VerCauteren, and A. T. Gilbert. 2017. Management and modeling approaches for controlling raccoon rabies: The road to elimination. PLoS neglected tropical diseases 11:e0005249.
- Gelman, A., J. B. Carlin, H. S. Stern, D. B. Dunson, A. Vehtari, and D. B. Rubin. 2013. Bayesian Data Analysis, Third Edition. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Gelman, A., X.-L. Meng, and H. Stern. 1996. Posterior predictive assessment of model fitness via realized discrepancies. Statistica sinica 6:733-760.
- Gilbert, A. 2018. Rabies virus vectors and reservoir species. Scientific and Technical Review of the Office International des Epizooties 37:371-384.
- Gilbert, A., S. Johnson, N. Walker, C. Wickham, A. Beath, and K. VerCauteren. 2018a. Efficacy of Ontario Rabies Vaccine Baits (ONRAB) against rabies infection in raccoons. Vaccine 36:4919-4926.
- Gilbert, A. T., and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Rabies control in wild carnivores. Pages 604-654 in A. R. Fooks and A. C. Jackson, editors. Rabies 4th ed. Academic Press, Boston, Massachusetts, USA.
- Gilbert, A. T., S. R. Johnson, K. M. Nelson, R. B. Chipman, K. C. VerCauteren, T. P. Algeo, C. E. Rupprecht, and D. Slate. 2018b. Field trials of ontario rabies vaccine bait in the Northeastern USA, 2012–14. Journal of wildlife diseases 54:790-801.
- Greenspan, E., C. K. Nielsen, and K. W. Cassel. 2018. Potential distribution of coyotes (Canis latrans), Virginia opossums (Didelphis virginiana), striped skunks (Mephitis mephitis), and raccoons (Procyon lotor) in the Chicago Metropolitan Area. Urban Ecosystems 21:983-997.
- Homer, C., J. Dewitz, L. Yang, S. Jin, P. Danielson, G. Xian, J. Coulston, N. Herold, J. Wickham, and K. Megown. 2015. Completion of the 2011 National Land Cover Database for the conterminous United States–representing a decade of land cover change information. Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing 81:345-354.
- Hooten, M. B., and N. T. Hobbs. 2015. A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 85:3-28.
- Horman, J. T., K. V. Shannon, E. M. Simpson, T. M. Burja, R. H. Fey, J. J. Smith, and F. B. Phillips. 2012. Control of terrestrial animal rabies in Anne Arundel County, Maryland, after oral vaccination of raccoons (1998–2007). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 241:725-734.

- Iknayan, K. J., M. W. Tingley, B. J. Furnas, and S. R. Beissinger. 2014. Detecting diversity: emerging methods to estimate species diversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29:97-106.
- Johnson, S. R., D. Slate, K. M. Nelson, A. J. Davis, S. A. Mills, J. T. Forbes, K. C. VerCauteren, A. T. Gilbert, and R. B. Chipman. 2021. Serological Responses of Raccoons and Striped Skunks to Ontario Rabies Vaccine Bait in West Virginia during 2012–2016. Viruses 13:157.
- Johnston, D. H., D. G. Joachim, P. Bachmann, K. V. Kardong, R. E. A. Stewart, L. M. Dix, M. A. Strickland, and I. D. Watt. 1987. Aging furbearers using tooth structure and biomarkers. Pages 228-243 in M. Novak, B. J.A., M. E. Obbard, and B. Malloch, editors. Wild Furbearer Management and Conservation in North America. Ontario Trappers Association, North Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Kellner, K. F., and R. K. Swihart. 2014. Accounting for imperfect detection in ecology: a quantitative review. PLoS ONE 9:e111436.
- Kéry, M., and J. A. Royle. 2016. Modeling Abundance Using Multinomial N-Mixture Models. Pages 313-392 in M. Kéry and J. A. Royle, editors. Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology. Academic Press, Boston.
- Kreeger, T. J. 1999. Vetbaset® 3.1. Journal of wildlife diseases 35:628-629.
- Mainguy, J., E. E. Rees, P. Canac-Marquis, D. Bélanger, C. Fehlner-Gardiner, G. Séguin, S. Larrat, S. Lair, F. Landry, and N. Côté. 2012. Oral rabies vaccination of raccoons and striped skunks with ONRAB® baits: multiple factors influence field immunogenicity. Journal of wildlife diseases 48:979-990.
- McClure, K. M., G. Bastille-Rousseau, A. J. Davis, C. A. Stengel, K. M. Nelson, R. B. Chipman, G. Wittemyer, Z. Abdo, A. T. Gilbert, and K. M. Pepin. 2022. Accounting for animal movement improves vaccination strategies against wildlife disease in heterogeneous landscapes. Ecological Applications:e2568.
- McKinney, M. L. 2002. Urbanization, Biodiversity, and ConservationThe impacts of urbanization on native species are poorly studied, but educating a highly urbanized human population about these impacts can greatly improve species conservation in all ecosystems. BioScience 52:883-890.
- Olson, C. A., K. D. Mitchell, and P. A. Werner. 2000. Bait ingestion by free-ranging raccoons and nontarget species in an oral rabies vaccine field trial in Florida. Journal of wildlife diseases 36:734-743.
- Olson, C. A., and P. A. Werner. 1999. Oral rabies vaccine contact by raccoons and nontarget species in a field trial in Florida. Journal of wildlife diseases 35:687-695.

- Pedersen, K., A. T. Gilbert, K. M. Nelson, D. P. Morgan, A. J. Davis, K. C. VerCauteren, D. Slate, and R. B. Chipman. 2019a. Raccoon (Procyon lotor) response to Ontario rabies vaccine baits (ONRAB) in St. Lawrence County, New York, USA. Journal of wildlife diseases 55:645-653.
- Pedersen, K., A. T. Gilbert, E. S. Wilhelm, K. M. Nelson, A. J. Davis, J. D. Kirby, K. C. VerCauteren, S. R. Johnson, and R. B. Chipman. 2019b. Effect of high-density oral rabies vaccine baiting on rabies virus neutralizing antibody response in raccoons (Procyon lotor). Journal of wildlife diseases 55:399-409.
- Pieracci, E. G., J. A. Brown, D. L. Bergman, A. Gilbert, R. M. Wallace, J. D. Blanton, A. Velasco-Villa, C. N. Morgan, S. Lindquist, and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Evaluation of species identification and rabies virus characterization among bat rabies cases in the United States. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 256:77-84.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Prange, S., S. D. Gehrt, and E. P. Wiggers. 2003. Demographic factors contributing to high raccoon densities in urban landscapes. The Journal of Wildlife Management 67:324-333.
- Prange, S., S. D. Gehrt, and E. P. Wiggers. 2004. Influences of anthropogenic resources on raccoon (Procyon lotor) movements and spatial distribution. Journal of Mammalogy 85:483-490.
- R Core Team. 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.
- Randa, L. A., and J. A. Yunger. 2006. Carnivore occurrence along an urban-rural gradient: a landscape-level analysis. Journal of Mammalogy 87:1154-1164.
- Rees, E. E., B. A. Pond, R. R. Tinline, and D. Bélanger. 2013. Modelling the effect of landscape heterogeneity on the efficacy of vaccination for wildlife infectious disease control. Journal of Applied Ecology 50:881-891.
- Reynolds, J. J. H., B. T. Hirsch, S. D. Gehrt, and M. E. Craft. 2015. Raccoon contact networks predict seasonal susceptibility to rabies outbreaks and limitations of vaccination. Journal of Animal Ecology 84:1720-1731.
- Riley, S. P., J. Hadidian, and D. A. Manski. 1998. Population density, survival, and rabies in raccoons in an urban national park. Canadian Journal of Zoology 76:1153-1164.
- Rosatte, R., D. Donovan, M. Allan, L. Bruce, T. Buchanan, K. Sobey, B. Stevenson, M. Gibson, T. MacDonald, and M. Whalen. 2009a. The control of raccoon rabies in

Ontario Canada: proactive and reactive tactics, 1994–2007. Journal of wildlife diseases 45:772-784.

- Rosatte, R., D. Donovan, J. Davies, M. Allan, P. Bachmann, B. Stevenson, K. Sobey, L. Brown, A. Silver, and K. Bennett. 2009b. Aerial distribution of ONRAB® baits as a tactic to control rabies in raccoons and striped skunks in Ontario, Canada. Journal of wildlife diseases 45:363-374.
- Rosatte, R., M. Ryckman, K. Ing, S. Proceviat, M. Allan, L. Bruce, D. Donovan, and J. C. Davies. 2010. Density, movements, and survival of raccoons in Ontario, Canada: implications for disease spread and management. Journal of Mammalogy 91:122-135.
- Sattler, A. C., R. A. Krogwold, T. E. Wittum, C. E. Rupprecht, T. P. Algeo, D. Slate, K. A. Smith, R. L. Hale, G. A. Nohrenberg, and C. D. Lovell. 2009. Influence of oral rabies vaccine bait density on rabies seroprevalence in wild raccoons. Vaccine 27:7187-7193.
- Schinner, J. R., and D. L. Cauley. 1974. The ecology of urban raccoons in Cincinnati, Ohio. Wildlife in an urbanizing environment. Planning and resource development series 28:125-130.
- Slate, D., R. B. Chipman, T. P. Algeo, S. A. Mills, K. M. Nelson, C. K. Croson, E. J. Dubovi, K. Vercauteren, R. W. Renshaw, and T. Atwood. 2014. Safety and immunogenicity of Ontario rabies vaccine bait (ONRAB) in the first US field trial in raccoons (Procyon lotor). Journal of wildlife diseases 50:582-595.
- Slate, D., B. D. Saidy, A. Simmons, K. M. Nelson, A. Davis, T. P. Algeo, S. A. Elmore, and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Rabies Management Implications Based on Raccoon Population Density Indexes. The Journal of Wildlife Management 84:877-890.
- Smyser, T. J., J. C. Beasley, Z. H. Olson, and O. E. Rhodes Jr. 2010. Use of Rhodamine B to reveal patterns of interspecific competition and bait acceptance in raccoons. The Journal of Wildlife Management 74:1405-1416.
- Trimarchi, C., R. Rudd, and M. Safford Jr. 1996. An in vitro virus neutralization test for rabies antibody. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland:193-199.
- USDA. 2017. Final Report of ONRAB Field Trials in the United States, 2011-2015. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, National Rabies Management Program, Concord, New Hampshire.

Tables

Table 3. Mean ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) bait density (per km²) in cells of varying development intensities (low, medium, high) in the Burlington, Vermont, USA area, 2015-2107. Minimum and maximum bait densities are in parentheses. Each development intensity had four cells and target bait density was 150 baits/km².

Year	Low	Medium	High		
2015	163 (18-394)	109 (45-260)	188 (73-386)		
2016	268 (147-431)	142 (0-317)	175 (86-318)		
2017	129 (85-205)	115 (49-184)	287 (164-484)		

Table 4. Total percentage of rabies virus neutralizing antibodies for raccoons (*Procyon lotor*) and striped skunks (*Mephitis mephitis*) sampled in cells with varying levels of human development before (pre) and after (post) oral rabies vaccination using ONRAB (Artemis Technologies, Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) in the Burlington, Vermont, USA area, 2015-2017. Total sample sizes across four sampling cells for each development class and cumulatively (in total columns and rows) are in parentheses.

Species	Development	2015 Pre	2015 Post	2016 Pre	2016 Post	2017 Pre	2017 Post	Total Pre	Total Post
Raccoons	Low	48.4 (31)	46.4 (28)	52.5 (40)	55.6 (27)	17.9 (56)	38.6 (44)	36.2 (127)	45.5 (99)
	Medium	50.0 (64)	36.0 (50)	41.2 (51)	46.3 (41)	19.3 (109)	20.0 (60)	33.0 (224)	32.5 (151)
	High	40.0 (55)	52.2 (46)	47.4 (38)	34.1 (41)	12.7 (79)	31.0 (42)	29.1 (172)	39.5 (129)
	Total	46.0 (150)	44.4 (124)	46.5 (129)	44.0 (109)	16.8 (244)	28.8 (146)	32.5 (523)	38.3 (379)
Skunks	Low	0.0(1)	38.9 (18)	20.0 (10)	41.7 (12)	8.3 (12)	0.0 (11)	13.0 (23)	29.3 (41)
	Medium	10.0 (10)	28.6 (7)	0.0 (4)	0.0 (2)	0.0 (3)	11.1 (9)	5.9 (17)	16.7 (18)
	High	14.8 (27)	30.8 (26)	0.0 (5)	n/a (0)	0.0 (3)	0.0 (4)	11.4 (35)	26.7 (30)
	Total	13.2 (38)	33.3 (51)	10.5 (19)	35.7 (14)	5.6 (18)	4.2 (24)	10.7 (75)	25.8 (89)

Figures



Figure 11. Study area where oral rabies vaccination using ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) at 150 baits/km² was evaluated in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area (black star on state map). A) ONRAB hand bait zone grids (double black lines) with National Land Cover Database habitat; darker shades of gray indicate higher development intensities, while lighter shades include water, wetlands, forest, and agriculture. Sampling cells were 1 km²: low (thicker black squares), medium (dashed

squares), and high development intensity (thinner black squares) in panel A. Panels B-D show the same hand bait grids and sampling cells (see legend) with ONRAB bait locations (black dots) for 2015 (B), 2016 (C), and 2017 (D).



Figure 12. Estimated raccoon rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence across human development classifications, based on National Land Cover Database habitats, associated with a 3-year oral rabies vaccination trial with ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) at 150 baits/km² in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area. Boxes represent quartiles, whiskers represent the 95% confidence interval, and dots represent outliers. Numbers denote sample sizes.



Development - LOW - MEDIUM - HIGH

Figure 13. Estimated raccoon rabies virus neutralizing antibody (RVNA) seroprevalence tends to decrease with estimated raccoon abundance in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area (2015-2017) based on the results of a linear model (A; $F_{1,34} = 5.941$, P = 0.020, $R^2 = 0.124$), yet increase with skunk captures based on the results of a linear model (B; $F_{1,34} = 28.4$, P < 0.001, $R^2 = 0.439$). Estimated raccoon RVNA seroprevalence in cells classified as low development tended to decrease with increasing opossum captures (C; $F_{1,10} = 5.828$, P = 0.036, $R^2 = 0.305$). This association was not present in cells classified as medium and high development.



Figure 14. Study cells with a higher proportion of juvenile raccoons tended to have lower estimated rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence than cells with a higher proportion of adults for an oral rabies vaccination trial with ONRAB (Artemis Technologies Inc., an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Ceva Sante Animale, S.A., Guelph, Ontario, Canada) at 150 baits/km² in the Burlington, Vermont, USA area, 2015-2017. Results are based on a linear regression after an influential outlier was removed ($F_{1,33} = 10.22$, P = 0.003, $R^2 = 0.213$).

COMPREHENSIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbas, A. E. 2009. A Kullback-Leibler view of linear and log-linear pools. Decision Analysis 6:25–37.
- Agosta, S. J., N. Janz, and D. R. Brooks. 2010. How specialists can be generalists: resolving the "parasite paradox" and implications for emerging infectious disease. Zoologia (Curitiba) 27:151–162.
- Allred, D. M., and D. E. Beck. 1966. Mites of Utah mammals. Brigham Young University Science Bulletin.
- Araujo, S. B. L., M. P. Braga, D. R. Brooks, S. J. Agosta, E. P. Hoberg, F. W. von Hartenthal, and W. A. Boeger. 2015. Understanding Host-Switching by Ecological Fitting. PLOS ONE 10:e0139225.
- Banks-Leite, C., R. Pardini, D. Boscolo, C. R. Cassano, T. Püttker, C. S. Barros, and J. Barlow. 2014. Assessing the utility of statistical adjustments for imperfect detection in tropical conservation science. Journal of Applied Ecology 51:849– 859.
- Banner, K. M., K. M. Irvine, and T. J. Rodhouse. 2020. The use of Bayesian priors in Ecology: The good, the bad and the not great. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 11:882–889.
- Benoit, D., D. A. Jackson, and M. S. Ridgway. 2018. Assessing the impacts of imperfect detection on estimates of diversity and community structure through multispecies occupancy modeling. Ecology and Evolution 8:4676–4684.
- Benton, A. H. 1983. An illustrated key to the fleas of the eastern United States. Marginal Media.
- Benton, A. H., and R. H. Cerwonka. 1960. Host Relationships of Some Eastern Siphonaptera. The American Midland Naturalist 63:383–391.
- Berentsen, A. R., M. R. Dunbar, C. E. Fitzpatrick, and W. D. Walter. 2013. Spatial ecology of urban raccoons in northeastern Ohio: implications for oral rabies vaccination.
- Berger, J. O., and D. A. Berry. 1988. Statistical Analysis and the Illusion of Objectivity. American Scientist 76:159–165.
- Berkhout, B. W., M. K. Borregaard, R. Brandl, M. Brändle, D. M. Dehling, C. Hof, R. Poulin, and D. W. Thieltges. 2020. Host assemblage and environment shape βdiversity of freshwater parasites across diverse taxa at a continental scale. Global Ecology and Biogeography 29:38–49.

- Bigler, L. L., J. B. Ochwat, S. C. Scarpitta, B. W. Matthews, R. J. Rudd, and D. H. Lein. 2021a. Oral rabies vaccination strategies toward raccoon (procyon lotor) rabies elimination on suburban long island, new york, usa. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 57:132–144.
- Bigler, L. L., J. B. Ochwat, S. C. Scarpitta, B. W. Matthews, R. J. Rudd, and D. H. Lein. 2021b. Virus neutralizing antibody following oral rabies vaccination of raccoons (Procyon lotor) on suburban Long Island, New York, USA. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 57:145–156.
- Bjorklund, B. M., B. S. Haley, R. J. Bevilacqua, M. D. Chandler, A. G. Duffiney, K. W. Von Hone, D. Slate, R. B. Chipman, A. Martin, and T. P. Algeo. 2017. Progress towards bait station integration into oral rabies vaccination programs in the United States: Field trials in Massachusetts and Florida. Tropical Medicine and Infectious Disease 2:40.
- Bolnick, D. I., E. J. Resetarits, K. Ballare, Y. E. Stuart, and W. E. Stutz. 2020. Scaledependent effects of host patch traits on species composition in a stickleback parasite metacommunity. Ecology 101:e03181.
- Boulanger, J. R., L. L. Bigler, P. D. Curtis, D. H. Lein, and A. J. Lembo Jr. 2008. Evaluation of an oral vaccination program to control raccoon rabies in a suburbanized landscape. Human-Wildlife Conflicts 2:212–224.
- Bozek, C. K., S. Prange, and S. D. Gehrt. 2007. The influence of anthropogenic resources on multi-scale habitat selection by raccoons. Urban Ecosystems 10:413–425.
- Broms, K. M., M. B. Hooten, D. S. Johnson, R. Altwegg, and L. L. Conquest. 2016. Dynamic occupancy models for explicit colonization processes. Ecology 97:194– 204.
- Brooks, D. R. 1979. Testing the Context and Extent of Host-Parasite Coevolution. Systematic Zoology 28:299–307.
- Brooks, D. R., and E. P. Hoberg. 2007. How will global climate change affect parasitehost assemblages? Trends in Parasitology 23:571–574.
- Brown, A. M., K. A. Speer, T. Teixeira, E. Clare, N. B. Simmons, J. A. Balbuena, C. W. Dick, K. Dittmar, and S. Perkins. 2022. Phylogenetic and Ecological Trends in Specialization: Disentangling the Drivers of Ectoparasite Host Specificity.
- Burnham, K. P., and W. S. Overton. 1979. Robust Estimation of Population Size When Capture Probabilities Vary Among Animals. Ecology 60:927–936.

- Cabeza, M., M. B. Araújo, R. J. Wilson, C. D. Thomas, M. J. R. Cowley, and A. Moilanen. 2004. Combining probabilities of occurrence with spatial reserve design. Journal of Applied Ecology 41:252–262.
- Cardon, M., G. Loot, G. Grenouillet, and S. Blanchet. 2011. Host characteristics and environmental factors differentially drive the burden and pathogenicity of an ectoparasite: a multilevel causal analysis. Journal of Animal Ecology 80:657–667.
- de Carvalho, L. M., D. A. M. Villela, F. C. Coelho, and L. S. Bastos. 2015. Choosing the weights for the logarithmic pooling of probability distributions. arXiv:1502.04206 [stat].
- Catts, E. P. 1982. Biology of New World Bot Flies: Cuterebridae. Annual Review of Entomology 27:313–338.
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention and Prevention. 2018. Protocol for postmortem diagnosis of rabies in animals by direct fluorescent antibody testing. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: Atlanta, GA, USA.
- Chao, A. 1984. Nonparametric Estimation of the Number of Classes in a Population. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics 11:265–270.
- Chapman, J. A., J. G. Hockman, and M. M. Ojeda C. 1980. Sylvilagus floridanus. Mammalian Species:1–8.
- Coley, K. 2015. Identification Guide to Larval Stages of Ticks of Medical Importance in the USA. Georgia Southern University.
- Cunningham, R. B., and D. B. Lindenmayer. 2005. Modeling Count Data of Rare Species: Some Statistical Issues. Ecology 86:1135–1142.
- Davis, A. J., J. D. Kirby, R. B. Chipman, K. M. Nelson, T. Xifara, C. T. Webb, R. Wallace, A. T. Gilbert, and K. M. Pepin. 2019a. Not all surveillance data are created equal—A multi-method dynamic occupancy approach to determine rabies elimination from wildlife. Journal of Applied Ecology 56:2551–2561.
- Davis, A. J., K. M. Nelson, J. D. Kirby, R. Wallace, X. Ma, K. M. Pepin, R. B. Chipman, and A. T. Gilbert. 2019b. Rabies Surveillance Identifies Potential Risk Corridors and Enables Management Evaluation. Viruses 11:1006.
- DeGraaf, R. M., and M. Yamasaki. 2001. New England Wildlife: Habitat, Natural History, and Distribution. UPNE.
- Devarajan, K., T. L. Morelli, and S. Tenan. 2020. Multi-species occupancy models: review, roadmap, and recommendations. Ecography 43:1612–1624.

- Do, R., J. Shonfield, and A. G. McAdam. 2013. Reducing accidental shrew mortality associated with small-mammal livetrapping II: a field experiment with bait supplementation. Journal of Mammalogy 94:754–760.
- Dorazio, R. M., N. J. Gotelli, and A. M. Ellison. 2011. Modern methods of estimating biodiversity from presence-absence surveys. Biodiversity loss in a changing planet:277–302.
- Dorazio, R. M., and J. A. Royle. 2005. Estimating Size and Composition of Biological Communities by Modeling the Occurrence of Species. Journal of the American Statistical Association 100:389–398.
- Dowling, A. P. G. 2006. Mesostigmatid mites as parasites of small mammals: Systematics, ecology, and the evolution of parasitic associations. Pages 103–117 *in* S. Morand, B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin, editors. Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, Tokyo.
- Dunn, O. J. 1961. Multiple Comparisons among Means. Journal of the American Statistical Association 56:52–64.
- Ellison, A. M. 2004. Bayesian inference in ecology. Ecology Letters 7:509–520.
- Ellison, A. M., and N. J. Gotelli. 2021. Scaling in ecology with a model system. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Elmore, S. A., R. B. Chipman, D. Slate, K. P. Huyvaert, K. C. VerCauteren, and A. T. Gilbert. 2017. Management and modeling approaches for controlling raccoon rabies: The road to elimination. PLoS neglected tropical diseases 11:e0005249.
- Engelbrecht, A., S. Matthee, N. du Toit, and C. A. Matthee. 2016. Limited dispersal in an ectoparasitic mite, Laelaps giganteus, contributes to significant phylogeographic congruence with the rodent host, Rhabdomys. Molecular Ecology 25:1006–1021.
- ESRI. 2011. ArcGIS Desktop: Release 10. Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, CA.
- Fagan, W. F., P. J. Unmack, C. Burgess, and W. L. Minckley. 2002. Rarity, Fragmentation, and Extinction Risk in Desert Fishes. Ecology 83:3250–3256.
- Ferrier, S., and A. Guisan. 2006. Spatial modelling of biodiversity at the community level. Journal of Applied Ecology 43:393–404.
- French, S. 1983. Group consensus probability distributions: A critical survey. University of Manchester. Department of Decision Theory.

- Gallagher, M. R., J. K. Kreye, E. T. Machtinger, A. Everland, N. Schmidt, and N. S. Skowronski. 2022. Can restoration of fire-dependent ecosystems reduce ticks and tick-borne disease prevalence in the eastern United States? Ecological Applications 32:e2637.
- Gaston, K., and W. E. Kunin. 1997. Concluding comments. Page *in* K. Gaston and W. E. Kunin, editors. The Biology of Rarity. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.
- Gelman, A., B. Goodrich, J. Gabry, and A. Vehtari. 2019. R-squared for Bayesian Regression Models. The American Statistician 73:307–309.
- Gelman, A., J. Hwang, and A. Vehtari. 2013. Understanding predictive information criteria for Bayesian models. arXiv:1307.5928 [stat].
- Gelman, A., X.-L. Meng, and H. Stern. 1996. Posterior predictive assessment of model fitness via realized discrepancies. Statistica Sinica 6:733–760.
- Gelman, A., and I. Pardoe. 2006. Bayesian Measures of Explained Variance and Pooling in Multilevel (Hierarchical) Models. Technometrics 48:241–251.
- Gelman, A., and D. B. Rubin. 1992. Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. Statistical Science 7:457–511.
- Genest, C., S. Weerahandi, and J. V. Zidek. 1984. Aggregating opinions through logarithmic pooling. Theory and Decision 17:61–70.
- Genet, K. S., and L. G. Sargent. 2003. Evaluation of methods and data quality from a volunteer-based amphibian call survey. Wildlife Society Bulletin:703–714.
- Gilbert, A., S. Johnson, N. Walker, C. Wickham, A. Beath, and K. VerCauteren. 2018a. Efficacy of Ontario Rabies Vaccine Baits (ONRAB) against rabies infection in raccoons. Vaccine 36:4919–4926.
- Gilbert, A. T. 2018. Rabies virus vectors and reservoir species. Revue scientifique et technique (International Office of Epizootics) 37:371–384.
- Gilbert, A. T., and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Rabies control in wild carnivores. Pages 605–654 Rabies. Elsevier.
- Gilbert, A. T., S. R. Johnson, K. M. Nelson, R. B. Chipman, K. C. VerCauteren, T. P. Algeo, C. E. Rupprecht, and D. Slate. 2018b. Field trials of Ontario rabies vaccine bait in the northeastern USA, 2012–14. Journal of wildlife diseases 54:790–801.
- Ginsberg, H. S., M. Albert, L. Acevedo, M. C. Dyer, I. M. Arsnoe, J. I. Tsao, T. N. Mather, and R. A. LeBrun. 2017. Environmental Factors Affecting Survival of

Immature Ixodes scapularis and Implications for Geographical Distribution of Lyme Disease: The Climate/Behavior Hypothesis. PLOS ONE 12:e0168723.

- Gotelli, N. J. 2001. Research frontiers in null model analysis. Global Ecology and Biogeography 10:337–343.
- Greenspan, E., C. K. Nielsen, and K. W. Cassel. 2018. Potential distribution of coyotes (Canis latrans), Virginia opossums (Didelphis virginiana), striped skunks (Mephitis mephitis), and raccoons (Procyon lotor) in the Chicago Metropolitan Area. Urban Ecosystems 21:983–997.
- Gu, W., and R. K. Swihart. 2004. Absent or undetected? Effects of non-detection of species occurrence on wildlife–habitat models. Biological Conservation 116:195– 203.
- Guillera-Arroita, G., M. Kéry, and J. J. Lahoz-Monfort. 2019. Inferring species richness using multispecies occupancy modeling: Estimation performance and interpretation. Ecology and Evolution 9:780–792.
- Hafner, M. S., and S. A. Nadler. 1988. Phylogenetic trees support the coevolution of parasites and their hosts. Nature 332:258–259.
- Hall, E. R. 1962. Collecting and preparing study specimens of vertebrates.
- Homer, C., J. Dewitz, L. Yang, S. Jin, P. Danielson, G. Xian, J. Coulston, N. Herold, J. Wickham, and K. Megown. 2015. Completion of the 2011 National Land Cover Database for the conterminous United States–representing a decade of land cover change information. Photogrammetric Engineering & Remote Sensing 81:345– 354.
- Hooten, M. B., and N. T. Hobbs. 2015. A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 85:3–28.
- Horman, J. T., K. V. Shannon, E. M. Simpson, T. M. Burja, R. H. Fey, J. J. Smith, and F. B. Phillips. 2012. Control of terrestrial animal rabies in Anne Arundel County, Maryland, after oral vaccination of raccoons (1998–2007). Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 241:725–734.
- Iknayan, K. J., M. W. Tingley, B. J. Furnas, and S. R. Beissinger. 2014. Detecting diversity: emerging methods to estimate species diversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29:97–106.
- Johnson, P. T. J., C. L. Wood, M. B. Joseph, D. L. Preston, S. E. Haas, and Y. P. Springer. 2016. Habitat heterogeneity drives the host-diversity-begets-parasitediversity relationship: evidence from experimental and field studies. Ecology Letters 19:752–761.

- Johnson, S. R., D. Slate, K. M. Nelson, A. J. Davis, S. A. Mills, J. T. Forbes, K. C. VerCauteren, A. T. Gilbert, and R. B. Chipman. 2021. Serological Responses of Raccoons and Striped Skunks to Ontario Rabies Vaccine Bait in West Virginia during 2012–2016. Viruses 13:157.
- Johnston, D. H., D. G. Joachim, P. Bachmann, K. V. Kardong, R. E. A. Stewart, L. M. Dix, M. A. Strickland, and I. D. Watt. 1987. Aging furbearers using tooth structure and biomarkers. Nowak, M.; Baker, JA; Obbard, ME:228–243.
- Kamiya, T., K. O'Dwyer, S. Nakagawa, and R. Poulin. 2014a. Host diversity drives parasite diversity: meta-analytical insights into patterns and causal mechanisms. Ecography 37:689–697.
- Kamiya, T., K. O'Dwyer, S. Nakagawa, and R. Poulin. 2014b. What determines species richness of parasitic organisms? A meta-analysis across animal, plant and fungal hosts. Biological Reviews 89:123–134.
- Keirans, J. E., and T. R. Litwak. 1989. Pictorial Key to the Adults of Hard Ticks, Family Ixodidae (Ixodida: Ixodoidea), East of the Mississippi River. Journal of Medical Entomology 26:435–448.
- Kellner, K. F., and R. K. Swihart. 2014. Accounting for Imperfect Detection in Ecology: A Quantitative Review. PLOS ONE 9:e111436.
- Kery, M., and J. A. Royle. 2015a. Modeling abundance using multinomial N-mixture models. Pages 313–392 Applied hierarchical modeling in ecology: Analysis of distribution, abundance, and species richness in R and BUGS. Elsevier.
- Kery, M., and J. A. Royle. 2015b. Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology: Analysis of distribution, abundance and species richness in R and BUGS: Volume 1:Prelude and Static Models. Academic Press.
- Kéry, M., and J. A. Royle. 2020. Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology: Analysis of Distribution, Abundance and Species Richness in R and BUGS: Volume 2: Dynamic and Advanced Models. Academic Press.
- Kéry, M., and M. Schaub. 2011. Bayesian Population Analysis using WinBUGS: A Hierarchical Perspective. Academic Press.
- Kim, K. C. 2006. Blood-sucking lice (Anoplura) of small mammals: True parasites.
 Pages 141–160 *in* S. Morand, B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin, editors.
 Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management.
 Springer Japan, Tokyo.
- Klassen, G. J. 1992. Coevolution: A History of the Macroevolutionary Approach to Studying Host-Parasite Associations. The Journal of Parasitology 78:573–587.

- Kocan, K. M., J. de la Fuente, and L. A. Coburn. 2015. Insights into the development of Ixodes scapularis: a resource for research on a medically important tick species. Parasites & Vectors 8:592.
- Krantz, G. W., and D. E. Walter, editors. 2009. A Manual of Acarology: Third Edition. 3 edition. Texas Tech University Press, Lubbock, Tex.
- Krasnov, B., I. Khokhlova, and G. Shenbrot. 2002. The Effect of Host Density on Ectoparasite Distribution: An Example of a Rodent Parasitized by Fleas. Ecology 83:164–175.
- Krasnov, B. R., F. Bordes, I. S. Khokhlova, and S. Morand. 2012. Gender-biased parasitism in small mammals: patterns, mechanisms, consequences 76:1–13.
- Krasnov, B. R., D. Mouillot, G. I. Shenbrot, I. S. Khokhlova, and R. Poulin. 2011a. Betaspecificity: The turnover of host species in space and another way to measure host specificity. International Journal for Parasitology 41:33–41.
- Krasnov, B. R., G. I. Shenbrot, I. S. Khokhlova, M. Stanko, S. Morand, and D. Mouillot. 2015. Assembly rules of ectoparasite communities across scales: combining patterns of abiotic factors, host composition, geographic space, phylogeny and traits. Ecography 38:184–197.
- Krasnov, B. R., G. I. Shenbrot, E. M. Warburton, L. van der Mescht, E. N. Surkova, S. G. Medvedev, N. Pechnikova, N. Ermolova, B. K. Kotti, and I. S. Khokhlova. 2019. Species and site contributions to β -diversity in fleas parasitic on the Palearctic small mammals: ecology, geography and host species composition matter the most. Parasitology 146:653–661.
- Krasnov, B. R., M. Stanko, I. S. Khokhlova, G. I. Shenbrot, S. Morand, N. P. Korallo-Vinarskaya, and M. V. Vinarski. 2011b. Nestedness and β-diversity in ectoparasite assemblages of small mammalian hosts: effects of parasite affinity, host biology and scale. Oikos 120:630–639.
- Kreeger, T. J. 1999. Vetbaset® 3.1. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 35:628–629.
- Kruskal, W. H., and W. A. Wallis. 1952. Use of Ranks in One-Criterion Variance Analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association 47:583–621.
- Kunin, W. E., and K. J. Gaston. 1993. The biology of rarity: patterns, causes and consequences. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 8:298–301.
- Lareschi, M., and B. R. Krasnov. 2010. Determinants of ectoparasite assemblage structure on rodent hosts from South American marshlands: the effect of host species, locality and season. Medical and Veterinary Entomology 24:284–292.

- Leitão, R. P., J. Zuanon, S. Villéger, S. E. Williams, C. Baraloto, C. Fortunel, F. P. Mendonça, and D. Mouillot. 2016. Rare species contribute disproportionately to the functional structure of species assemblages. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283:20160084.
- Lele, S. R., and B. Dennis. 2009. Bayesian Methods for Hierarchical Models: Are Ecologists Making a Faustian Bargain? Ecological Applications 19:581–584.
- Lemoine, N. P. 2019. Moving beyond noninformative priors: why and how to choose weakly informative priors in Bayesian analyses. Oikos 128:912–928.
- Lennon, J. J., P. Koleff, J. J. D. Greenwood, and K. J. Gaston. 2004. Contribution of rarity and commonness to patterns of species richness. Ecology Letters 7:81–87.
- Levi, T., F. Keesing, K. Oggenfuss, and R. S. Ostfeld. 2015. Accelerated phenology of blacklegged ticks under climate warming. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 370:20130556.
- Levin, S. A. 1992. The Problem of Pattern and Scale in Ecology: The Robert H. MacArthur Award Lecture. Ecology 73:1943–1967.
- Lewis, R. E. 2000. A taxonomic review of the North American genus Orchopeas Jordan, 1933 (Siphonaptera: Ceratophyllidae: Ceratophyllinae). Journal of Vector Ecology:26.
- Lewis, R. E. 2009. The north american fleas of the genus Megabothris, Jordan, 1933 (Siphonaptera: Ceratophyllidae). Annals of Carnegie Museum 77:431–450.
- Link, W. A., and J. R. Sauer. 1996. Extremes in Ecology: Avoiding the Misleading Effects of Sampling Variation in Summary Analyses. Ecology 77:1633–1640.
- Link, W. A., J. Yoshizaki, L. L. Bailey, and K. H. Pollock. 2010. Uncovering a Latent Multinomial: Analysis of Mark–Recapture Data with Misidentification. Biometrics 66:178–185.
- Linske, M. A., K. C. Stafford, S. C. Williams, C. B. Lubelczyk, M. Welch, and E. F. Henderson. 2019. Impacts of Deciduous Leaf Litter and Snow Presence on Nymphal Ixodes scapularis (Acari: Ixodidae) Overwintering Survival in Coastal New England, USA. Insects 10:227.
- Low Choy, S., R. O'Leary, and K. Mengersen. 2009. Elicitation by design in ecology: using expert opinion to inform priors for Bayesian statistical models. Ecology 90:265–277.

- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, J. E. Hines, M. G. Knutson, and A. B. Franklin. 2003. Estimating site occupancy, colonization, and local extinction when a species is detected imperfectly. Ecology 84:2200–2207.
- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, G. B. Lachman, S. Droege, J. A. Royle, and C. A. Langtimm. 2002. Estimating Site Occupancy Rates When Detection Probabilities Are Less Than One. Ecology 83:2248–2255.
- MacKenzie, D. I., J. D. Nichols, N. Sutton, K. Kawanishi, and L. L. Bailey. 2005. Improving Inferences in Population Studies of Rare Species That Are Detected Imperfectly. Ecology 86:1101–1113.
- Mainguy, J., E. E. Rees, P. Canac-Marquis, D. Bélanger, C. Fehlner-Gardiner, G. Séguin, S. Larrat, S. Lair, F. Landry, and N. Côté. 2012. ORAL RABIES
 VACCINATION OF RACCOONS AND STRIPED SKUNKS WITH ONRAB [®] BAITS: MULTIPLE FACTORS INFLUENCE FIELD IMMUNOGENICITY. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 48:979–990.
- Mao, C. X., and R. K. Colwell. 2005. Estimation of Species Richness: Mixture Models, the Role of Rare Species, and Inferential Challenges. Ecology 86:1143–1153.
- Marshall, A. G. 1981. The ecology of ectoparasitic insects. Academic Press Inc.(London) Ltd.
- McCarthy, M. A. 2007. Bayesian Methods for Ecology. Cambridge University Press.
- McCarthy, M. A., and P. Masters. 2005. Profiting from prior information in Bayesian analyses of ecological data. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:1012–1019.
- McCarthy, M. A., J. L. Moore, W. K. Morris, K. M. Parris, G. E. Garrard, P. A. Vesk, L. Rumpff, K. M. Giljohann, J. S. Camac, S. S. Bau, T. Friend, B. Harrison, and B. Yue. 2013. The influence of abundance on detectability. Oikos 122:717–726.
- McClintock, B. T., L. L. Bailey, K. H. Pollock, and T. R. Simons. 2010. Unmodeled observation error induces bias when inferring patterns and dynamics of species occurrence via aural detections. Ecology 91:2446–2454.
- McClure, K. M., G. Bastille-Rousseau, A. J. Davis, C. A. Stengel, K. M. Nelson, R. B. Chipman, G. Wittemyer, Z. Abdo, A. T. Gilbert, and K. M. Pepin. 2022. Accounting for animal movement improves vaccination strategies against wildlife disease in heterogeneous landscapes. Ecological Applications 32:e2568.
- McElreath, R. 2015. Statistical Rethinking: A Bayesian Course With Examples in R and Stan. Taylor & Francis Group.

McGill, B. J. 2010. Matters of Scale. Science 328:575-576.

- McKinney, M. L. 2002. Urbanization, Biodiversity, and ConservationThe impacts of urbanization on native species are poorly studied, but educating a highly urbanized human population about these impacts can greatly improve species conservation in all ecosystems. Bioscience 52:883–890.
- McMahon, S. M., and J. M. Diez. 2007. Scales of association: hierarchical linear models and the measurement of ecological systems. Ecology Letters 10:437–452.
- Medvedev, S. G., and B. R. Krasnov. 2006. Fleas: Permanent satellites of small mammals. Pages 161–177 *in* S. Morand, B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin, editors. Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, Tokyo.
- van der Mescht, L., P. C. le Roux, C. A. Matthee, M. J. Raath, and S. Matthee. 2016. The influence of life history characteristics on flea (Siphonaptera) species distribution models. Parasites & Vectors 9:178.
- Morand, S., B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin, editors. 2007. Micromammals and macroparasites: from evolutionary ecology to management. Springer Science & Business Media, Tokyo, Japan.
- Myung, I. J., S. Ramamoorti, and A. D. Bailey. 1996. Maximum Entropy Aggregation of Expert Predictions. Management Science 42:1420–1436.
- New, L. B. M., and C. M. Handel. 2015. Evaluating species richness: Biased ecological inference results from spatial heterogeneity in detection probabilities. Ecological Applications 25:1669–1680.
- Nichols, J. D., L. L. Bailey, A. F. O. Jr, N. W. Talancy, E. H. C. Grant, A. T. Gilbert, E. M. Annand, T. P. Husband, and J. E. Hines. 2008. Multi-scale occupancy estimation and modelling using multiple detection methods. Journal of Applied Ecology 45:1321–1329.
- Northrup, J. M., and B. D. Gerber. 2018. A comment on priors for Bayesian occupancy models. PLOS ONE 13:e0192819.
- Olson, C. A., K. D. Mitchell, and P. A. Werner. 2000. Bait ingestion by free-ranging raccoons and nontarget species in an oral rabies vaccine field trial in Florida. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 36:734–743.
- Olson, C. A., and P. A. Werner. 1999. Oral rabies vaccine contact by raccoons and nontarget species in a field trial in Florida. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 35:687–695.

- Ovadia, O., and O. J. Schmitz. 2002. Linking individuals with ecosystems: Experimentally identifying the relevant organizational scale for predicting trophic abundances. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99:12927–12931.
- Pedersen, A. B., S. Altizer, M. Poss, A. A. Cunningham, and C. L. Nunn. 2005. Patterns of host specificity and transmission among parasites of wild primates. International journal for parasitology 35:647–657.
- Pedersen, K., A. T. Gilbert, K. M. Nelson, D. P. Morgan, A. J. Davis, K. C. VerCauteren, D. Slate, and R. B. Chipman. 2019a. Raccoon (procyon lotor) response to ontario rabies vaccine baits (onrab) in st. Lawrence county, new york, USA. Journal of wildlife diseases 55:645–653.
- Pedersen, K., A. T. Gilbert, E. S. Wilhelm, K. M. Nelson, A. J. Davis, J. D. Kirby, K. C. VerCauteren, S. R. Johnson, and R. B. Chipman. 2019b. Effect of high-density oral rabies vaccine baiting on rabies virus neutralizing antibody response in raccoons (Procyon lotor). Journal of wildlife diseases 55:399–409.
- Pieracci, E. G., J. A. Brown, D. L. Bergman, A. Gilbert, R. M. Wallace, J. D. Blanton, A. Velasco-Villa, C. N. Morgan, S. Lindquist, and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Evaluation of species identification and rabies virus characterization among bat rabies cases in the United States. Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 256:77–84.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Poole, D., and A. E. Raftery. 2000. Inference for Deterministic Simulation Models: The Bayesian Melding Approach. Journal of the American Statistical Association 95:1244–1255.
- Poulin, R. 2007. Are there general laws in parasite ecology? Parasitology 134:763–776.
- Poulin, R., B. R. Krasnov, and S. Morand. 2006. Patterns of host specificity in parasites exploiting small mammals. Pages 233–256 in S. Morand, B. R. Krasnov, and R. Poulin, editors. Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, Tokyo.
- Poulin, R., and D. Mouillot. 2003. Parasite specialization from a phylogenetic perspective: a new index of host specificity. Parasitology 126:473–480.
- Prange, S., S. D. Gehrt, and E. P. Wiggers. 2003. Demographic factors contributing to high raccoon densities in urban landscapes. The Journal of wildlife management:324–333.
- Prange, S., S. D. Gehrt, and E. P. Wiggers. 2004. Influences of anthropogenic resources on raccoon (Procyon lotor) movements and spatial distribution. Journal of Mammalogy 85:483–490.
- R Core Team. 2020. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- R Core Team. 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Randa, L. A., and J. A. Yunger. 2006. Carnivore occurrence along an urban-rural gradient: a landscape-level analysis. Journal of Mammalogy 87:1154–1164.
- Rees, E. E., B. A. Pond, R. R. Tinline, and D. Bélanger. 2013. Modelling the effect of landscape heterogeneity on the efficacy of vaccination for wildlife infectious disease control. Journal of Applied Ecology 50:881–891.
- Reynolds, J. J., B. T. Hirsch, S. D. Gehrt, and M. E. Craft. 2015. Raccoon contact networks predict seasonal susceptibility to rabies outbreaks and limitations of vaccination. Journal of Animal Ecology 84:1720–1731.
- Riley, S. P., J. Hadidian, and D. A. Manski. 1998. Population density, survival, and rabies in raccoons in an urban national park. Canadian Journal of Zoology 76:1153– 1164.
- Rosatte, R. C., D. Donovan, M. Allan, L. Bruce, T. Buchanan, K. Sobey, B. Stevenson, M. Gibson, T. MacDonald, and M. Whalen. 2009a. The control of raccoon rabies in Ontario Canada: proactive and reactive tactics, 1994–2007. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 45:772–784.
- Rosatte, R. C., D. Donovan, J. C. Davies, M. Allan, P. Bachmann, B. Stevenson, K. Sobey, L. Brown, A. Silver, K. Bennett, T. Buchanan, L. Bruce, M. Gibson, A. Beresford, A. Beath, C. Fehlner-Gardiner, and K. Lawson. 2009b. AERIAL DISTRIBUTION OF ONRAB® BAITS AS A TACTIC TO CONTROL RABIES IN RACCOONS AND STRIPED SKUNKS IN ONTARIO, CANADA. Journal of Wildlife Diseases 45:363–374.
- Rosatte, R., M. Ryckman, K. Ing, S. Proceviat, M. Allan, L. Bruce, D. Donovan, and J. C. Davies. 2010. Density, movements, and survival of raccoons in Ontario, Canada: implications for disease spread and management. Journal of Mammalogy 91:122–135.
- Routledge, R. D. 1977. On Whittaker's Components of Diversity. Ecology 58:1120– 1127.

- Royle, J. A., and R. M. Dorazio. 2012. Parameter-expanded data augmentation for Bayesian analysis of capture–recapture models. Journal of Ornithology 152:521– 537.
- Royle, J. A., R. M. Dorazio, and W. A. Link. 2007. Analysis of multinomial models with unknown index using data augmentation. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 16:19.
- Royle, J. A., and M. Kéry. 2007. A Bayesian state-space formulation of dynamic occupancy models. Ecology 88:1813–1823.
- Royle, J. A., and W. A. Link. 2006. Generalized Site Occupancy Models Allowing for False Positive and False Negative Errors. Ecology 87:835–841.
- Rufo, M. J., J. Martin, and C. J. Pérez. 2012a. Log-linear pool to combine prior distributions: A suggestion for a calibration-based approach. Bayesian Analysis 7:411–438.
- Rufo, M. J., C. J. Pérez, and J. Martin. 2012b. A Bayesian approach to aggregate experts' initial information. Electronic Journal of Statistics 6:2362–2382.
- Rynkiewicz, E. C., A. Fenton, and A. B. Pedersen. 2019. Linking community assembly and structure across scales in a wild mouse parasite community. Ecology and Evolution 9:13752–13763.
- Sattler, A. C., R. A. Krogwold, T. E. Wittum, C. E. Rupprecht, T. P. Algeo, D. Slate, K. A. Smith, R. L. Hale, G. A. Nohrenberg, and C. D. Lovell. 2009. Influence of oral rabies vaccine bait density on rabies seroprevalence in wild raccoons. Vaccine 27:7187–7193.
- Schinner, J. R., and D. L. Cauley. 1974. The ecology of urban raccoons in Cincinnati, Ohio. Wildlife in an urbanizing environment. Planning and resource development series 28:125–130.
- Schneider, D. C. 2001. The Rise of the Concept of Scale in Ecology: The concept of scale is evolving from verbal expression to quantitative expression. BioScience 51:545–553.
- Sikes, R. S. and the Animal Care and Use Committee of the American Society of Mammalogists. 2016. 2016 Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research and education: Journal of Mammalogy 97:663–688.
- Simons, T. R., M. W. Alldredge, K. H. Pollock, and J. M. Wettroth. 2007. Experimental analysis of the auditory detection process on avian point counts. The Auk 124:986–999.

- Slate, D., R. B. Chipman, T. P. Algeo, S. A. Mills, K. M. Nelson, C. K. Croson, E. J. Dubovi, K. Vercauteren, R. W. Renshaw, T. Atwood, S. Johnson, and C. E. Rupprecht. 2014. SAFETY AND IMMUNOGENICITY OF ONTARIO RABIES VACCINE BAIT (ONRAB) IN THE FIRST US FIELD TRIAL IN RACCOONS (*PROCYON LOTOR*). Journal of Wildlife Diseases 50:582–595.
- Slate, D., B. D. Saidy, A. Simmons, K. M. Nelson, A. Davis, T. P. Algeo, S. A. Elmore, and R. B. Chipman. 2020. Rabies Management Implications Based on Raccoon Population Density Indexes. The Journal of Wildlife Management 84:877–890.
- Smyser, T. J., J. C. Beasley, Z. H. Olson, and O. E. Rhodes Jr. 2010. Use of Rhodamine B to reveal patterns of interspecific competition and bait acceptance in raccoons. The Journal of wildlife management 74:1405–1416.
- Sponchiado, J., G. L. Melo, T. F. Martins, F. S. Krawczak, F. C. Jacinavicius, M. B. Labruna, D. M. Barros-Battesti, and N. C. Cáceres. 2017. Ectoparasites of smallmammals: determinants of community structure in South American savannah. Parasitology 144:475–483.
- Su, Y.-S., and M. Yajima. 2015. R2jags: Using R to run "JAGS."
- Szewczyk, T. M., and C. M. McCain. 2019. Disentangling elevational richness: a multiscale hierarchical Bayesian occupancy model of Colorado ant communities. Ecography 42:977–988.
- Tjur, T. 2009. Coefficients of Determination in Logistic Regression Models—A New Proposal: The Coefficient of Discrimination. The American Statistician 63:366–372.
- Toit, N. du, B. J. van Vuuren, S. Matthee, and C. A. Matthee. 2013. Biogeography and host-related factors trump parasite life history: limited congruence among the genetic structures of specific ectoparasitic lice and their rodent hosts. Molecular Ecology 22:5185–5204.
- Trimarchi, C. V., R. D. Rudd, and M. Safford Jr. 1996. An in vitro virus neutralization test for rabies antibody. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland:193–199.
- Ulrich, W., and N. J. Gotelli. 2013. Pattern detection in null model analysis. Oikos 122:2–18.
- USDA. 2017. Final Report of ONRAB Field Trials in the United States, 2011-2015. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Wildlife Services, National Rabies Management Program, Concord, New Hampshire.

- Wade, P. R. 2000. Bayesian Methods in Conservation Biology. Conservation Biology 14:1308–1316.
- Watanabe, S. 2010. Asymptotic Equivalence of Bayes Cross Validation and Widely Applicable Information Criterion in Singular Learning Theory. Journal of Machine Learning Research 11:3571–3594.
- Weiher, E., D. Freund, T. Bunton, A. Stefanski, T. Lee, and S. Bentivenga. 2011. Advances, challenges and a developing synthesis of ecological community assembly theory. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 366:2403–2413.
- Wiens, J. A. 1969. An Approach to the Study of Ecological Relationships among Grassland Birds. Ornithological Monographs:1–93.
- Wiens, J. A. 1989. Spatial Scaling in Ecology. Functional Ecology 3:385.
- Wintle, B. A., M. A. McCARTHY, C. T. Volinsky, and R. P. Kavanagh. 2003. The Use of Bayesian Model Averaging to Better Represent Uncertainty in Ecological Models. Conservation Biology 17:1579–1590.
- Wright, W. J., K. M. Irvine, and T. J. Rodhouse. 2016. A goodness-of-fit test for occupancy models with correlated within-season revisits. Ecology and Evolution 6:5404–5415.
- Zuckerberg, B., D. N. Bonter, W. M. Hochachka, W. D. Koenig, A. T. DeGaetano, and J. L. Dickinson. 2011. Climatic constraints on wintering bird distributions are modified by urbanization and weather. Journal of Animal Ecology 80:403–413.



Appendix S1: Supplemental Figures for Chapter 1

Figure S1-1. a) Multi-species occupancy models (MSOMs) have a hierarchical structure in which species-level parameters (such as occupancy probability Ψ_i) are drawn from a community-level probability distribution, allowing the model to evaluate all species in the context of the group. b) Site-level occupancy probability Ψ_{ij} is a function of species occupancy probability Ψ_i and site-level covariates such as patch area. c) Repeated sampling at each site yields estimates of detection probability p_{ijk} from encounter histories.



Figure S1-2. Map of trapping locations in Vermont. Points have been jittered for clarity. Colors denote habitat type.



Figure S1-3. Distribution of estimated median regional species richness (N) of the simulated datasets. Solid lines denote the true regional richness of 22 species. Models with uninformative priors (a) tended to yield an expected richness of 21 species. Models with informative priors (b-d) yielded qualitatively similar estimates, as did models with strongly mis-specified priors (g). Models with weakly and moderately mis-specified priors tended to yield an expected richness of 20 species (e-f).



Figure S1-4. Distribution of estimated modal regional species richness (N) of the simulated datasets. Solid lines denote the true regional richness of 22 species. Models with uninformative priors (a) tended to yield an expected richness of 20 species. Models with strongly informative priors tended to yield an expected richness of 21 species (d). All other models were qualitatively similar to the model with uninformative priors.



Figure S1-5. Comparison of true site-level occupancy and estimated occupancy probability for simulated species 21, which was undetected during sampling. Models with mis-specified priors (e–g) tended to over-estimate site occupancy, as shown by the increase in y-values closer to -1.



Figure S1-6. Comparison of true site-level occupancy and estimated occupancy probability for simulated species 22, which was undetected during sampling. Models with strongly mis-specified priors (e–g) tended to over-estimate site occupancy, as shown by the increase in y-values closer to -1.



Figure S1-7. Results of the principal component analysis (PCA) on vegetation data. PC1 captured 82.4% of the variation in the data and captured a gradient from mostly grassy cover to mostly leaf litter. PC2 explained 10.5% of the variation in the data and captured a gradient from mostly grassy cover to a mix of forbs and bare ground.

Appendix S2: Tutorial for creating aggregated priors using R and JAGS

This appendix is a tutorial for using prior aggregation to include external sources of information in multi- species occupancy models (MSOMs). Running the code included in this tutorial requires the software JAGS, which can be downloaded <u>here</u>.

This tutorial does not include general information on Bayesian MSOMs or the use and selection of ecologically informed priors. For an introduction to Bayesian MSOMs, see Chapter 11 of *Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology: Analysis of Distribution, Abundance and Species Richness in R and BUGS* by Royle and Kéry (2015). For a guide to Bayesian model selection, see Hooten and Hobbs (2015). For a guide to Bayesian model checking, see Conn et al. (2018). For more information on developing ecologically informed priors, see Low Choy et al. (2009), Banner et al. (2020), and citations therein.

This tutorial requires the following packages:

```
library(R2jags)
library(boot)
library(abind)
library(tidyverse)
library(ggnewscale)
# Set seed for reproducibility:
set.seed(23)
```

Simulate the community

We will begin by simulating a community consisting of 10 species. We will assume that we surveyed this community by sampling 20 sites over a period of 4 surveys each. We will also simulate a covariate that is correlated with the occupancy rates of some species: half of the species in the community will respond negatively to the covariate, while the other half are not affected.

To simulate site-level occupancy, we will first draw species-level occupancy probabilities from a beta distribution: $\psi_i \sim Beta(\alpha = 2, \beta = 3)$. This distribution generates a wide range of occupancy probabilities (95% interval 0.067586 – 0.8058796), a situation in which data augmentation is known to work well. We will use a logit link function to account for covariate effects on site-level occupancy probability of each species. Finally, the true occupancy state for each species at each site will be the result of a Bernoulli trial with the site-level probability as the probability of success.

```
# Global variables
nspec <-10 # number of species
nsite <-20 # number of sites
nsurvey <-4 # surveys per site
Ks <- rep(nsurvey, nsite) # vector of surveys at each site
# Vector of covariate responses: half of species respond negatively
resp2cov <- c(rnorm(n =5,sd =0.25),
rnorm(n =5,mean =-3,sd =0.25))
resp2cov <- sample(resp2cov)
# Covariate values for sites
cov <- sort(rnorm(n =nsite))</pre>
```

Similarly to species-level occupancy probabilities, species-level detection probabilities will be drawn from a beta distribution $p_i Beta(\alpha = 2, \beta = 8)$. This will generate low-to-mid detection probabilities (95% interval 0.028145 – 0.4824965), another situation in which data augmentation performs well. Environmental or survey covariates that may influence detectability can be added using the logit link function;

however, for this example we will assume detectability does not vary across sites and

surveys.

```
# Get probs from a beta distribution
sim.occ <- rbeta(n =nspec,shape1 =2,shape2 =3)</pre>
# Write function to simulate true occupancy state
tru.mats <- function(spec=nspec,site=nsite,</pre>
                    alpha1=resp2cov) {
 #Get site-level psi to account for covariates
 alpha0 <- logit(sim.occ)</pre>
 #Create empty matrix to store occupancy probs
 logit.psi <- matrix(NA, nrow = spec, ncol = site)</pre>
  # Generate occupancy probs
 for(i in 1:spec) {
   logit.psi[i,] <-alpha0[i] + alpha1[i]*cov</pre>
 }
  # Transform
 psi <- plogis(logit.psi)</pre>
 # Generate true occupancy state
 nlist<-list()</pre>
 for(a in 1:spec) {
   nlist[[a]] <- rbinom(n =site, size =1, prob =psi[a,])</pre>
 }
 #Turn abundance vectors into abundance matrix
 ns<-do.call(rbind, nlist)</pre>
 return(ns)
}
# Get true occupancy states
tru <- tru.mats()</pre>
```

Simulated survey data will be the result of a Bernoulli trial with the species-level

detection probability as the probability of encountering that species at a given site during

```
a given survey.
```

~

```
# Generate mean detection probabilities from beta dist
mean.p <- rbeta(n =nspec, shape1 =2, shape2 =8)</pre>
mean.p <- sort(mean.p, decreasing =T)</pre>
# Generate detection histories
get.obs <- function(mat, specs) {</pre>
#Detection intercept and cov responses
beta0<-logit(mean.p) #put it on logit scale</pre>
#Logit link function
logit.p <- array(NA, dim = c(nsite, nsurvey, specs))</pre>
for(i in 1:specs) {
 for(j in 1:nsite) {
   for(k in 1:nsurvey) {
     logit.p[j,,i] <-beta0[i] # Add covariates here</pre>
   }
 }
p <- plogis(logit.p)</pre>
#Simulate observation data
L<-list()
for(b in 1:specs) {
 y<-matrix(NA, ncol =nsite, nrow =nsurvey)</pre>
 for(a in 1:nsurvey) {
   y[a,]<-rbinom(n =nsite, size =1, prob =p[,,b]*mat[,b] }</pre>
   L[[b]]<-t(y)
  }
  #Smash it into array
 obs<-array(as.numeric(unlist(L)),</pre>
                dim=c(nsite, nsurvey, specs))
 return(obs)
}
obs.data <- get.obs(mat =tru, specs =nspec)</pre>
# Look at observed occurrence
maxobs <- apply(obs.data, c(1,3), max)</pre>
```

By calculating the column sums, we can see that one species went undetected in the simulated survey:

colSums(maxobs) *# One species was not observed ##* [1] 4 4 1 5 2 7 2 0 1 1

To make the JAGS script easier to write and the figures more readable, the undetected species was moved to the last column in the observed data.

Define the informed prior

Next, we will define the informed species-level prior distribution for the undetected species. Although the priors can be defined in the main model text, writing them separately allows you to more easily to adjust the variance, relative weights, etc. of different prior combinations. Running models with different priors is recommended as a test for prior sensitivity.

Most Bayesian MSOMs use normally-distributed priors, but other distributions can be used. Code for aggregating non-normal distributions can be found in de Carvalho et al. (2015). We will define the mean of informed species-level prior using the true value of the simulated covariate. We know the true value of the covariate is:

```
# Get true covariate value
resp2cov[10]
## [1] -2.745199
```

We will round this value to -3 as the mean of the informed prior distribution. We will also assign a variance of 0.5 (standard deviation of approximately 0.7). This value is

somewhat arbitrary, but in general large standard deviations (> 2) are not recommended, as they can yield bimodal posterior distributions (Northrup and Gerber 2018). We will use the Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) sampler JAGS to analyze the model. JAGS is compatible with most operating systems and the language is similar to R. The package R2jags will allow us to call JAGS directly from R.

In order for JAGS to analyze the model, we have to write a text file to send to JAGS. Begin by writing a character object that defines the mean and variance of the informed prior distribution:

Next, define the relative weights of the community-level hyperprior and the informed species-level prior. The weight is a value between 0 and 1 that determines the relative contribution of each prior to the aggregated prior (weights of each prior must sum to 1). To assign weights, create a vector with the weight of the community-level prior as the first element and the species-level prior as the second:

```
priors <- paste(priors,
    "#Define prior weights: how much each distribution
    #contributes to the final aggregate
    #Hyperprior first, then informed
    weights <- c(0.5, 0.5) #these are equal weights")</pre>
```

Next, pool the distributions. For normal distributions, the pooled mean μ_{pooled} is:

$$\mu_{pooled} = \sum (w\mu) * v_{pooled}$$

where μ is a vector of raw means and v_{pooled} the pooled variance. The pooled variance

Vpooled is:

$$v_{pooled} = \frac{1}{\sum w}$$

The term **w** is defined as $\mathbf{w} = \alpha/\mathbf{v}$, where α is the vector of weights and **v** is a vector of raw variances.

Because **w** typically represents the regional occupancy of a species in MSOM notation, we will use the term 'lb' to calculate the pooled mean and variance. The terms 'a1.mean' and '1/tau.a1' are the mean and variance, respectively, of the community-level hyperprior, which we will define later.

```
priors <- paste(priors,
    "#Pool the distributions
    lb[1] <- weights[1]/(1/tau.al)
    #1/tau.a0 is the variation of
    hyperprior lb[2] <-
    weights[2]/inf.var
    pooled.var <- 1/sum(lb)
    pooled.mean <- sum(lb*c(a1.mean,inf.mean))
    *pooled.var")
```

Finally, we will use the pooled mean and variance of the aggregated prior above

when we define species-level priors:

Next, we write the full model script in the JAGS language:

```
# Function to create text file
write.model <- function(priors) {</pre>
 mod <- paste("</pre>
   model{
    # Define hyperprior distributions: intercepts
   omega \sim dunif(0,1)
   mean.a0 ~ dunif(0,1)
   a0.mean <- log(mean.a0)-log(1-mean.a0) tau.a0 ~ dgamma(0.1, 0.1)
   mean.al ~ dunif(0,1)
   al.mean \langle - \log(\text{mean.a0}) - \log(1 - \text{mean.a0}) tau.al \sim dgamma(0.1, 0.1)
   mean.b0 ~ dunif(0,1)
   b0.mean <- log(mean.b0)-log(1-mean.b0) tau.b0 ~ dgamma(0.1, 0.1)
   ", priors, "
      #Estimate occupancy of species i at point j for (j in 1:J){
       logit(psi[j,i]) <- a0[i] + a1[i]*cov[j]</pre>
            Z[j,i] ~ dbern(psi[j,i]*w[i])
            #Estimate detection of i at point j during survey k for(k
            in 1:K[j]){
            logit(p[j,k,i]) <-</pre>
            b0[i] obs[j,k,i] \sim dbern(p[j,k,i]*Z[j,i])
            }
    }
      #Estimate total richness by adding observed and
      unobserved species
      n0<-sum(w[spec])</pre>
      N<-(spec-1)+n0
    ...
   )
 writeLines(mod, "samplemod.txt")
}
```

Run model

Before running the model, we need to send some information to JAGS, including our

data, the parameters we want JAGS to return, and the initial values for the Markov

chains.

Finally, run the model in JAGS:

Creating Figures

We can check if prior aggregation worked by comparing the posterior distribution (i.e. the model result) to the aggregated prior, and the aggregated prior to its parent distributions. If prior aggregation was successful, the aggregated prior should be somewhere in between the informed species-level prior and the community-level hyperprior. The posterior distribution should resemble the aggregated prior more than the two parent distributions.

We will start by extracting the mean and standard deviation of each prior from the model. Note that model parameters are either variance or precision (tau); these need to be converted to standard deviation.

```
# Get values from aggregated prior
pooled.mean <- median(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$pooled.mean)
pooled.sd <- median(sqrt(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$pooled.var))
# Medians used because posterior is asymmetrical
# Create objects from informed values used in priors
inf.mean <--3
inf.sd <- sqrt(1/0.5)
# Pull community distribution priors from model
comm.mean <- median(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$a1.mean)
comm.sd <- median(sqrt(1/model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$tau.a1))
# These are symmetrical but using median for consistency
# Pull posteriors from model
post.mean <- mean(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$a1[,10])
post.sd <- sd(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$a1[,10])</pre>
```

```
We will compare the distributions using ggplot:
```

```
# Plot the distributions
ggplot()+
 stat function(fun =dnorm, n =1000,
             args = list(mean =pooled.mean, sd =pooled.sd),
             size =1, aes(linetype ="Aggregated", color ="Prior"))+
 stat function(fun =dnorm, n =1000,
             args = list(mean =inf.mean,sd =inf.sd),
             size =1, aes(linetype ="Informed", color ="Prior"))+
 stat function(fun =dnorm, n =1000,
             args = list(mean =comm.mean,sd =comm.sd),
             size =1, aes(linetype ="Community", color ="Prior"))+
 stat function(fun =dnorm, n =1000,
             args = list(mean =post.mean,sd =post.sd),
             size =1,
             aes(linetype ="Aggregated", color ="Posterior"))+
 xlim(c(-6,5)) +
 scale_linetype_manual(breaks = c("Aggregated","Informed","Community"),
             values = c(1,3,5), name ="Prior")+
 labs(y ="Density") +
 theme bw(base size =16) +
 theme (panel.grid = element blank(), axis.title.x = element blank())
```

Based on this figure (Figure S2-1), prior aggregation was successful. The

posterior distribution (red) is most similar to the aggregated prior (solid black line). Note that the posterior has been pulled slightly towards the center of the community-level prior (dashed black line): this is normal, and occurs as a result of modeling all species in the context of the community.



Figure S2-1: Comparison of the posterior distribution of the undetected species (red line) and the priors (black lines). The aggregated prior (solid black line) should fall somewhere in between the informed species-level prior (dotted black line) and uninformed community-level prior (dashed black line).

Next, we will evaluate whether the model successfully accounted for the

regional occurrence of the undetected species. First we will extract the posterior

```
# Extract regional species richness N from model
Ns <- as.vector(model$BUGSoutput$sims.list$N)
# Create table of counts for each estimate
Ns %>%
   table() %>%
   data.frame() %>%
   {. ->>ns.frame}
colnames(ns.frame) <- c("N_Species","Freq")
# Look at mean and median estimates
median(Ns)</pre>
```

distribution of the parameter N, or regional species richness, from the model. To

determine whether the model accounted for the missing species, you can use a measure of

centrality such as the median:

[1] 10

Or, more commonly, the expected value for the parameter (i.e. the peak of the

posterior probability distribution, Figure 2). For our simulated data, the expected value

and median estimates agree on a regional richness estimate of 10 species.



Figure 2: Posterior distribution of estimated regional species richness. The expected regional richness value, or the peak of the distribution, is 10 species, meaning the model successfully accounted for the undetected species.

To examine individual species' responses to the environmental covariate, we

begin by extracting the parameter from the JAGS object and adding labels denoting

```
species IDs:
```

```
# Extract covariate estimates from jags object
als <-model $BUGSoutput$sims.list$al
als <- as.data.frame(als)
# Create a vector of species names
specnames <- logical()
for(i in 1:nspec){
   specnames[i] <- paste("Spec", i, sep ="")
}
colnames(als) <-specnames</pre>
```

Next, pivot the data from wide to long format for easier plotting, and calculate summary statistics. Usually, the best method for evaluating species' responses is by viewing the 95% credible interval (CI) and using the mean as the measure of centrality:

Create the plot using ggplot:



Figure 3: Estimated species-level responses to the simulated covariate. Mean estimates are denoted by black dots, whereas the true, simulated values are denoted with red dots. Error bars represent the 95% credible interval (CI); a CI which does not overlap 0 is usually considered significant.

The model correctly estimated significant negative covariate responses for

detected species 1-4 and the undetected species 10 (Figure 3). Based on the position of

the mean (black dots) relative to the 95% CI, we can also deduce that the posterior

distributions for the detected species are highly skewed, with long tails extending away

from zero. By contrast, the "stabilizing" effect of informed priors is clear in the model

estimate for species 10, which has a more symmetrical and precise posterior distribution.

Additional literature cited

- Banner, K. M., K. M. Irvine, and T. J. Rodhouse. 2020. The use of Bayesian priors in Ecology: The good, the bad and the not great. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 11:882–889.
- Carvalho, L. M. de, D. A. M. Villela, F. C. Coelho, and L. S. Bastos. 2015. Choosing the weights for the logarithmic pooling of probability distributions. arXiv:1502.04206 [stat].Choy, S. L., R. O'Leary, and K. Mengersen. 2009. Elicitation by design in ecology: Using expert opinion to inform priors for Bayesian statistical models. Ecology 90:265–277.
- Conn, P. B., D. S. Johnson, P. J. Williams, S. R. Melin, and M. B. Hooten. 2018. A guide to Bayesian model checking for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 88:526–542.
- Hooten, M. B., and N. T. Hobbs. 2015. A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 85:3–28.
- Kery, M., and J. A. Royle. 2015. Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology: Analysis of distribution, abundance and species richness in R and BUGS: Volume 1:Prelude and Static Models. Academic Press.
- Northrup, J. M., and B. D. Gerber. 2018. A comment on priors for Bayesian occupancy models. PLOS ONE 13:e0192819.

Appendix 3: Supplemental Tables and Figures for Chapter 2

Table S3-1. Life history classifications of sampled ectoparasite species with associated literature. The bot fly *Cuterebra fontinella* was not included in comparisons of life history categories because it was the only species in its category. Asterisks indicate opposing views in the literature.

Ectoparasite	Order	Classification	Literature
Orchopeas leucopus	Siphonaptera	Nest	Traub 1972, Jackson and DeFoliart 1976: Haas et al
			1973*
<i>Ixodes scapularis</i> (larva)	Ixodida	Ephemeral	Kocan et al. 2015
Megabothris quirini	Siphonaptera	Nest	Benton and Cerwonka 1960
Hyperlaelaps sp.	Mesostigmata	Nest	Dowling 2006
<i>I. scapularis</i> (nymph)	Ixodida	Ephemeral	Kocan et al. 2015
Ctenophthalmus pseudagyrtes	Siphonaptera	Nest	Benton and Kelly 1969
M. acerbus	Siphonaptera	Fur	Amin and Sewell 1977;
			Lewis 2009*
Cuterebra fontinella	Diptera	Diptera	Catts 1982
M. asio	Siphonaptera	Nest	Benton and Cerwonka
			1960, Quackenbush 1971
Unknown	Mesostigmata	Nest	Dowling 2006
Mesostigmata			
Peromyscopsylla	Siphonaptera	Fur	Traub 1972
hesperomys			
Epitedia wenmanni	Siphonaptera	Nest	Benton 1955, Traub 1972
Androlaelaps sp.	Mesostigmata	Nest	Dowling 2006
Doratopsylla blarinae	Siphonaptera	Fur	Traub 1972
Monopsyllus vison	Siphonaptera	Fur	Haas et al. 1973
O. howardi	Siphonaptera	Fur	Traub 1972, Amin and
			Sewell 1977
P. scotti	Siphonaptera	Fur	Traub 1972

Table S3-2. Abundance and p individuals were not assigned preferred host between the lit	referred host sf a primary host erature and the	oecies of sampled ectoparasite . An asterisk (*) in the literatu dataset; in these cases, the prii	s. Parasite species for which fewer than 5 re column indicates a difference in mary host from the literature is also listed.
Ectoparasite	Abundance	Preferred host	Literature
Orchopeas leucopus	193	Peromyscus leucopus	Benton and Cerwonka 1960
Ixodes scapularis (larva)	87	P. leucopus	Schmidt et al. 1999
Megabothris quirini	55	Zapus hudsonius	Lewis 2009; Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Benton and Kelly 1975 (<i>Myodes gapperi</i> *)
Hyperlaelaps sp.	14	Microtus pennsylvanicus	
<i>I. scapularis</i> (nymph)	12	P. leucopus	Kollars et al. 1999, Schmidt et al. 1999 (<i>Tamias striatus</i> *)
Ctenophthalmus pseudagyrtes	11	P. leucopus; Tamias striatus	Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Benton 1973 (no host preference*)
M. acerbus	×	T. striatus	Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975
Cuterebra fontinella	7	P. leucopus	Catts 1982
M. asio	9	M. pennsylvanicus	Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975

Unknown Mesostigmata6P. leucopusPeromyscopsylla hesperomys4Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Bento Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (P. leucopus)Epitedia wenmanni2Benton and Kelly 1975 (Peromyscus)Androlaelaps sp.1Benton and Kelly 1975 (Peromyscus)Doratopsylla blarinae1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento brevicauda)Monopsyllus vison1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento brevicauda)Monopsyllus vison1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento brevicauda)O. howardi1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento brevicauda)O. howardi1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento brevicauda)P. scotti1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton S. Benton Benton and Cerwonka 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Feckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi)P. scotti1Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, P. leucopu	I	Ectoparasite	Abundance	Preferred	Literature
Peromyscopsylla hesperomys4Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, BentoEpitedia wenmanui2Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (<i>P. leucopus</i>)51Androlaelaps sp.152Benton and Kelly 1975 (<i>Peromyscus</i>)53Borton spylla blarinae154Monopsylla blarinae155Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (<i>Blarina hrevicauda</i>)56Monopsyllus vison157Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (<i>Blarina hrevicauda</i>)58O. howardi159Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Benton 1973, Bento and Kelly 1975 (<i>Tamiasciurus hodsonicus</i>)51D. howardi151Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton Relly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (<i>Sciurus carolinensi</i>)51P. scotti151P. scotti151Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (<i>P. leucopu</i>)	I	Unknown Mesostigmata	9	P. leucopus	
Epitedia wenmanni2Benton and Kelly 1975 (Peromyscus)Androlaelaps sp.1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento97Doratopsylla blarinae1Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Blarina brevicauda)97Monopsyllus vison1Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Blarina brevicauda)97Monopsyllus vison1Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Benton 1973, Benton formasciurus hodsonicus)97O. howardi1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Bento formasciurus and Benton 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi)9P. scotti1Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, P. leucopu		Peromyscopsylla hesperomys	4		Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (P. leucopus)
Androlaelaps sp.157Doratopsylla blarinae168Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento69Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Blarina brevicauda)70Monopsyllus vison71Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Bento71Benton and Kelly 1975, Tamiasciurus hodsonicus)72Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento73Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton74175Feretlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi)761975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi)77176Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (P. leucopu		Epitedia wenmanni	7		Benton and Kelly 1975 (Peromyscus)
 Doratopsylla blarinae Doratopsylla blarinae Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Blarina brevicauda) Monopsyllus vison Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (Tamiasciurus hodsonicus) O. howardi D. howardi P. scotti P. scotti Mathematical 		Androlaelaps sp.	1		
Monopsyllus vison1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Bento Benton and Kelly 1975 (Tamiasciurus hodsonicus)O. howardi1Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Bento Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi P. scottiP. scotti1Miller and Benton 1973, Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Kelly 1975 (P. leucopu	126	Doratopsylla blarinae	1		Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (<i>Blarina brevicauda</i>)
O. howardi 1 Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Bento Relly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensi P. scotti 1		Monopsyllus vison	1		Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Osgood 1964, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (Tamiasciurus hodsonicus)
P. scotti 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (P. leucopu		O. howardi	1		Benton and Cerwonka 1960, Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975, Eckerlin and Gardner 2021 (Sciurus carolinensis)
		P. scotti	1		Miller and Benton 1973, Benton and Kelly 1975 (P. leucopus)

Table S3-3. Parasite occurrences on the small mammal *Peromyscus leucopus* for which the primary host is a different species. These ectoparasites tended to occur on *P. leucopus* at sites where the primary host had also been captured.

Parasite Species	Primary Host	Geographic Site	Primary host present?
Megabothris quirini	Zapus hudsonius	Audubon 2	No
		Intervale 1	Yes
		Intervale 2	Yes
		St. Mike's 1	Yes
		St. Mike's 2	Yes
<i>Hyperlaelaps</i> sp.	Microtus pennsylvanicus	Jericho 1	No
M. asio	M. pennsylvanicus	St. Mike's 1	Yes
Orchopeas howardi	Tamiasciurus hudsonicus	Jericho 1	Yes



Figure S3-1. Abundances of a) *Megabothris quirini* and b) *M. acerbus* on host species upon which they were collected. The flea *M. quirini* represents a Class 4 parasite based on Benton and Cerwonka (1960), which is able to infest several host species but shows a clear preference. The flea *M. acerbus* is a Class 1 parasite due to the clear primary host and no to incidental infestation of other species. Host abbreviations are as follows: ZAHU = Zapus hudsonius, MIPE = Microtus pennsylvanicus, PELE = Peromyscus leucopus, NAIN = Napaeozapus insignis, MYGA = Myodes gapperi, PEMA = Peromyscus maniculatus, TAST = Tamias striatus.



Figure S3-2. Abundances of small mammal hosts captured in Chittenden County, VT in summer 2020. The most common species was the white-fooded mouse *Peromyscus leucopus* with 222 individuals, followed by the meadow jumping mouse *Zapus hudsonius* with 78 individuals. The least abundant species was *Napaeozapus insignis* with 4 captured individuals.



Figure S3-3. Ectoparasite prevalence, or the proportion of hosts infected by at least one ectoparasite, per mammalian host species. Prevalence averaged 0.465 across all host species and ranged from 0.105–0.788 among host species.



Figure S3-4. Parasite load (i.e. abundance per host) per capture event in which at least 1 ectoparasite was collected. Small mammal hosts, if infested, were typically only infested with 1 ectoparasite, with a range of 1–10 ectoparasites per sample.



Figure S3-5. Results of the principal component analysis on vegetation composition data. PC1 explained 92.5% of the variation in the data and ranged from mostly grass/forb cover to mostly leaf litter. PC2 explained 7.2% of the variation in the data and ranged from grass cover to forb cover. Colors denote habitat designation of each site.



Figure S3-6. Responses of small mammal hosts to model coefficients for a) leaf litter cover and b) grass and forb cover. Points denote the mean of the posterior distribution. Error bars denote the 95% credible interval of the posterior; bars which do not overlap 0 (dashed line) are considered significant. A positive response to leaf litter cover (a) corresponds to a preference for forested habitats, whereas a negative response corresponds to a preference for open habitats. Positive responses to the grass/forb coefficient (b) correspond to a preference for habitats with more forb cover. Species abbreviations are as follows: BLBR = *Blarina brevicauda*, MIPE = *Microtus pennsylvanicus*, MYGA = *Myodes gapperi*, NAIN = *Napaeozapus insignis*, PELE = *Peromyscus leucopus*, PEMA = *Peromyscus maniculatus*, TAST = *Tamias striatus*, ZAHU = *Zapus hudsonius*.



Figure S3-7. Small mammal host and ectoparasite coefficients for the PC1 (dead vegetation) covariate in the multi-scale model. Negative values indicate a preference for open habitat, values near 0 indicate no habitat preference, and positive values indicate a preference for forested habitats. Host coefficient values tend to behave categorically rather than linearly.



Figure S3-8. Abundance distributions on small mammal hosts of parasites infesting at least four host species: a) *Ctenophthalmus pseudagyrtes*, b) *Ixodes scapularis* (larvae), c) *I. scapularis* (nymph), d) *Megabothris quirini*, and e) *Orchopeas leucopus*. Most species demonstrated a clear preference for 1–2 host species.

Additional Literature Cited

- Amin, O. M. and Sewell, R. G. 1977. Comb Variations in the Squirrel and Chipmunk Fleas, Orchopeas h. howardii (Baker) and Megabothris acerbus (Jordan) (Siphonaptera), with Notes on the Significance of Pronotal Comb Patterns. - The American Midland Naturalist 98: 207–212.
- Benton, A. H. 1955. The Taxonomy and Biology of Epitedia wenmanni (Rothschild, 1904) and E. testor (Rothschild, 1915) (Hystrichopsyllidae: Siphonaptera). - The Journal of Parasitology 41: 491–495.
- Benton, A. H. and Cerwonka, R. H. 1960. Host Relationships of Some Eastern Siphonaptera. - The American Midland Naturalist 63: 383–391.

- Benton, A. H. and Kelly, D. L. 1969. Notes on the Biology of Ctenophthalmus p. pseudagyrtes Baker in the Northeast (Siphonaptera: Hystrichopsyllidae). -Journal of the New York Entomological Society 77: 70–74.
- Benton, A. H. and Kelly, D. L. 1975. An Annotated List of New York Siphonaptera. -Journal of the New York Entomological Society 83: 142–156.
- Catts, E. P. 1982. Biology of New World Bot Flies: Cuterebridae. Annual Review of Entomology 27: 313–338.
- Dowling, A. P. G. 2006. Mesostigmatid mites as parasites of small mammals: Systematics, ecology, and the evolution of parasitic associations. - In: Morand, S. et al. (eds), Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. Springer Japan, pp. 103–117.
- Eckerlin, R. P. and Gardner, A. L. 2021. Records of Fleas (Siphonaptera) and Other Ectoparasites from Maine. nena 28: 77–93.
- Haas, G. E. et al. 1973. Siphonaptera-Mammal Relationships in Northcentral New Mexico1, 2. Journal of Medical Entomology 10: 281–289.
- Jackson, J. O. and DeFoliart, G. R. 1976. Relationships of the White-Footed Mouse, Peromyscus Leucopus, and its Associated Fleas (Siphonaptera) in Southwestern Wisconsin1. - Journal of Medical Entomology 13: 351–356.
- Kocan, K. M. et al. 2015. Insights into the development of Ixodes scapularis: a resource for research on a medically important tick species. Parasites Vectors 8: 592.
- Kollars, T. M., Jr. et al. 1999. Seasonal Activity and Host Associations of Ixodes scapularis (Acari: Ixodidae) in Southeastern Missouri. - Journal of Medical Entomology 36: 720–726.
- Lewis, R. E. 2009. The north american fleas of the genus Megabothris, Jordan, 1933 (Siphonaptera: Ceratophyllidae). - Annals of Carnegie Museum 77: 431–450.
- Miller, D. H. and Benton, A. H. 1973. An Annotated List of the Siphonaptera of Connecticut. - Journal of the New York Entomological Society 81: 210–213.
- Osgood, F. L. 1964. Fleas of Vermont. Journal of the New York Entomological Society 72: 29–33.
- Quackenbush, R. E. 1971. Fleas from Windham County, Vermont (Siphonaptera). -Journal of the New York Entomological Society 79: 15–18.

- Schmidt, K. A. et al. 1999. Infestation of Peromyscus leucopus and Tamias striatus by Ixodes scapularis (Acari: Ixodidae) in Relation to the Abundance of Hosts and Parasites. - J Med Entomol 36: 749–757.
- Traub, R. 1972. Notes on zoogeography, convergent evolution, and taxonomy of fleas (Siphonaptera) based on collections from Gunong Benon and elsewhere in Southeast Asia. II. Convergent evolution. - Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History) Zoology 23: 311–387.
Appendix S4: Expanded Analytical Methods for Chapter 2

Multi-scale MSOM. Multi-scale, multi-species occupancy models (multi-scale MSOMs) are an extension of the MSOM developed by Dorazio and Royle (2005). MSOMs yield less biased estimates of occupancy than traditional methods by decoupling an ecological metric (e.g. occupancy) from the observation process that can introduce bias or error into the data (e.g. small mammal trapping, avian point counts, Iknayan et al. 2014). The ecological metric and observation process are then jointly modeled, with the observation process conditional on the true state of the ecological metric. The multi-scale MSOM is an extension of this framework, in which additional levels can be added to the model to account for multiple observation methods (Nichols et al. 2008) or multiple scales at which the ecological metric can be observed (Szewczyk and McCain 2019).

I used a multi-scale MSOM to estimate occupancy of ectoparasite species on 1) geographic sites and 2) individual small mammal hosts inhabiting each geographic site while accounting for detection error. Occupancy at geographic sites Z_{ij} takes the value of 1 when the ectoparasite species *i* is present at site *j* on at least one host individual *k*. Occupancy is modeled as the outcome of a Bernoulli trial in which the probability of success defined as Ψ_{ij} (Eq. S4-1). Occupancy of an ectoparasite species on a small mammal host within a geographic site z_{ijk} is the product of a Bernoulli trial in which the probability of success θ_{ijk} is conditional on the ectoparasite's presence at the geographic site (Eq. S4-2).

Occupancy in empirical datasets is often imperfectly observed. However, by capturing hosts multiple times over a short period, the model can estimate the probability of detecting an ectoparasite species during a host capture event (MacKenzie et al. 2002, Iknayan et al. 2014). The estimated detection probability is used to generate more accurate estimates of the true occupancy states. Detection of an ectoparasite species during capture event $l(x_{ijkl})$ is modeled as a Bernoulli trial with a probability of success p_{ijkl} (Eq. S4-3). Detection probability is conditional on the ectoparasite species occupancy the individual host: an ectoparasite species cannot be detected on a host individual if it is not present.

$$\begin{split} & Z_{ij} \sim Bernoulli(\Psi_{ij}) & (\text{Eq. S4-1}) \\ & z_{ijk} | Z_{ij} \sim Bernoulli(\theta_{ijk} * Z_{ij}) & (\text{Eq. S4-2}) \\ & x_{ijkl} | z_{ijk} \sim Bernoulli(p_{ijkl} * z_{ijk}) & (\text{Eq. S4-3}) \end{split}$$

Environmental covariates can be included in the models to increase the accuracy of occupancy and detection probability estimates (Dorazio and Royle 2005, Iknayan et al. 2014). I included covariates in all levels of the model using the logit link function (Eq. S4-4-6). Covariates PC1 and PC2 in the site model represent the first and second principal components of the vegetation data, respectively (Eq. S4-4). The host model contained covariates for host species identity, mass standardized by host species, and sex (Eq. S4-5); the detection model contained covariates for Julian date and capture number of the host (Eq. S4-6).

$$logit(\Psi_{ij}) = a0_i + a1_i PC1_j + a2_i PC2_j \quad (Eq. S4-4)$$
$$logit(\theta_{ijk}) = \beta 0_i + \beta 1_i Species_j + \beta 2_i Mass_j + \beta 3_i Sex_j (Eq. S4-5)$$
$$logit(p_{ijkl}) = \gamma 0_i + \gamma 1_i Date_j + \gamma 2_i Capture_j \quad (Eq. S4-6)$$

Priors for model intercepts and covariate coefficients for each ectoparasite species were drawn from a common distribution, the hyperparameters of which were in turn drawn from a hyperprior distribution (example in Eq. S4-7–8). By assuming each ectoparasite is drawn from a common distribution, the model can "borrow" information from common species to supplement estimates for species with limited data (Link and Sauer 1996). This allows rare or poorly detected species to be modeled in the context of the ectoparasite community, rather than attempting to model each species individually.

> $\alpha 0_i \sim N(\mu_{a0}, \tau_{a0})$ (Eq. S4-7) $\tau_{a0} \sim Gamma(0.1, 0.1)$ (Eq. S4-8)

The hyperparameter tau (τ) in the equations above represents precision and is used in lieu of standard deviation (σ) in the JAGS programming language (Plummer 2017).

I analyzed the model using a Bayesian framework using JAGS 4.3.0 (Plummer 2017) with the R package R2jags (Su and Yajima 2015). Markov chain Monte Carlo sampling was completed using 3 chains of length 12,000 including a burn-in period of 5,000; thinned by 12 to reduce autocorrelation. Model convergence was assessed by visually examining the trace plots of the Markov chains and using the R-hat statistic (Gelman and Rubin 1992); an R-hat less than 1.1 was considered converged.

Bayesian R^2

Bayesian R^2 as proposed by Gelman et al. (2019) is defined as (Eq. S4-9):

$$R^2 = \frac{Var_{\mu}}{Var_{\mu} + Var_{res}} \qquad (Eq. S9)$$

137

In which Var_{μ} represents modelled predicted means and Var_{res} modelled residual variance. Both of these values are calculated from the posterior distributions of the model.

The modelled predicted means are essentially the estimated occupancy probability for each ectoparasite species at the site and host levels of the model (Ψ_{ij} and θ_{ijk} , respectively); thus Var_{μ} is the calculated variance of the posterior distributions. For logistic regression, Var_{res} is defined following Tjur (2009, Eq. S4-10):

$$Var_{res} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} [\pi_n (1 - \pi_n)]$$
 (Eq. S4-10)

In which π_n are predicted probabilities.

Small Mammal MSOM

The structure of the MSOM estimating occupancy for small mammal hosts is similar to the multi-scale MSOM for parasites, with the exception that occupancy is only observed at the level of the geographic site. Thus, the probability of detecting a small mammal during a given survey is conditional on the small mammal species occupying the geographic site (Eq. S4-11).

$$x_{ijk}|Z_{ij} \sim Bernoulli(p_{ijk} * Z_{ij})$$
 (Eq. S4-11)

I used the same site-level covariates in the host model as in the parasite model to facilitate comparisons between coefficients (Eq. S4-4). The detection model for small mammal hosts was similar to the detection model for ectoparasites (Eq. S4-6) but did not include a covariate for capture number.

I analyzed the host MSOM using a Bayesian framework in JAGS 4.3.0 (Plummer

2017) and specified priors using the same methods as the ectoparasite model (Eq. S7–S8.

Markov chain Monte Carlo sampling was completed using 3 chains of length 5,000

including a burn-in period of 1,000; thinned by 5 to reduce autocorrelation.

Additional Literature Cited

- Dorazio, R. M. and Royle, J. A. 2005. Estimating Size and Composition of Biological Communities by Modeling the Occurrence of Species. - Journal of the American Statistical Association 100: 389–398.
- Gelman, A. and Rubin, D. B. 1992. Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. Statistical Science 7: 457–511.
- Gelman, A. et al. 2019. R-squared for Bayesian Regression Models. The American Statistician 73: 307–309.
- Iknayan, K. J. et al. 2014. Detecting diversity: emerging methods to estimate species diversity. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 29: 97–106.
- Link, W. A. and Sauer, J. R. 1996. Extremes in Ecology: Avoiding the Misleading Effects of Sampling Variation in Summary Analyses. - Ecology 77: 1633–1640.
- MacKenzie, D. I. et al. 2002. Estimating Site Occupancy Rates When Detection Probabilities Are Less Than One. - Ecology 83: 2248–2255.
- Nichols, J. D. et al. 2008. Multi-scale occupancy estimation and modelling using multiple detection methods. Journal of Applied Ecology 45: 1321–1329.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Su, Y.-S. and Yajima, M. 2015. R2jags: Using R to run "JAGS."
- Szewczyk, T. M. and McCain, C. M. 2019. Disentangling elevational richness: a multiscale hierarchical Bayesian occupancy model of Colorado ant communities. -Ecography 42: 977–988.
- Tjur, T. 2009. Coefficients of Determination in Logistic Regression Models—A New Proposal: The Coefficient of Discrimination. The American Statistician 63: 366–372.

Appendix S5: Expanded Methods for Chapter 3

Tetracycline Analysis. To determine evidence of ONRAB bait consumption by raccoons, we shipped premolar teeth to Matson's Laboratory (Manhattan, Montana, USA) to determine the presence of tetracycline (TTCC) biomarker. Using the same cross section cut for age determination, teeth were microscopically examined for the presence of TTCC, seen as yellow fluorescence using an ultraviolet filter (Johnston et al. 1987). When possible, the lab provided biomarker presence results indicated by one or more tetracycline depositions, potentially indicating one or more ONRAB baits consumed, but biomarker in our database was simply recorded as binary presence or absence. We used a one-tailed z-score test with significance set at p<0.05 for calculating TTCC presence between pre- and post-oral rabies vaccination (ORV).

Of the 902 raccoons sampled for rabies virus neutralizing antibody (RVNA), 773 had a result for TTCC biomarker (presence or absence). Raccoons were significantly more likely to have biomarker present post-ONRAB than pre- (pre- 17.0% [n=454], post-32.0% [n=319], p<0.00001). That trend was true in all three development types as well: low pre- 19.8% [n=111], post- 42.7% [n=82], p=0.00029; medium pre- 14.6% [n=192], post- 23.8% [n=122], p=0.0197; high pre- 17.9% [n=151], post- 33.0% [n=115], p=0.00219).

Population-level analysis. We estimated raccoon abundance (N_{it}) in each cell during each year as a random draw from the expected abundance λ_{it} ; which, based on the literature, we expected to vary with the intensity of human development (Eq. S5-1; Šálek

et al. 2015). We assume the true abundance to be close to the expected abundance, but stochastic variation might result in a true abundance value that is different than the expected value (Eq. S5-2).

$$log(\lambda_{it}) = \beta 0_{it} + \beta 1 * Dev_i$$
(Eq. S5-1)
$$N_{it} \sim Pois(\lambda_{it}) (Eq. S5-2)$$

In addition to the abundance model, we estimated raccoon RVNA seroprevalence S_{it} in cell I in year t in a model similar to the abundance model. However, we used a logit link function instead of a log link function, which is more appropriate for estimating values that are bound between 0 and 1 (Eq. S5-3). We were particularly interested in determining if the density of baits or the geographic coverage of baits impacted the raccoon RVNA seroprevalence estimates, as this would help inform management strategies (these were termed "Density" and "Cover", respectively). We were also interested in whether characteristics of raccoon populations were associated with RVNA seroprevalence, specifically estimated raccoon abundance and the relative proportion of juveniles to adults in the population ("Abund" and "Age", respectively). We also examined the impact of other environmental factors, such as urban development intensity in the sampling cells (low, medium, and high; termed "Dev"), and the abundance of potential competitors such as skunks and opossums, as these factors may affect raccoon behavior and influence ORV bait uptake (Prange and Gehrt 2004, Stark et al. 2020). To estimate the proportion of the population that is RVNA seropositive we modeled the number of seropositive raccoons captured per day (pos_{iti}) as a proportion of the total daily captures (n_{itj} , Eq. S5-4).

$$logit(S_{it}) = \alpha 0_{it} + \alpha 1 * Density_{it} + \alpha 2 * Cover_{it} + \alpha 3 * Dev_i + \alpha 4 *$$
$$Abund_{it} + \alpha 5 * Age_{it} + \alpha 6 * Opossums_{it} + \alpha 7 * Skunks_{it}$$
(Eq. S5-3)
$$pos_{itj} \sim Bin(S_{it}, n_{itj})$$
(Eq. S5-4)

The detection model for abundance is a multinomial mixture model with removal sampling. In this model, multinomial categories correspond to unique encounter histories, and multinomial cell probabilities are functions of the probability p of those encounter histories occurring within the sampled n_{it} individuals (Kéry and Royle 2016). For example, consider a population of animals captured and removed over three consecutive sampling periods. Individuals captured on the first day will have an encounter history 1 ----, individuals on the second day 0 1 ---, and so on. By assigning probabilities to unique encounter histories, the model is able to account for the decreasing probability of encountering a unique individual as the proportion of tagged individuals in the population increases.

Environmental and survey factors that may affect detection (capture) probability can be incorporated as covariates using a logit link function, which converts linear relationships to a probability scale that is bound between zero and one. Our detection model included a covariate for the number of closed traps (due to recaptures, captures of nontarget species, or triggered traps with no capture) on trap day *j*, as decreasing the number of available traps may reduce the likelihood of capturing an unmarked individual (Eq. S5-5). We did not include an explicit detection model for seroprevalence as we assumed RVNA testing error was negligible compared to error in capture rates.

 $logit(p_{itj}) = w0_{it} + w1_{it} * ClosedTrap_{j}$ (Eq. S5-5)

To aid in estimation and comparison, all continuous covariates were scaled to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1. Model parameters were estimated using a Bayesian hierarchical model with uninformative priors in the programs JAGS (Plummer 2017) and R (R Core Team 2021). We chose a Bayesian approach because it is a flexible tool to jointly estimate multiple variables of interest, in this case abundance, seroprevalence, and detection (capture). We fit the model using three Markov chains for 7500 iterations with a burn-in period of 1000; posterior chains were thinned by 5 to reduce autocorrelation. We assessed model convergence visually and using the \hat{R} statistic (Gelman and Rubin 1992); values less than 1.1 were considered converged.

Covariate significance was evaluated using the 95% and 75% credible interval (CI). Credible intervals that did not overlap 0 indicated a significant covariate. After evaluating a model with all independent covariates, we analyzed additional models that each included one interaction term. For all independent covariates and significant interaction terms (based on the 75% CI), we followed up with an appropriate frequentist test (usually an ANOVA or linear regression) to supplement the conclusions made based on the CI's.

After evaluating covariate significance, we used model selection to determine which covariates had the most explanatory power. We used the Watanabe-Akaike Information Criterion (WAIC) to perform model selection because it tends to perform better than methods such as the Akaike Information Criterion or Bayesian Information Criterion when applied to hierarchical models (Hooten and Hobbs 2015). If WAIC results were inconclusive, we presented the results from the model that included all independent covariates and any significant interaction terms.

To ensure the model is internally consistent (i.e., the model makes sense given the observed data) we assessed model fit using posterior predictive checks, which involves comparing simulated data generated from the fitted model to the observed data (Gelman et al. 1996, Gelman and Hill 2006, Gelman et al. 2013). We evaluated model fit by graphically comparing the distributions of simulated abundance and seroprevalence to the corresponding distributions of the observed data; systematic differences in the shapes of the distributions are typically an indicator of poor model fit. Although posterior predictive checks are more conservative methods such as cross-validation (Sinharay and Stern 2003, Conn et al. 2018), posterior predictive checks are sufficient for detecting large deficiencies in model fit.

Individual level analysis

We studied the probability an individual would seroconvert by conducting a logistic regression where the response was the RVNA status of the individual. We examined individual effects (age and sex), development class (high, medium, or low), sampling period (pre- or post-baiting), and year. We also examined the interactions between year and sampling period and year and development type. Models were compared using the second order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc; Burnham and Anderson 2004). To compare the relative strength of different factors we examined the cumulative covariate weights associated with each covariate corrected by the number of

models each covariate was in within the model set (Doherty et al. 2012). Higher cumulative covariate weights show more support and values above 0.5 are considered important. Model averaging was used to estimate parameters when model uncertainty existed.

We were interested in which factors were most influential in determining an individual raccoon's RVNA seroprevalence status. We found that age of the raccoon was most strongly associated with an individual's probability of being RVNA seropositive (cumulative covariate weight = 1.00), followed by an interaction between sampling period and year (cumulative covariate weight = 1.00). Development type and sex were not strongly related to the probability an individual would be seropositive (cumulative covariate weights of 0.17 and 0.33 respectively).

Age was the most important factor, with the probability of being RVNA seropositive increasing with age ($\beta_{age} = 0.2$, SE= 0.05). The probability of being RVNA seropositive was 26% for a juvenile, 52% for a 5-year old, and 76% for a 10-year old raccoon (Fig. S6-5A; these estimates are based on an individual in the low development area, pre-bait, in 2015).

There was a significant interaction between sampling period and year. An individual raccoon who was caught during 2015 or 2016 had a higher probability of being RVNA seropositive than an individual caught during 2017 (Fig. S6-5B). There was not a difference in the pre-bait vs. post-bait probability of being seropositive during 2015 or 2016. In contrast, during 2017 the probability an individual would be RVNA seropositive increased post-baiting compared to pre-baiting (Fig. S6-5B).

Additional Literature Cited

- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2004. Multimodel inference understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. Sociological methods & research 33:261-304.
- Conn, P. B., D. S. Johnson, P. J. Williams, S. R. Melin, and M. B. Hooten. 2018. A guide to Bayesian model checking for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 88:526-542.
- Doherty, P. F., G. C. White, and K. P. Burnham. 2012. Comparison of model building and selection strategies. Journal of Ornithology 152:317-323.
- Gelman, A., J. B. Carlin, H. S. Stern, D. B. Dunson, A. Vehtari, and D. B. Rubin. 2013. Bayesian Data Analysis, Third Edition. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Gelman, A., and J. Hill. 2006. Data analysis using regression and multilevel/hierarchical models. Cambridge university press.
- Gelman, A., X.-L. Meng, and H. Stern. 1996. Posterior predictive assessment of model fitness via realized discrepancies. Statistica sinica 6:733-760.
- Gelman, A., and D. B. Rubin. 1992. Inference from iterative simulation using multiple sequences. Statistical science 7:457-472.
- Hooten, M. B., and N. T. Hobbs. 2015. A guide to Bayesian model selection for ecologists. Ecological Monographs 85:3-28.
- Johnston, D. H., D. Joachim, P. Bachmann, K. Kardong, R. Stewart, L. Dix, M. Strickland, and I. Watt. 1987. Aging furbearers using tooth structure and biomarkers. Pages 228-243 in M. Novak, B. J, M. E. Obbard, and B. Malloch, editors. Ontario Trappers Association, North Bay, Ontario, Canada.
- Kéry, M., and J. A. Royle. 2016. Modeling Abundance Using Multinomial N-Mixture Models. Pages 313-392 in M. Kéry and J. A. Royle, editors. Applied Hierarchical Modeling in Ecology. Academic Press, Boston.
- Plummer, M. 2017. JAGS: Just Another Gibbs Sampler.
- Prange, S., and S. D. Gehrt. 2004. Changes in mesopredator-community structure in response to urbanization. Canadian Journal of Zoology 82:1804-1817.
- R Core Team. 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

- Šálek, M., L. Drahníková, and E. Tkadlec. 2015. Changes in home range sizes and population densities of carnivore species along the natural to urban habitat gradient. Mammal Review 45:1-14.
- Sinharay, S., and H. S. Stern. 2003. Posterior predictive model checking in hierarchical models. Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference 111:209-221.
- Stark, J. R., M. Aiello-Lammens, and M. M. Grigione. 2020. The effects of urbanization on carnivores in the New York metropolitan area. Urban Ecosystems 23:215-225.

Appendix S6: Supplemental Tables and Figures for Chapter 3

Table S6-1. Results of model selection with WAIC. The best model is shown at the top. A Δ WAIC value less than 2 indicates the model explains the data as well as the best model. With the exception of the full model (all covariates), models with 3 or more covariates are not shown.

Model	WAIC	ΔWAIC
Intercept	45.25	0.00
Density	45.30	0.05
Skunks	45.38	0.12
Density + Skunks	45.40	0.15
Opossums	45.47	0.22
Opossums + Skunks	45.65	0.40
Coverage + Skunks	45.68	0.43
Development	45.71	0.46
Coverage	45.83	0.58
Age + Skunks	45.84	0.59
Raccoons + Skunks	45.97	0.72
Age + Opossums	46.02	0.77
Raccoons	46.05	0.80
Opossums + Raccoons	46.05	0.80
Coverage + Age	46.06	0.81
Coverage + Opossums	46.06	0.81
Skunks + Development	46.06	0.81
Age	46.09	0.84
Opossums + Development	46.13	0.88
Density + Coverage	46.16	0.91
Density + Opossums	46.17	0.92
Density + Development	46.23	0.98
Density + Raccoons	46.23	0.98
Density + Age	46.28	1.03
Coverage + Development	46.28	1.03
Raccoons + Development	46.30	1.04
Coverage + Raccoons	46.31	1.06
Age + Raccoons	46.39	1.14
Age + Development	46.44	1.19
Full	47.95	2.69



Figure S6-1. Estimated raccoon abundance (N) across urban development classes in the greater Burlington, Vermont, USA area, 2015–2017. Boxes represent quartiles, lines the 95% confidence interval, and dots are outliers. The model estimated that raccoon abundance was higher in sites classified as medium and high development than sites classified as low development based on the 75% credible interval; however, an ANOVA did not support this finding ($F_{2,33} = 1.415$, P = 0.257).



Figure S6-2. Relationship between average raccoon age (in years) and estimated rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence when an influential outlier is included. The outlier was excluded from the analysis due to an unusually small sample size at the site. There is no significant association between average age and estimated seroprevalence when this outlier is present ($F_{1,34} = 2.477$, P = 0.125, $R^2 = 0.041$).



Figure S6-3. Relationships between estimated raccoon rabies virus neutralizing antibody seroprevalence and A) bait density (i.e., baits per km²) and B) bait coverage (a measure of spatial evenness) across urban development classes. There were no significant associations between bait density ($F_{1,34} = 3.974$, P = 0.054, $R^2 = 0.078$) or bait coverage ($F_{1,34} = 0.141$, P = 0.709, $R^2 = -0.025$) and seroprevalence.



Figure S6-4. Comparison of the distributions of empirical data and simulated data predicted by the model for A) the number of rabies virus neutralizing antibody seropositive raccoons per site and B) total raccoon abundance at each site. Large differences in the shape of the empirical and simulated distributions would indicate the model is not internally consistent.



Figure S6-5. The probability an individual raccoon will be rabies virus neutralizing antibody seropositive based on the age (A) and the year and sampling period (B). Uncertainties are 95% confidence intervals shown either as a shaded region (A) or vertical line (B).